Components and Mechanisms in Diagnosis and Therapy of Hymenoptera Venom Allergy

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften

der Fakultät für Mathematik, Informatik und Naturwissenschaften der Universität Hamburg

vorgelegt von

Simon Blank

aus Stade

Hamburg 2009

The experimental part of this work was performed from November 2005 until November 2009 in the group of Prof. Dr. Reinhard Bredehorst at the Department of Chemistry, Institute for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Hamburg.

Gutachter der Dissertation:	Prof. Dr. Reinhard Bredehorst
	Prof. Dr. Bernd Mever

Gutachter der Disputation: Prof. Dr. Reinhard Bredehorst Prof. Dr. Martina Kerscher Dr. Thomas Hackl

Abstract

Anaphylaxis due to Hymenoptera stings is one of the most severe clinical outcomes of IgE-mediated hypersensitivity reactions. Although allergic reactions to Hymenoptera stings are often considered as a general model for the underlying principles of allergic disease, diagnostic tests are still hampered by a lack of specificity and venom immunotherapies by severe systemic side-effects and incomplete protection.

Thus, aim of this work was the improvement of both diagnostic and therapeutic approaches by recombinant technologies. Since a recombinant availability of venom allergens might offer several promising possibilities for an improvement, novel allergenic components from *Apis mellifera* and *Vespula vulgaris* venom were identified as well as established allergens recombinantly produced and characterized in detail.

With the 100 kDa allergens Api m 5 and Ves v 3 a novel cross-reactive allergen family, the dipeptidylpeptidases IV, was identified. Both enzymes were generated in recombinant form, enzymatically characterized and their relevance as major allergens in Hymenoptera venom was demonstrated by different immunological and cellular methods assessing slgE of venom-allergic patients.

For the recently identified Carbohydrate-rich protein from honeybee venom importance as sensitizing venom component in approximately 50% of venom-sensitized patients and applicability as novel surrogate marker candidate for honeybee venom sensitization were demonstrated by comparative assessment of differentially glycosylated recombinant molecules.

By the recombinant production of these new allergens, as well as established allergens like Api m 2, Api m 3, Ves v 1, Ves v 2a, Ves v 2b, and Ves v 5 in insect cells it was possible to provide a broad panel of properly folded and posttranslationally modified molecules for component-resolved approaches to Hymenoptera venom allergy.

Moreover, a novel diagnostic concept was introduced by the production of properly glycosylated allergens allowing reliable differentiation of protein versus cross-reactive carbohydrate determinant (CCD) reactivity and enabling identifycation of true sensitization with clinical impact.

Additionally, the generation of monoclonal recombinant allergen-specific IgE, IgG and IgY antibodies could be established for application in standardization and for avoidance of assay interference in immunoassays as well as for assessment of the complex molecular interactions of allergens, specific antibodies and their receptors. By the use of monoclonal IgE antibodies we were for the first time able to detect a putatively essential allergen in *A. mellifera* venom and, moreover, to demonstrate its absence in various therapeutic preparations, a finding with major implications for specific immunotherapy of allergy.

The results of this work demonstrate that a variety of recombinant technologies can provide novel, component-resolved concepts for the identification of clinically relevant allergens, proper allergy diagnosis and the design of adequate intervention strategies. Moreover, the newly identified and established recombinant allergens might contribute to a more detailed understanding of the molecular and allergological mechanisms of insect venoms.

Zusammenfassung

Anaphylaktische Reaktionen nach Hymenopterenstichen sind eine der schwersten klinischen Erscheinungsformen IgE-vermittelter Überempfindlichkeitsreaktionen. Obgleich allergische Reaktionen auf Hymenopterenstiche häufig als Modell der zugrunde liegenden Prinzipien allergischer Erkrankungen angesehen werden, sind diagnostische Tests noch immer durch einen Mangel an Spezifität und Insektengift-Immuntherapien durch schwere Nebenwirkungen und einen unvollständigen Schutz beeinträchtigt.

Das Ziel dieser Arbeit war somit die Verbesserung diagnostischer und therapeutischer Ansätze mit Hilfe rekombinanter Technologien. Da die rekombinante Verfügbarkeit der Insektengiftallergene eine Reihe viel versprechender Möglichkeiten für eine derartige Verbesserung bieten könnte, wurden neuartige Komponenten der Gifte von *Apis mellifera* und *Vespula vulgaris* identifiziert sowie etablierte Allergene rekombinant hergestellt und im Detail charakterisiert.

Mit den 100 kDa Allergenen Api m 5 und Ves v 3 haben wir eine neuartige kreuzreaktive Allergenfamilie, die Dipeptidylpeptidasen IV, identifiziert. Beide Enzyme wurden in rekombinanter Form erzeugt, enzymatisch charakterisiert und ihre Relevanz als Hauptallergene in Hymenopterengiften mittels unterschiedlicher, auf spezifischen IgE-Antikörpern allergischer Patienten basierender immunologischer und zellulärer Methoden, demonstriert.

Für das kürzlich identifizierte *Carbohydrate-rich protein* des Bienengiftes konnten wir anhand des Vergleichs differentiell glykosylierter, rekombinanter Moleküle die Wichtigkeit als sensibilisierende Giftkomponente in ungefähr 50% der Bienengift-sensibilisierten Patienten sowie die Anwendbarkeit als neuartigen Surrogatmarker Kandidaten für Bienengiftsensibilisierung demonstrieren.

Durch die rekombinante Herstellung dieser neuen, als auch etablierter Allergene wie Api m 2, Api m 3, Ves v 1, Ves v 2a, Ves v 2b und Ves v 5 in Insektenzellen, war es möglich, ein breites Panel korrekt gefalteter und posttranslational modifizierter Moleküle für einen komponentenaufgelösten Ansatz im Bereich der Hymenopterengiftallergie bereitzustellen. Zusätzlich konnte die Generierung monoklonaler Allergen-spezifischer IgE-, IgG- und IgY-Antikörper für die Anwendung im Bereich der Standardisierung und zur Vermeidung von Interferenzen in immunologischen Tests sowie die Analyse der komplexen molekularen Interaktionen von Allergenen, spezifischen Antikörpern und deren entsprechenden Rezeptoren, etabliert werden. Durch die Nutzung eines solchen monoklonalen IgE-Antikörpers konnten wir erstmalig ein potentiell essentielles Allergen im Gift von *A. mellifera* detektieren und zusätzlich dessen Fehlen in verschiedenen therapeutischen Präparaten nachweisen; eine Entdeckung mit wichtigen Implikationen für die spezifische Immuntherapie der Allergie.

Die Resultate dieser Arbeit zeigen, dass verschiedenste rekombinante Technologien neue komponentenaufgelöste Konzepte für die Identifizierung klinisch relevanter Allergene, exakte Allergiediagnose und das Design adäquater Interventionsstrategien bereitstellen können. Zudem könnten die neu identifizierten und etablierten rekombinanten Allergene zu einem detaillierterem Verständnis der molekularen und allergologischen Mechanismen von Insektengiften beitragen.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Allergy	1
1.1.1 Type I hypersensitivity	2
1.1.2 Hymenoptera venom allergy and anaphylaxis	6
1.1.3 Hymenoptera venom allergens	9
1.2 Allergy diagnosis	12
1.2.1 Diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy	14
1.2.2 Interference in diagnostic tests	15
1.3 Therapy of allergic diseases	18
1.3.1 Pharmacotherapy of Allergy	19
1.3.2 Specific immunotherapy of allergy	20
1.3.3 Therapy of Hymenoptera venom allergy	22
2. Publications	24
Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy	24
by circumvention of α -1,3-core fucosylation	
(Molecular Immunology, in press)	
Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE	25
and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries	
(Clinical Chemistry 53:837-844, 2007)	
Recombinant IgY for improvement of immunoglobulin-	26
based analytical applications	
(Clinical Biochemistry 41:1237-1244, 2008)	
3. Additional Results	27
3.1 Materials and Methods	27
3.1.1 Materials	27
3.1.2 Protein biochemistry	27
3.1.3 cDNA cloning	28
3.1.4 Cloning and expression of venom allergens	
in insect cells and <i>E. coli</i>	29

3.1.5 Recombinant baculovirus production	29
3.1.6 Protein purification	30
3.1.7 Enzymatic activity of the recombinant Api m 5	30
3.1.8 IgE immunoreactivity of patient sera with	
recombinant proteins	31
3.1.9 Basophil activation test	31
3.1.10 Other methods	32
3.2 Results	33
3.2.1 Characterization of Carbohydrate-rich protein from	
Apis mellifera venom	33
3.2.1.1 Recombinant expression and characterization	
of the Carbohydrate-rich protein	34
3.2.1.2 Screening of patient sera for IgE reactivity	
with Carbohydrate-rich protein variants	36
3.2.1.3 Evaluation of native Carbohydrate-rich protein	
in <i>Apis mellifera</i> venom	39
3.2.1.4 Carbohydrate-rich protein as a relevant	
Apis mellifera venom component	41
3.2.2 Identification, recombinant expression and	
characterization of the 100 kDa allergen Api m 5	44
3.2.2.1 Identification of Api m 5	44
3.2.2.2 cDNA cloning and sequence analysis	45
3.2.2.3 Recombinant expression of Api m 5	
in insect cells	46
3.2.2.4 Enzymatic activity of recombinant Api m 5	47
3.2.2.5 IgE immunoreactivity of recombinant Api m 5	48
3.2.2.6 Activation of basophils from venom-allergic	
patients by Api m 5	50
3.2.2.7 DPPIV enzymes as important allergens of	
Hymenoptera venoms	52
4.Summary and discussion	55
4.1 Recombinant expression of Hymenoptera venom allergens	56
4.2 Identification of Hymenoptera venom allergens	59

4.3 Characterization and evaluation of Hymenoptera	
venom allergens	61
4.4 Evaluation of diagnostic concepts for Hymenoptera	
venom allergy	62
4.5 Generation of recombinant allergen-specific antibody formats	65
4.6 Outlook	69
5. References	70
Appendix	
Curriculum Vitae	I
Gefahrstoffe und Sicherheitsdaten	V
Angaben zum individuellen Beitrag an den Publikationen,	
die in dieser kumulativen Dissertation enthalten sind	VI
Eidesstattliche Versicherung	VII

1. Introduction

1.1 Allergy

The term "allergy" was coined by Clemens von Pirquet in 1906 to discriminate beneficial and harmful immune responses¹. Today the term allergy is associated with an abnormal, pathogenic, adaptive immune response directed against non-infectious environmental substances (allergens). Allergic disorders, such as anaphylaxis, hay fever, eczema and asthma, now afflict roughly 25% of people in the developed world². In allergic subjects, persistent or repetitive exposure to allergens, which typically are intrinsically innocuous substances common in the environment, results in chronic inflammation.

To unify the concepts of allergy, including the cutaneous immediate and delayed hypersensitivity reactions, Coombs and Gell proposed a classification of the immunopathologic mechanism³. They separated the reactions by which a specific antigen can induce cellular and tissue injury into four groups: Type I (immediate or anaphylactic), type II (cytotoxic or cytolytic), type III (antigen-antibody complex) and type IV (delayed or cell-mediated). In the situation of a type II response circulating IgG or IgM antibodies react with antigens that may actually be portions of cells such as erythrocytes and their membranes or with an unrelated antigen such as a drug that has become associated with these cells which may lead to complement-mediated lysis or cytotoxic action by killer cells. The type III reaction is referred to as immune-complex injury or tissue damage. In this immunopathologic reaction serum IgG antibodies interact with an antigen, antigen-antibodycomplexes are formed and deposited in the tissue, complement is activated and immune cells are attracted to the site of antigen deposition, causing local damage⁴. The type IV reaction is the T cell-mediated immune response or delayed hypersensitivity reaction where antigen-sensitized T cells release cytokines following a secondary contact with the same antigen, thereby inducing inflammatory reactions.

The type I reaction of Coombs and Gell is referred to as the immediate, anaphylactic reaction. This reaction might also be called an atopic phenomenon, and is responsible for many of the common allergic diseases. Clinical examples include asthma, hay fever, urticaria, angiooedema, and anaphylaxis. In the majority of cases the term allergy is equalized with the type I hypersensitivity reaction.

1.1.1 Type I hypersensitivity

An established hypersensitivity type I reaction can occur in individuals, with increased susceptibility to mount IgE responses, termed atopy, after the primary response to an allergen, called sensitization. Although almost half of the urban population worldwide is atopic and most allergy suffers from atopy, it is possible to develop allergies in the absence of atopy; a common example is the allergy against Hymenoptera venoms⁵. Sensitization to an allergen reflects its ability to elicit a T helper type 2 (T_H 2) cell response, in which Interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-13 drive IgE production by promoting immunoglobulin class-switch recombination in B cells⁶⁻⁹. Many factors affect the probability of developing clinically significant sensitization^{10,11}: host genotype, type of allergen, allergen concentration in the environment and whether exposure occurs together with agents that can enhance the sensitization process like certain ligands of Toll-like receptors¹². In the case of respiratory allergies, minute amounts of soluble antigen are released from allergen-bearing particles on mucosal surfaces, and in the case of allergies to stinging insects allergens are directly injected into the skin. Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), particularly dendritic cells (DCs), take up allergens and process them. Subsequently, activated DCs mature and migrate to regional lymph nodes or to sites in the local mucosa, where they present peptides derived from processed allergens in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules to naïve T cells (Fig. 2). In the presence of "early IL-4" -potentially derived from a range of cells, including basophils, mast cells, eosinophils, natural killer T cells and T cells- naïve T cells acquire the characteristics of T_H2 cells², in which the transcription factor GATA3 (GATA-binding protein 3) mediates cytokine secretion¹³ (Fig.2). Different CD4⁺ helper T cell effector lineages control host defenses against distinct classes of pathogens (Fig. 1). T helper type 1 cells (T_H1 cells), controlled by the transcription factor T-bet (T box expressed in T cells)¹⁴, provide protective immunity to intracellular bacterial, viral and protozoan pathogens. IL-17-producing T helper cells (T_H-17 cells), characterized by the transcription factor RORyt (RAR-related orphan receptor yt)¹⁵, regulate host defense against extracellular bacterial and fungal pathogens and T_H2 cells orchestrate immunity to multicellular parasites, including helminthes, which are mostly extracellular pathogens¹⁶. Inappropriate activation of these three arms of adaptive immunity can lead to different types of immunopathologies, including autoimmunity

in the case of T_H1 and $T_{H}-17$ responses and allergies in the case of T_H2 responses¹⁶. Although the basic aspects of the activation of T_H1 and $T_{H}-17$ immune responses are well characterized^{17,18}, the mechanisms of the induction of T_H2 responses remain obscure. Recent work now revealed an outstanding role for basophils as APCs for T_H2 differentiation in response to protease allergens¹⁹.



Fig. 1: T helper (T_H) cell differentiation. Schematic representation of different ways of T_H cell differentiation and overview of immunological functions of T_H cell subsets. MHC = major histocompatibility complex; T_{Reg} cell = T regulatory cell; FccR = Fc receptor for IgE; FcγR = Fc receptor for IgG; IL = Interleukin; TGF = transforming growth factor; IFN = Interferon; CD = cluster of differentiation; CD40L = CD40 ligand; RORγt = RAR-related orphan receptor γt; T-bet = T box expressed in T cells; FOXP3 = forkhead box P3; GATA3 = GATA binding protein 3.

In the presence of IL-4 and IL-13, produced by T_{H2} cells, together with the ligation of suitable co-stimulatory molecules (CD40 with CD40 ligand, and CD80 or CD86 with CD28), B cells undergo immunoglobulin class-switch recombination (Fig. 2), in which the gene segments that encode the immunoglobulin heavy chain are rearranged resulting in the production of antibodies of the IgE class^{9,20}. IgE diffuses locally, enters the lymphatic vessels, subsequently the blood, and is then distributed systematically. After gaining access to the interstitial fluid allergenspecific IgE binds tightly to the high-affinity receptor for IgE (FccRI) on tissueresident mast cells, thereby sensitizing them to respond when the host is reexposed to the allergen. Sensitization does not produce any symptoms but results in the establishment of an allergen-specific IgE antibody memory as well as of a pool of long-lived memory T cells that respond to repeated allergen contact^{21,22}.

Re-exposition to the allergen the individual is sensitized for leads to an earlyphase reaction (type I hypersensitivity reaction) which occurs within minutes after exposure and mainly reflects the secretion of mediators by mast cells at the affected site ²³. In sensitized individuals, these mast cells already have allergenspecific IgE bound to their surface Fcc receptors I. The cross-linking of adjacent IgE molecules by bivalent or multivalent allergens and subsequent aggregation of FccRI (Fig. 2) triggers an intracellular signaling process, initialized by phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) at their cytoplasmic tail, that results in the secretion of three classes of biologically active products: mediators stored in the cytoplasmic granules, lipid-derived mediators, and newly synthesized cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and other products²⁴⁻²⁷. The secretion of preformed mediators occurs when the membrane of the mast cells cytoplasmic granules fuses with the plasma membrane in a process called degranulation, thereby releasing the granules content to the environment²⁸. The released mediators include biogenic amines, particularly histamine^{24,25}, proteoglycans and serine proteases like tryptases and chymases²⁹⁻³¹ as well as prostaglandins and leukotrienes³², and various other mediators. The release of these preformed and lipid-derived



Fig. 2: Mechanism of allergic inflammation. Schematic representation of the way how allergens induce and maintain allergic inflammation. MHC = major histocompatibility complex; T_H cell = T helper cell; FccR = Fc receptor for IgE; Fc γ R = Fc receptor for IgG; IL = Interleukin; CD = cluster of differentiation; CD40L = CD40 ligand; GATA3 = GATA binding protein 3.

mediators contributes to the acute symptoms associated with early-phase reactions³³. These symptoms vary according to the site of the reaction but can include vasodilation, marked increased vascular permeability, contraction of smooth muscles, increased mucus secretion, conjunctivitis and asthma. When

such mediators are released locally, an early-phase reaction emerges. By contrast, the rapid and systemic release of those mediators from mast cells and basophils, which also express $Fc\epsilon RI^{34}$, is responsible for the majority of symptoms associated with anaphylaxis³⁵. The proinflammatory cytokines that are synthesized delayed by activated mast cells, like TNF- α , IL-5, IL-8, IL-10 and IL-13^{26,27,36}, can induce late-phase reactions, which develop typically 2-6 h after allergen-exposure, but not in all sensitized individuals³⁷. Late-phase reactions are thought to reflect the action of innate and adaptive immune cells (neutrophils, monocytes, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, T cells) which are recruited by the released mediators³⁸. This leads for instance to degradation of type III collagen initiated by neutrophils or to tissue damage through basic peptides released by eosinophils which is reflected in symptoms like bronchoconstriction, oedema, erythema and pain. With persistent or repetitive allergen exposure a chronic inflammation develops, associated with tissue alterations as observed in asthma bronchiale^{2,39}.

Many features of allergic inflammation resemble those of the inflammation that results from immune responses to infection with enteric helminthes or from cutaneous responses to the bites of ectoparasites such as ticks⁴⁰, notably that both involve T_H2 cells and are associated with antigen-specific IgE. These similarities have led to the idea that in allergic disorders the immune system is "tricked" into reacting to otherwise innocuous allergens in the same way as it does to signals derived from enteric helminthes or ectoparasites. In addition to the enhancement of effector mechanisms that contribute to parasite clearance by T_H2 responses, chronic infections with certain parasites often also turns on immunological mechanisms that downregulate the inflammation and tissue damage that is associated with that infection⁴¹. Such mechanisms include the development of T regulatory cells (T_{Reg} cells), characterized by expression of the transcription factor FOXP3 (Forkhead box P3)⁴², that secrete IL-10 which has various immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects⁴³ (Fig. 1). In allergic disorders, it is thought that such downregulatory mechanisms do not fully develop, are lost or might be overcome by inflammatory factors. There is emerging evidence, that T_{Reg} cells control T_H2 responses in humans through IL-10 and TGF-ß secretion, with atopy resulting from an imbalance between T_H2 and T_{Reg} cells⁴⁴. Observations of this type support the "hygiene hypothesis"⁴⁵ which is based on the observation

that, as living standards advance, there is reduced exposure to parasitic infections, in which the normal development of immune responses, with a bias towards T_H1 cells rather than T_H2 cells usually is promoted and which favor the development of appropriate control mechanisms of potentially harmful immune responses by various populations of regulatory T cells⁴⁶. As exposure to infections is reduced, and exposure to certain otherwise harmless environmental allergens is increased, there is a propensity for genetically predisposed individuals to develop T_H2 cell type responses to a variety of common environmental allergens. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying the hygiene hypothesis continue to be explored⁴⁷.

1.1.2 Hymenoptera venom allergy and anaphylaxis

The potentially life-threatening clinical syndrome, anaphylaxis, was initially defined in 1902 by Portier and Richet as a fatal reaction to injection of a previously tolerated foreign protein in dogs^{48,49}. Approximately 4500 years earlier, the Egyptians described fatal reactions to Hymenoptera insect stings, which probably represented anaphylaxis. Over the years, anaphylaxis has gradually come to mean the acute life-threatening syndrome that results from the rapid and systemic release of large amounts of inflammatory mediators from mast cells and basophils in response to a specific allergen in a previously sensitized host⁵⁰. The clinical features of anaphylaxis are produced typically by immunologic mechanisms, but nonimmune-mediated reactions also occur. Immune provoked anaphylaxis is mediated by IgE or immune antigen-antibody complexes, whereas, non-immune anaphylaxis occurs in relation to direct mast cell degranulating agents such as opiates or radio contrast media⁵¹. Perhaps the most common causes of anaphylaxis today are adverse drug reactions, especially to penicillin, reactions to food, most commonly occurring with eggs, shellfish, and nuts as well as to Hymenoptera venoms and saliva, latex, and to immunotherapy injections^{35,51}. The mast cell mediator identified most commonly in anaphylaxis is histamine, and tissues rich in mast cells are the primary target tissues in anaphylaxis. Systemic anaphylaxis frequently involves multiple organ systems including the skin and the respiratory, gastrointestinal, genital, cardiac, and neural system⁵². The estimated frequency of anaphylaxis is 50-2000 episodes per 100.000 persons or a lifetime prevalence of 0.05–2.0%⁵³. Anaphylaxis may develop rapidly, reaching peak severity within 5 to

30 minutes, but also late-phase reactions after 6 to 12 hours occur. The most lifethreatening features are those involving the cardiovascular system and the respiratory tract. Increased vascular permeability can result in a transfer of 50% of the intravascular fluid into the extravascular space within 10 minutes⁵⁴. The typical patient develops generalized itching, followed by cutaneous flushing, urticaria, a fullness in the throat, a feeling of "anxiety", then tightness in the chest, faintness, and, finally, loss of consciousness⁵⁵.

Generalized systemic reactions to stinging Hymenoptera (Fig. 3) have been recognized as potentially life-threatening phenomenon related to the IgE antibodies to the various components of venom from the honeybee, bumblebee, yellow jacket, hornet, wasp and fire ant. The family Apidae consists of the honeybees (genus Apis) and bumblebees (genus Bombus). Vespidae are divided into the subfamilies Vespinae and Polistinae⁵⁶. Three genera of the Vespinae exist: Vespula (called wasps in Europe, yellow jackets in the USA); Vespa (hornets) and Dolichovespula. Polistinae (called wasps in Europe and USA) are widespread in the Mediterranean areas. In Europe allergic reactions after insect stings are mainly caused by Hymenoptera of the families Apidae and Vespidae, particularly by the honeybee (Apis mellifera) and yellow jacket (Vespula vulgaris; V. germanica). Hornets (Vespa crabro, V. orientalis in Mediterranean areas) and Polistinae are much less aggressive than species of the genus Vespula and in this respect play an inferior role as elicitors of allergic reactions, but are locally from importance, especially the Polistinae in the whole Mediterranean area⁵⁷. The bumblebee (Bombus ssp.) has gained significantly in importance since it is increasingly used for pollination in greenhouses⁵⁸. In Europe allergic reactions to the family *Formicidae* (ants) seem to be rare⁵⁹ but are of great importance in America, especially the species Pogonomyrex and Solenopsis⁶⁰, and Australia, especially the species Myrmecia⁶¹. For appropriate diagnosis and therapy, it is important to define the specific insect venom responsible for the reaction. Most fatal reactions to insect venom occur in adults⁶² and the diagnosis of IgE hypersensitivity to insect venom is best determined by skin testing⁶³. The most frequent clinical patterns are large local reactions exceeding 10 cm in diameter and 24 h in duration, and generalized, immediate-type allergic reactions such as urticaria, angiooedema, asthma and anaphylactic shock⁶⁴.



Fig. 3: Taxonomy of Hymenoptera. Classification according to Chinery²⁸⁵

The prevalence of sensitization to Hymenoptera venom is estimated at between 9.3 and 28.7% in adults⁶⁵. Large local reactions occur in 2.4-26.4% of the general population and epidemiological studies report a prevalence of self-reported systemic anaphylactic sting reactions between 0.3% and 7.5% in adults⁶⁶⁻⁷⁰ and of only 0.15-0.3% in children⁷¹. The prevalence of systemic reactions among beekeepers is high and falls between 14 and 43%^{72,73}. The incidence of insect sting mortality ranges from 0.03 to 0.48 fatalities per 1.000.000 inhabitants per year^{70,74-76}. However, the true number may be underestimated: a study reports the presence of venom-specific IgE in 23% of post-mortem serum samples taken from subjects, who had died outdoors suddenly and inexplicably between the end of May and the beginning of November⁷⁷. Around 40-85% of the subjects with fatal reactions after Hymenoptera stings had no documented history of previous anaphylactic reactions^{76,78}. Most often, symptoms appear within a few minutes to one hour after the sting⁷⁹, but rarely they can occur hours or even days later⁸⁰. Normally, the patient recovers from anaphylactic reactions within a few hours, but rarely, a biphasic course is observed with an early onset, an apparent recovery and a subsequent relapse after 4-24 hours. Severe reactions after Hymenoptera stings are classified according to the severity of the reaction. The most frequently used classifications are those by Müller and by Ring with four grades of severity^{81,82}. Symptoms of the grade I include generalized skin reactions like urticaria and of the grade II angiooedema and mild to moderate pulmonary, cardiovascular and gastrointestinal manifestations. The grade III is characterized by anaphylactic shock and loss of consciousness and the grade IV by cardiac arrest and apnea.

1.1.3 Hymenoptera venom allergens

Allergens are those antigens responsible for clinical allergic diseases. They are usually proteins or glycoproteins capable of inducing synthesis of IgE antibodies, thereby sensitizing the potentially allergic person⁸³. Upon re-exposure to the same allergen, the previously sensitized patient manifests the signs and symptoms of allergy, as the allergen reacts with cell-related IgE tissue antibodies, and the cells generate the mediators of inflammation. Therefore, it is imperative that the circumstances of allergic disease are linked to allergen exposure, as allergens represent important etiologic factors in the pathogenesis of allergy⁸⁴.

The Allergen Nomenclature Committee of the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) has devised a unified nomenclature system for purified allergens⁸⁵. They are phenotypically designated by the first three letters of the genus followed by a space, the first letter of the species, another space, and finally an Arabic number; occasionally an additional letter must be added to either the genus or the species designation. Allergens can be further classified on the basis of nature or manner in which the patient is exposed into inhalants, ingestants, contactants and injectants. Those allergens responsible for allergic respiratory diseases including allergic asthma and allergic rhinitis are principally inhalants. These aero-allergens, which can be present outdoors (pollen, animal products like sheddings from skin and fur, algae) or indoors (molds, animal products, dusts) are responsible for the majority of allergic diseases. Foods and other ingestants, including drugs, are also important, especially for allergic gastrointestinal and skin diseases. The contactants are principally responsible for allergic contact dermatitis. In addition to drugs, the injectant group includes the venom and saliva of insects.

Hymenoptera venoms are a complex cocktail of biogenic amines, basic peptides, toxins and proteins, mostly enzymes and a variety of other compounds all of which may contribute to sensitization, allergic symptoms and success of venom immuno-therapy⁷⁹. The amount of venom released during a sting varies from species to species: bee stings release an average of 50 μ g⁸⁶ up to 140 μ g⁸⁷ of venom protein per sting, *Vespula* stings 1.7 to 3.1 μ g, *Dolichovespula* stings 2.4 to 5 μ g and *Polistes* stings from 4.2 to 17 μ g of venom protein⁸⁸. The insects of the order Hymenoptera have unique as well as common venom allergens. The until now identified allergenic molecules in bees, vespids and ants are listed in Table 1.

Venom	Allergen	Common name	MW (kDa)
Apis mellifera (honeybee) Accordingly in <i>A. cerana</i> (eastern hive bee), <i>A. dorsata</i> (giant honeybee) etc.	Api m 1 Api m 2 Api m 3 Api m 4 Api m 5 Api m 6 Api m 7 Api m 8 Api m 9 Api m 10	Phospholipase A2 Hyaluronidase Acid phosphatase Melittin Dipeptidylpeptidase IV putative protease inhibitor CUB-serine protease Carboxylesterase Carboxypeptidase Carbohydrate-rich protein	17 45 49 3 100 8 39 70 60 55
<i>Bombus pennsylvanicus</i> (bumble bee) Accordingly in <i>B. terrestris</i> etc.	Bom p 1 Bom p 4	Phospholipase A2 Protease	16 27
Vespula vulgaris (yellow jacket) Accordingly in V. flavopilosa, V. germanica, V. maculifrons, V. pensylvanica, V. squamosa, V. vidua etc.	Ves v 1 Ves v 2a Ves v 2b Ves v 3 Ves v 4 Ves v 5	Phospholipase A1B Hyaluronidase Hyaluronidase Dipeptidylpeptidase IV CUB-serine protease Antigen 5	34 45 47 100 35 23
Vespa crabro (European hornet) Accordingly in <i>V. mandarinia</i> (giant Asian hornet) etc.	Vesp c 1 Vesp c 5	Phospholipase A1B Antigen 5	34 23
<i>Dolichovespula maculata</i> (white face hornet) Accordingly in <i>D. arenaria</i> (yellow hornet), <i>D. media</i> etc.	Dol m 1 Dol m 2 Dol m 5	Phospholipase A1B Hyaluronidase Antigen 5	34 42 23
<i>Polistes annularis</i> (wasp) Accordingly in <i>P. dominulus</i> (Mediterranean paper wasp), <i>P. exclamans</i> , <i>P. fuscatus</i> , <i>P. gallicus</i> , <i>P. metricus</i> etc.	Pol a 1 Pol a 2 Pol a 5	Phospholipase A1B Hyaluronidase Antigen 5	34 38 23
Polybia paulista (wasp) Accordingly in <i>P. scutellaris</i> etc.	Poly p 1 Poly s 5	Phospholipase A1 Antigen 5	34 23
Solenopsis invicta (red imported fire ant) Accordingly in <i>S. geminata</i> (tropical fire ant), <i>S. richteri</i> (black fire ant), <i>S. saevissima</i> (Brazilian fire ant) etc.	Sol i 1 Sol i 2 Sol i 3 Sol i 4	Phospholipase A1B Antigen 5	18 14 26 12
<i>Myrmecia pilosula</i> (Australian jumper ant)	Myr p 1 Myr p 2 Myr p 3	Pilosulin-3 Pilosulin-4.1	7,5 / 5,5 8,5 / 2-4

Tab. 1: Allergens of Hymenoptera venoms

Honeybee venom (HBV) contains various active substances. Melittin, the most prevalent substance, is one of the most potent anti-inflammatory agents known and shows strong hemolytic activity due to its strong membrane toxicity⁸⁹. Adolapin is another strong anti-inflammatory substance, and inhibits cyclooxygenase; it thus has analgesic activity as well⁹⁰. Apamin, a basic peptide, inhibits complement C3 activity, and blocks calcium-dependent potassium channels, thus enhancing nerve transmission⁹¹. Other substances, such as Tertiapin, hyaluronidase, phospholipase A2, histamine, and mast cell degranulating peptide (MSD-peptide)⁹², are involved in the inflammatory response to venom, with the softening of tissue and the facilitation of flow of the other substances. Additionally, measurable amounts of the neurotransmitters dopamine, norepinephrine and serotonin are present. The water content varies between 55-70% and the pH range is between 4.5-5.5. Many of the proteins and polypeptides in honeybee venom have been identified as sensitizing agents including phospholipase A2 (Api m 1), hyaluronidase (Api m 2), acid phosphatase (Api m 3)⁹³, melittin (Api m 4)⁹⁴, dipeptidylpeptidase IV (Api m 5; allergen C)^{95,96}, Api m 6 polypeptides (4 isoforms)⁹⁷, a 39 kDa CUB-serine protease (Api m 7)⁹⁸, a 70 kDa carboxylesterase which has been named Api m 8, Api m 9, a 60 kDa serine carboxypeptidase⁹⁹, and the Carbohydrate-rich protein (Api m 10), a component of unknown function¹⁰⁰. Phospholipase A2 (Api m 1) and hyaluronidase (Api m 2) seem to be the mayor sensitizing allergens in honeybee venom^{93,101} and the peptidic components Melittin (Api m 4) and Api m 6 are considered minor allergens^{99,102}. In recent years, the designated genes could be assigned to the acid phosphatase Api m 3¹⁰³, the DPPIV enzyme Api m 5⁹⁶ as well as the Carbohydrate-rich protein (Api m 10)¹⁰⁰, the allergens recombinantly produced, and characterized for their allergenic properties. Other proteins including peptidases, esterases, and proteases, some of which are listed in the databases, are currently assessed for their allergenic potential (unpublished data). Considering the complex composition of insect venoms, however, additional allergens are likely present in honeybee venom.

Bumblebee venom has two allergens of known sequences: phospholipase A2 and a protease. The two bee venom phospholipases A2 have extensive sequence identity with each other and no sequence identity with vespid phospholipase A1¹⁰⁴. Phospholipase A1 and A2 differ in their specificity of catalyzing the hydrolysis of fatty acid residues at positions 1 and 2 of phospholipids, respectively.

Among the vespids the venom of the yellow jacket *Vespula vulgaris* is best investigated. The three most prominent venom allergens include phospholipase A1 (Ves v 1), hyaluronidase (Ves v 2), and antigen 5 (Ves v 5)¹⁰⁵. Recently, a second, inactive hyaluronidase (Ves v 2b) has been identified in *V. vulgaris* venom¹⁰⁶. Additionally, the recently identified dipeptidylpeptidase IV (Ves v 3)⁹⁶ as well as the CUB-serine protease Ves v 4 exhibit IgE reactivity. In contrast to the phospholipases, vespid hyaluronidases have about 50% sequence identity with HBV hyaluronidase and they have the same enzymatic specificity of endo-N-acetyl-hexosaminidase¹⁰⁴. With the dipeptidylpeptidases Api m 5 and Ves v 3 a novel class of enzymes and homologous structures in Hymenoptera venom was described. For antigen 5 (Ves v 5) there exists no homologous protein in HBV. The biologic function of antigen 5 is not known, although it has been reported for antigen 5 from *Vespa mandarinia* to be a neurotoxin active at muscular junctions¹⁰⁷. The homologous venom allergens from hornets, wasps and yellow jackets have varying degrees of sequence identity ranging from 60% for phospholipases and antigen 5 to about 80% for hyaluronidases¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹¹. Allergens of different species within a species group of each genus generally have a higher degree of sequence identity than those of a different species group.

To date, fire ant venoms are the only ant venoms showing high similarity with vespid venoms and contain four known allergens: Sol i 1 to 4. Sol i 3 has about 50% sequence identity with vespid antigen 5 and Sol i 1 is a homologue of vespid phospholipase A1¹¹². Varying from all other known Hymenoptera venoms, the major allergens of the *Myrmecia* venoms are small peptides (pilosulins) which partially form homo- or heterodimers¹¹³, but also phospholipase A2, acid phosphatase and, hyaluronidase activity was reported.

The further identification and characterization of all relevant allergens in Hymenoptera venoms is imperative for both improvement of diagnostic tests and design of effective immunotherapeutic approaches.

1.2 Allergy diagnosis

The diagnosis of allergic diseases should always begin with the procurement of a careful patient history and an appropriate physical examination. When an allergic disorder is suspected on the basis of clinical grounds, a variety of procedures can be used to confirm the diagnosis. Diagnostic tests can also be helpful in ruling out allergic disorders and clarifying the specific responsible antigens or allergens.

Skin testing is the tool used most widely to diagnose clinical allergies¹¹⁴. The basic procedure involves delivering an aqueous solution of antigen beneath the stratum corneum and barrier zone of the epidermis. As the antigen combines with IgE fixed to mast cells, mediator substances are released and cause local vasodilation and increased capillary permeability which results in wheal-and-flare reactions within

15 to 20 minutes¹¹⁵ (Fig. 4A). There are two types of skin tests, the epicutaneous, also referred to as scratch, puncture, and prick technique, and the intracutaneous, or intradermal, test. The epicutaneous method has many advantages as it is easy and safe to perform, causes little discomfort and positive tests correlate well with clinical symptoms. One possible disadvantage to this method is that it can result in false-negative reactions due to a lack of sensitivity. In contrast, intracutaneous skin tests are more reproducible and 100 to 1000 times more sensitive^{116,117}. Thus, they are associated with fewer false-negative reactions but the drawbacks to intradermal tests are that they are more time consuming and tedious to perform and are often associated with discomfort and an increased risk of systemic reactions. Even more important, they are more likely to produce false-positive results because of their increased sensitivity. Mildly positive intradermal reactions are not considered clinically relevant, thus, that the value of skin tests, like that of any diagnostic procedure, depends on the knowledge of their interpreter¹¹⁸.



Fig. 4: Methods for allergy diagnosis. A: Result of skin prick test in an allergic patient. B: Principle of enzyme-linked immunoassay (EIA) for measurement of allergen-specific IgE. C: Principle of enzyme-linked immunoassay for detection of total IgE.

The discovery of IgE as the antibody responsible for allergic reactions in humans led to the development of sophisticated techniques for IgE measurement¹¹⁹. The two most commonly employed techniques for the measurement of IgE are radioimmunosorbent assay (RIA) and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (EIA) (Fig. 4B and 4C). EIAs are routinely used to quantify the amount of IgE antibody that is directed to a specific allergen^{115,120,121} and have replaced the RAST (radioallergo-sorbent test), the original allergen-specific IgE test¹²². IgE levels are often elevated in cases of allergic disease, but these levels cannot be considered pathognomonic signs of allergy since IgE levels vary widely, both in allergic and non-allergic individuals. A normal IgE level does not exclude allergy, while definitely elevated levels may be seen in non-atopic people¹²³.

The skin test and measurement of total IgE as well as specific IgE antibody levels in the serum are indirect assays of an allergic state (Fig. 4). Direct challenge, either inhaling or ingesting antigens, may be of greater diagnostic use¹²⁴. In bronchial challenges the specific airway reactivity can be assessed by measuring the patients bronchial response to the inhalation of certain allergen solutions. Inhaled allergens can also be used to challenge the nasal mucosa to diagnose allergic rhinitis. In instances when a suspected allergen is ingested, an oral challenge can be performed. The challenge can be open, in which case the physician and the patient know the content of the substance ingested; single blind, with only the physician knowing the content; or double blind, with neither the physician nor the patient knowing the content of the challenge. Oral challenges serve several purposes. First, double-blind, placebo-controlled food challenges have proven useful in discerning IgE-mediated food sensitivities and second, oral challenges can also help diagnose sensitivity to ingested substances, such as aspirin or sulfites, in which the sensitivity is not on an IgE basis¹¹⁸. Other forms of challenge tests are the injection of drugs like penicillin or in the case of Hymenoptera venom allergy the sting challenge test.

In the last years also cell-based *in vitro* tests are gaining ground in which a patients immune cells like basophils, are isolated, challenged with allergens and their activation assayed by colorimetric measurement of mediator release or activation markers are accessed flow-cytometrically¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸.

1.2.1 Diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy

The diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy is based on a history of adverse sting reaction and on positive skin test to venom or the presence of venom-specific serum IgE¹²⁹, whereas the severity of sting reaction has no significant correlation with the serum levels of venom-specific IgE or skin tests^{130,131}. Moreover, approximately 10% of patients experiencing an anaphylactic reaction to an insect sting have no detectable specific IgE or positive skin test result against the insect concerned¹³². When venom skin test and specific IgE measurement yield negative results in patients with a history of a systemic anaphylactic sting reaction, additionnal *in vitro* tests may be used to demonstrate immunologic sensitization.

In the basophil histamine release test peripheral blood leukocytes are incubated with venom allergens, reacting with cell-bound IgE antibodies and thus stimulating cells, mainly basophils, to release histamine, which can be detected calorimetric-cally^{127,128}. In the leukotriene release test (cellular antigen stimulation test, CAST) blood leukocytes pre-stimulated with IL-3 are exposed to venom allergens and the release of sulfidoleukotrienes is determined by ELISA¹²⁶. The basophil activation test is a novel method based on the flow cytometric demonstration of an altered membrane phenotype of basophils activated by allergen exposure. The currently most commonly used marker to demonstrate basophil activation is CD63¹²⁵. Another diagnostic marker of insect hypersensitivity is an elevated level of the mast cell-specific enzyme tryptase, which is found in up to 30% of patients with a history of severe shock reaction¹³³. The current finding indicates that basal tryptase levels, indicating an increased mast cell load, are a risk factor for severe or even fatal sting reactions.

Sting challenge tests are not recommended for routine diagnostic purposes^{134,135} due to the high risk of fatal systemic reactions¹³⁶ and of boosting the sensitization⁶⁴, but are recommended in patients on maintenance venom immunotherapy (VIT) to identify those who are not yet protected and need an increase of the maintenance dose¹³⁷. Nevertheless, the specificity of diagnostic tests is far from perfect¹³⁸, demonstrated by the fact that on the one hand up to 20% of individuals with no history of systemic sting reactions have positive tests and on the other hand, only 30-50% of those with positive tests will react to a subsequent sting by the respective insect¹³⁴. Nowadays, preliminary trials indicate, that recombinant venom allergens may gain an improvement of Hymenoptera venom allergy diagnosis by increased specificity in both skin testing and in determining venomspecific IgE antibodies compared to natural venom allergen extracts¹³⁹.

1.2.2 Interference in diagnostic tests

Problems in allergy diagnosis are associated with false-positive, false-negative or even positive test results without clinical relevance. Several circumstances may account for negative results, e.g. in skin tests the stability of the antigen solution, the patients age (in general the skin of infants and elderly persons is less reactive), or a number of drugs, particularly antihistamines, interfering with the allergic response. The refractory period of a test may also contribute to a false-negative result. Soon after a systemic reaction to an allergen, such as insect venom, penicillin, or food, the patient enters a refractory period during which a skin test reaction may be negative⁷⁹. The reason is that specific IgE is consumed by the severe allergic reaction, so a 3-4 week period is needed for the allergic antibody to build back up to its pre-reaction levels.

Employing *in vitro* tests a lack of sensitivity may be the reason for false-negative test results, e.g. if the allergens the patient is sensitized to are underrepresented in natural allergenic extracts used for testing. False-positive results in skin tests may result from low-molecular-weight irritants which may be contained in natural extracts or from high histamine content present in some food extracts, particularly those from cheese¹¹⁸.

Another problem in the diagnosis of allergies are positive test results without or with low clinical significance. Such results are mostly associated with allergenic cross-reactivity, and constitute a major handicap for accurate allergy diagnosis that remains to be solved. Apart from true double-sensitization and mimicry based on the primary structure, IgE may be directed against cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (CCDs) provided by a broad panel of proteins in food, pollen and Hymenoptera venom¹⁴⁰. In general the N-glycans found on most Hymenoptera venom proteins and many plant proteins possess a number of non-mammalian features rendering them potentially immunogenic. However, the supposed hallmark of CCDs on insect venom allergens comprises carbohydrates carrying α -1,3linked core fucose residues. In plants ß-1,2-linked xylose builds a second immunogenic moiety (Fig. 5A). IgE with specificity for such glycotopes represent the underlying principle reactive with all proteins possessing CCDs¹⁴¹, subsequently producing multiple positive test results of unknown clinical significance¹⁴² (Fig. 5B). This has even led to the estimation that IgE binding to venom proteins with pronounced glycosylation may primarily or exclusively reflect CCD reactivities¹⁴³, rendering their postulated allergenic character questionable. Thus, the immunoreactivity of all glycosylated allergens demands thorough re-evaluation to verify their classification as allergens in stricto sensu. Although the clinical relevance of CCDs is still discussed¹⁴⁴, their diagnostic relevance is beyond any controversy. Identification of the culprit Hymenoptera species that a patient is sensitized to remains key for proper diagnosis and for the selection of an appropriate therapeutic strategy in Hymenoptera venom allergy⁶⁴. Therefore, *in vitro* diagnosis

might be markedly improved when using strategies that eliminate CCD reactivities without affecting clinically relevant IgE reactivity and allow mere cross-reactivity to be distinguished from true multiple sensitization.



Fig. 5: Interference in diagnostic assays. A: Schematic representation of carbohydrate structures responsible for carbohydrate-based cross-reactivity in comparison to mammalian core glycosylation. B: Principle of assay interference phenomena caused by IgE directed against cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (CCDs). C: Principle of assay interference phenomena caused by rheumatoid factor (RF), human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMA) and heterophilic antibodies.

Apart from IgE antibodies interference in immunoassays is increasingly recognized as a major diagnostic problem. Immunoglobulins are highly conserved among mammalian species, and their nature as specific binding moieties as well as their implication in many of immune-mediated pathologies renders them susceptible to interaction with a plethora of mammalian and bacterial proteins, thereby hampering their use in immunodiagnostic approaches¹⁴⁵. In general, immunoassays are affected by cross-reactivity and non-specific binding. Furthermore, antigen-independent binding via specific immunoglobulin receptors and serum immunoglobulins is causative for false-positive and false-negative results in different diagnostic approaches. Heterophilic antibodies as well as rheumatoid factor (RF) and human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMA) are the most prominent examples for interference in immunological assays¹⁴⁶ (Fig 5C). Heterophilic antibodies are recognized as mostly lower affinity, often IgM isotype immunoglobulins with unknown antigen, generating non-specific signals by binding to detection antibodies. In contrast, the appearance of HAMA is mainly a result of therapeutic approaches comprising administration of murine monoclonal antibodies, but may also be found in serum of untreated individuals. RF defines an auto-antibody that reacts with the Fc part of mammalian IgG, and is most often associated with rheumatoid arthritis, but can also be found in serum of patients with other diseases and also in 3-5% of healthy donors¹⁴⁷.

Exemplary it was recently demonstrated that tryptase immunoassays, indicating increased risk of anaphylaxis in patients with suspected mastocytosis, are sensitive to interference by heterophilic antibodies in over 15% of cases¹⁴⁸.

1.3 Therapy of allergic diseases

In the last decade, enormous improvements in the medical procedures used to treat allergic conditions were achieved. In atopic individuals, allergen sensitization is fundamental to the development of any allergic disease. Therefore, avoidance of allergens before or after sensitization should be beneficial as primary or secondary prophylaxis. In the case of house dust mites birth-cohort studies have shown that the level of allergen exposure early in live correlates with the extent of sensitization¹⁴⁹. For domestic pets, the situation is more complex, with early-life exposure decreasing rather than increasing allergen sensitization, possibly as a result of simultaneous exposure to inhibitory products from non-pathogenic microorganisms, whereas exposure later in childhood leads to sensitization³⁸. A similar situation applies to peanut allergy, in which avoidance during pregnancy and early infancy can increase rather than protect against sensitization. Therefore, exposure to a high dose of peanut, rather than avoidance in infancy, might be the way to induce protective tolerance^{150,151}. These mixed results of primary prophylaxis can be explained by the fact that extremely low allergen exposures can lead to sensitization¹⁵² and, as a result, anything than complete allergen avoidance is unlikely to be successful. Greater success has been obtained by using multiple early-life interventions in addition to the avoidance of house dust mites and pets, such as breast-feeding with the mother on a low-allergen diet¹⁵³. However, avoidance as

secondary prophylaxis may help to reduce symptoms and avoid life-threatening anaphylaxis. In children which are already sensitized, single or combination interventions to decrease exposure to both dietary and aeroallergens result in a meaningful and sustained improvement in the control of asthma and rhinitis. However, in adults, the data are far less convincing, probably because of the many allergic factors that contribute to ongoing disease^{154,155}. But strict avoidance still has a role in the treatment of allergies, and is often used in managing food allergies, but it is difficult to achieve for patients with pollen or similar air-borne allergies.

1.3.1 Pharmacotherapy of Allergy

In established pharmacotherapeutic treatment several antagonistic drugs are used to block the action of allergic mediators, or to prevent the activation of cells and in this way the degranulation processes. Corticosteroids and ß2-adrenoreceptor agonists are now the gold standard for asthma treatment. In the case of allergic rhinitis α -adrenoreceptor agonists are used to relieve nasal congestion, and non-sedating H1-antihistamines and corticosteroids are well-established control therapies. So, for most allergic disorders, a combination of symptom-relieving and control therapies forms the basis of therapy³⁸.

Corticosteroids suppress T_H2 cell-mediated inflammation through the inhibition of expression of cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules¹⁵⁶ by the interaction with cytoplasmic glucocorticoid receptors that modulate NF-kB- and activator protein 1-regulated gene expression ^{157,158}. Corticosteroids are highly effective at suppressing airway inflammation, but they do not influence the natural history of the disease¹⁵⁹. ß2-adrenoreceptor agonists bind to the ß2-adrenoreceptor and subsequently activate cAMP production and protein kinase A activation which mediates smooth-muscle relaxation through phosphorylation of myosin light-chain kinase and by opening Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channels, which rapidly relieves bronchoconstriction and asthma symptoms. H1-antihistamines such as chlorpheniramine were the first specific agonists used to treat allergic reactions. The sedative and anti-cholinergic side-effects of the early products were overcome by a second generation of drugs (cetirizine, levocetirizine, loratadine, desloratadine, etc.) with decreased capacity to cross the blood-brain barrier and decreased cardiac toxicity¹⁶⁰. Promising new agonists for asthma and rhinitis treatment are leukotriene modifiers like the CysLTs interacting with the CysLT receptor 1¹⁶¹.

Mast cell stabilizing drugs are used since 1968 (sodium cromoglicate; SCG) to inhibit mast cells and subsequently allergen-induced early- and late-phase responses¹⁶². SCG inhibits the flux of chloride ions in mast cells in this way increasing their threshold for activation¹⁶³.

Because of the sentinel role that T_H2 cytokines have in orchestrating allergic inflammation, they and their receptors are key therapeutic targets. With almost no exceptions, this approach has required the application of biological agents in the form of blocking monoclonal antibodies, fusion proteins, soluble receptor constructs and most recently, inhibitors of the T_H2 cell transcription factors STAT6 and GATA3³⁸. Recent studies dealing with the alteration of the T_H1 - T_H2 cell balance concern the inhibition of T_H2 cell responses by administration of blocking agents for IL-4, IL-13 and IL-5¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶, as well as the promotion of T_H1 cell responses by administration of INF γ , IL-12 or II-10¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹. Inhibition of the allergic component of atopic asthma can also be achieved using IgE-specific monoclonal antibodies, like the humanized IgE-specific, non-anaphylactic IgG1 antibody Omalizumab, which is also effective for the treatment of allergic rhinoconjunctivitis. The binding to the C3 domain of IgE blocks its binding to FccRI and subsequently decreases the level of circulating free IgE¹⁷⁰.

1.3.2 Specific immunotherapy of allergy

To date, the allergen-specific immunotherapy (SIT) is the only curative approach of allergy treatment. This immune modifying therapy has been recommended for the treatment of allergic rhinitis, venom allergy, some drug allergies and mild bronchial asthma, although the exact mechanism of therapy success is not clear. SIT modifies cellular and humoral responses to an allergen through repeated allergen-exposure (Fig. 5). The ratio of T_H1 cell cytokines to T_H2 cell cytokines is increased after SIT, and functional CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3 regulatory T cells (T_{Reg} cells) are induced raising immunological tolerance and the induction of blocking IgG4 antibodies^{38,83}. Increased production of IL-10 by monocytes, macrophages, B cells and T cells might contribute together with TGF-ß to T_{Reg} cell function and immunoglobulin class-switching to IgA, IgG1 and IgG4¹⁷¹, which compete, as so called blocking antibodies, with IgE for allergen binding, thereby decreasing the allergen capture and presentation that is facilitated by FccRI or the low affinity-IgE receptor FccRII (CD23)^{172,173}. T_{Reg} cells in turn produce high levels of IL-10 and TGF-ß, two

cytokines that are known to attenuate allergen-specific T_H2 cell responses. IL-10 suppresses mast cell, eosinophil and T cell responses¹⁷⁴, and the pleiotropic functions of TGF-ß maintain a diverse and self-tolerant T cell repertoire¹⁷⁵.



Fig.5: Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. Schematic representation of immunological mechanisms leading to tolerance induction by specific immunotherapy. MHC = major histocompatibility complex; T_H cell = T helper cell; T_{Reg} cell = T regulatory cell; FccR = Fc receptor for IgE; FcqR = Fc receptor for IgG; IL = Interleukin; TGF = transforming growth factor; IFN = Interferon; CD = cluster of differentiation; CD40L = CD40 ligand; T-bet = T box expressed in T cells; FOXP3 = forkhead box P3; GATA3 = GATA binding protein 3.

Subcutaneous immunotherapy (SCIT) involves the regular subcutaneous injection of allergen extracts or recombinant allergens using incremental regimens, with the induction of tolerance taking from several days to several month depending on the regimen used. The usual approach is a build-up phase (consisting of weekly injecttions) followed by a maintenance phase (consisting of monthly injections). Once tolerance is induced it can last for several years without further treatment¹⁷⁶. The limiting factor in SCIT are anaphylactic side-effects, which vary in incidence from 0.1-5%¹⁷⁷. Improved efficacy with decreased side-effects is the aim of new approaches to SCIT, including T cell-reactive peptides¹⁷⁸, hypoallergenic recombinant allergens¹⁷⁹ or chemically modified allergens (allergoids)¹⁸⁰. Attaching CpG oligo-nucleotides, which induce innate immune responses through interaction with TLR9, in this way shifting the balance from a T_H2 towards a T_H1 phenotype, and other ligands of pathogen-recognition receptors, to allergens, seems to increase efficacy and decrease side-effects of SCIT¹⁸¹. The administration of allergens to the oral mucosa as a route for immunotherapy has only recently gained acceptance (sublingual immunotherapy; SLIT). Although much higher doses of allergen are required than are used for SCIT, the side-effect profile is impressively mild^{182,183}. Clinical trials have shown, that SLIT is effective for the treatment of pollinosis caused by grass, olive, ragweed and birch, as well as rhinitis that is associated with house dust mite and cat allergies. Both SCIT and SLIT also decrease the development of sensitization to new allergens and the risk of asthma in patients with rhinitis.

To improve the safety and attractiveness of SIT for patients, alternative routes of allergen administration are being explored. A recent study evaluated direct intralymphatic allergen administration for SIT with bee venom allergen phospholipase A2 and cat allergen Fel d 1. Since injection into the lymph node delivers antigen more efficiently to subcutaneous lymph nodes than subcutaneous injection this therapy induced more than 10-fold higher IgG responses with 100-fold lower antigen doses than subcutaneous immunization in mice¹⁸⁴. In the future such approaches may allow reducing both the number of allergen injections as well as the allergen dose, and improving efficacy and safety of SIT.

1.3.3 Therapy of Hymenoptera venom allergy

Systemic allergic reactions to Hymenoptera stings are treated according to the guidelines of anaphylactic shock. Medications used are intramuscular adrenaline, corticosteroids and antihistamines. Volume substitution and pressor substances are given if needed. Subjects with a history of potentially fatal insect sting hypersensitivity should have available an emergency kit containing aqueous adrenaline in a preloaded automatic syringe as well as tablets of corticosteroids and anti-histamines¹²⁹.

For patients being hypersensitive with having Grade III or IV reactions as well as a positive diagnostic test, either skin test or serum specific IgE, a venom immunotherapy is recommended¹⁸⁵. The first attempts at specific immunotherapy involved extracts of venom sacs¹⁸⁶ but then only whole-body extracts were used for almost 50 years. In the late 70s, prospective studies showed clearly that venom preparations are largely superior to whole-body extracts for immunotherapy and that whole-body extracts give patients no better protection than placebo¹⁸⁷. Various regimens are available for VIT. Conventional immunotherapy entails an initial course of weekly injections over three month, starting with low doses of venom and reaching the highest dose of 100 µg (equivalent to two honeybee stings and probably many more Vespula stings). Thereafter, maintenance injections of the same dose are given at monthly or longer intervals for at least three to five years⁶⁴. Rush protocols, with an up-dosing to maintenance dose in 4 days, provide more rapid protection than slow schedules, with sessions every 1-2 weeks and a dose increase to maintenance over several month¹⁸⁸. However, slow protocols are usually better tolerated¹⁸⁹. Newly described ultrarush protocols over 3.5 and 6 hours¹⁹⁰ seem to be very well tolerated in *Vespula* venom-allergic patients, but results in bee venom-allergic patients are controversial ¹⁹¹. Another convenient alternative are cluster protocols which comprise 2-3 injections per day of treatment that are given once a week to rapidly reach the maintenance dose¹⁹². The standard for effective VIT is a well tolerated re-exposure, by either a field sting or a hospital provocation test (sting challenge). Although, venom immunotherapy is effective in the majority of Hymenoptera venom-allergic patients, systemic sideeffects to VIT injections have been observed in 20-40% of patients and occur mainly during the initial phase of dose increase¹⁹³. According to sting challenge tests during VIT, 10% of vespid-allergic patients and 20-25% of bee venomallergic patients were not protected by venom immunotherapy and continued to develop generalized allergic symptoms^{134,193}. In this respect, there is considerable interest in improving safety and efficacy of Hymenoptera venom immunotherapy.

Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by circumvention of alpha-1,3-core fucosylation

Seismann, H., Blank, S., Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., and Spillner, E.

Mol Immunol, in press. [2009 Nov 5. Epub]

Abstract: Hymenoptera venom allergy is known to cause life-threatening and sometimes fatal IgE-mediated anaphylactic reactions in allergic individuals. About 30-50% of patients with insect venom allergy have IgE antibodies that react with both honeybee and yellow jacket venom. Apart from true double sensitisation, IgE against cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (CCD) are the most frequent cause of multiple reactivities severely hampering the diagnosis and design of therapeutic strategies by clinically irrelevant test results. In this study we addressed allergenic cross-reactivity using a recombinant approach by employing cell lines with variant capacities of alpha-1,3-core fucosylation. The venom hyaluronidases, supposed major allergens implicated in cross-reactivity phenomena, from honeybee (Api m 2) and yellow jacket (Ves v 2a and its putative isoform Ves v 2b) as well as the human alpha-2HS-glycoprotein as control, were produced in different insect cell lines. In stark contrast to production in Trichoplusia ni (HighFive) cells, alpha-1,3-core fucosylation was absent or immunologically negligible after production in Spodoptera frugiperda (Sf9) cells. Consistently, coexpression of honeybee alpha-1,3-fucosyltransferase in Sf9 cells resulted in the reconstitution of CCD reactivity. Re-evaluation of differentially fucosylated hyaluronidases by screening of individual venom-sensitised sera emphasised the allergenic relevance of Api m 2 beyond its carbohydrate epitopes. In contrast, the vespid hyaluronidases, for which a predominance of Ves v 2b could be shown, exhibited pronounced and primary carbohydrate reactivity rendering their relevance in the context of allergy questionable. These findings show that the use of recombinant molecules devoid of CCDs represents a novel strategy with major implications for diagnostic and therapeutic approaches.

Due to copyright limitations this article is not included in text form. The article is available online via PubMed. PMID: 19896717; doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2009.10.005

Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries

Braren, I., Blank, S., Seismann, H., Deckers, S., Ollert, M., Grunwald, T. and Spillner, E.

Clin Chem 53(5): 837-844 (2007). [2007 Mar 29. Epub]

BACKGROUND: Allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies play pivotal roles in the induction and progression of allergic hypersensitivity reactions. Consequently, monoclonal human IgE and IgG4 antibodies with defined specificity for allergens should be useful in allergy research and diagnostic tests. We used combinatorial antibody libraries and subsequent recombinant production to make and assess IgE, IgG1, and IgG4 allergen-specific antibodies.

METHODS: We used phage display to select a synthetic single-chain antibody fragment (scFv) library against 3 different allergens, from bee venom, bovine milk, and apple. The scFv obtained were converted into IgG1, IgG4, and IgE antibody formats and assessed for their biochemical properties by ELISA, immunoblotting, and fluorescence-activated cell sorting.

RESULTS: Two different antibody formats for each IgG1, IgG4, and IgE antibody were produced in mammalian cells as disulfide-linked and glycosylated Ig, which were usable in allergen-specific ELISA assays and immunoblots. In addition, the recombinant IgE antibodies mediated the binding of allergens to HEK-293 cells transfected with the high-affinity IgE receptor, and this binding was blocked by corresponding IgG antibodies.

CONCLUSIONS: The use of synthetic libraries for the generation of allergenspecific recombinant IgE and IgG antibodies should have broad applications in allergological research and diagnosis.

Due to copyright limitations this article is not included in text form. The article is available online via PubMed. PMID: 17395713; doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2006.078360

25

Recombinant IgY for improvement of immunoglobulinbased analytical applications

Greunke, K., Braren, I., Alpers, I., Blank, S., Sodenkamp, J., Bredehorst, R. and Spillner, E.

Clin Biochem 41:1237-1244 (2008). [2008 Jul 26. Epub]

OBJECTIVES: In order to provide superior tools for diagnostic approaches and to prevent assay interference and background binding, the objective of this study was the establishment and evaluation of monoclonal IgY which are phylogenetically distant from mammalian immunoglobulins but have been unavailable so far. **DESIGN AND METHODS:** Human, murine and avian monoclonal model antibodies were established and produced in mammalian cells. Their interaction with human serum components and Fc gamma receptors was compared by ELISA and fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS).

RESULTS: The use of monoclonal IgY in contrast to mammalian antibodies prevented interference phenomena in absorbance measurements generated by human sera containing rheumatoid factor (RF) or heterophilic antibodies. Additionally, monoclonal IgY exhibited no interaction with the human and murine high-affinity receptor FCGR1 (CD64) and human low affinity receptor FCGR3a (CD16A).

CONCLUSIONS: The data obtained demonstrate the advantageous behaviour of monoclonal IgY as detection or capture antibodies compared to conventional mammalian immunoglobulins and provide a strategy for improvement of assay performance and accuracy.

Due to copyright limitations this article is not included in text form. The article is available online via PubMed. PMID: 18718459; doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2008.07.004

3. Additional Results

3.1 Materials and Methods

3.1.1 Materials

Crude honeybee venom (HBV) collected by electrostimulation was purchased from Latoxan (Valence, France). Therapeutical grade HBV preparations were obtained from three different manufacturers. Yellow jacket venom (Vespula spp.) of immunotherapeutic grade (Venomil), which is obtained by venom sac extraction, was purchased from Bencard (Munich, Germany). Anti-V5 antibody was purchased from Invitrogen (Karlsruhe, Germany). Polyclonal rabbit anti-HRP serum as well as anti-rabbit-IgG AP conjugate and anti-mouse IgG AP conjugate was obtained from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). The monoclonal AP conjugated anti-IgE antibody was purchased from BD Pharmingen (Heidelberg, Germany). AlaBLOTs were obtained from Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics (Los Angeles, USA) . Patient sera were provided by Prof. Dr. Markus Ollert (Clinical Research Division of Molecular and Clinical Allergotoxicology, Department of Dermatology and Allergy, Biederstein, Technische Universität München, Germany). Three groups of sera from hymenoptera venom-sensitized patients were selected: (i) sera with a negative slgE test to vespid venom (i3 <0.35 kU/L) but a positive test to HBV (i1 \geq 0.35 kU/L); (ii) sera with a negative slgE test to HBV (i1 < 0.35 kU/L) but a positive test to vespid venom (i3 >0.35 kU/L); (iii) sera with a positive slgE test to HBV and to vespid venom (i1 and i3 \geq 0.35 kU/L). All sera were derived from patients with a history of a systemic allergic reaction after a stinging event. Specific IgE tests for honeybee or yellow jacket venom were performed in all patients on the automated immunoassay systems UniCAP250 (Phadia, Upsala, Schweden) or Immulite2000 (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics). All patients had given their informed written consent to draw an additional serum sample. Recombinant Ves v 3 was provided by Henning Seismann (University of Hamburg).

3.1.2 Protein biochemistry

Api m 5 was enriched from venom via chromatographic methods and subjected to sequencing by tandem mass spectrometry. Therefore, 200 mg of lyophilized honeybee venom were dissolved in 10 ml of 30 mM sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.5). Following removal of insoluble components by centrifugation at 4000 x g for 30
minutes the supernatant was incubated overnight with 5 ml of Sephadex C-25 ion exchange resin (GE Healthcare) pre-swollen in the same buffer. After settling of the resin by centrifugation, the supernatant was recovered and reduced to 800 µl by lyophilization, dialyzed against 3 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.0) and further reduced to 300 µl. This step enriches the approx. 100 kDa Api m 5 in relation to the abundant lower molecular weight protein fraction containing melittin and phospholipase A2. The enriched protein sample or 400 µg of whole venom dissolved in 30 µl 5x PAGE loading dye were subjected to fractionation by SDS-PAGE. Bands were excized, the proteins digested in-gel by trypsin (Roche Diagnostics, Penzberg, Germany) and resulting peptide fragments were sequenced on a Waters Micromass QToF2 mass spectrometer (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) by tandem mass spectrometry according to the manufacturers instructions.

3.1.3 cDNA cloning

Total RNA was isolated from the separated stinger with attached venom sac and additional glands of honeybee (Apis mellifera) using pegGold TriFast[™] (Peglab Biotechnologie, Erlangen, Germany). SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) and gene-specific primers were used to synthesize cDNA from the isolated total RNA. RNaseOut[™] recombinant ribonuclease inhibitor (1 µl) (Invitrogen) was added to the standard 20 µl reaction mix containing 5 µg venom gland RNA. Reverse transcription was performed at 50 °C for 60 minutes. First strand cDNA was used as a template for PCR amplification of Api m 5 and Carbohydrate-rich protein (CRP) DNA sequences. Full length Api m 5 was amplified from Apis mellifera venom gland cDNA with Pfu DNA polymerase (Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) using the primers 5'-ATGGAGGTACTGGTG-CAGCTGGCGCTGCTGCTG-3' and 5'-TCAGTGGGAGTA TCCCAGACA-3'. CRP was amplified from venom gland cDNA using the primers 5'-TTCCCTGGTGC-ACACGATGAGG-3' and 5'-TCAAGCAGTTAATACATCTCCTTGG-3'. DNA from the PCR reaction was isolated from 1% agarose gels (peqGOLD universal agarose, Peqlab Biotechnologie) using the peqGOLD Gel Extraction Kit (Peqlab Biotechnologie). Subcloning for sequencing was done using Zero Blunt TOPO PCR Cloning Kit (Invitrogen) with pCR-Blunt II-TOPO vector. The ligated DNA was used to transform *E. coli* of the strain XL1 Blue by electroporation (2 mm cuvettes) and selected on ampicillin agar plates.

3.1.4 Cloning and expression of venom allergens in insect cells and E. coli

After sequencing of selected subcloned cDNAs and verification of the sequence the clones were used for secondary amplification. The coding region of subcloned CRP was amplified in two consecutive PCR reactions adding a N-terminal 10-fold His-tag and V5 epitope using the primers 5'-AAGCCTATCCCTAACCCTCTCCT-CGGTCTCGATTCTACGTGGCTCGAGTCTAGATTCCCTGGTGCACACGATGA-GGTGGTAAGCCTATCCCTAACCCTCTCCTCGG-3' and 5'GATCGCGGCCGCT-CAAGCAGTTAATACATCTCCTTGG-3'. The mature chain coding region of subcloned Api m 5 was also amplified in two consecutive PCR reactions adding an N-terminal 10-fold His-tag and V5 epitope using the primers 5'-AAGCCTATCCCT AACCCTCTCCGGTCTCGATTCTACGTGGCTCGAGTCTAGAAAATCCGTTC CACGAGTGATCG-3', 5'-GATCGGATCCCATCACCACCACCATCATCACCACCA CCATTCTTCTGGTGGTAAGCCTATCCCTAACCCTCTCCTCGG-3'and 5'-GATC-GCGGCCGCTCAGTGGGAGTATCCCAGACAATTGGC-3'. The PCR products were subcloned into the BamHI and NotI digested baculovirus transfer vector pAcGP67-B (BD Pharmingen) after restriction with BamHI and NotI.

For expression of Api m 5 in *E. coli*, the coding region was cloned into the prokaryotic expression vector pMAL-c2X (New England Biolabs, Bad Schwalbach, Germany). Expression in *E. coli* XL1 Blue cells and purification of the fusion protein was performed according to the recommendations of the manufacturer.

For expression in *E. coli* the Carbohydrate-rich protein coding region was amplified using the primers 5'-GATCCATATGTTCCCTGGTGCACACGATG-3' and 5'-GGT-GGTTGCTCTTCCGCAAGCAGTTAATACATCTCCTTGG-3' and inserted into the digested vector pTXB1 (New England Biolabs) via Ndel and Sapl. The vector was further modified by addition of a second chitin binding domain (CBD). Expression and purification of the fusion protein was performed according to the recommendations of the manufacturer.

3.1.5 Recombinant baculovirus production

Spodoptera frugiperda cells (Sf9) (Invitrogen) were grown at 27 ℃ in se rum-free medium (Express Five SFM; Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) containing 10 µg/ml gentamycin; Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany). Cell density was determined by haemocytometer counts, cell viability was evaluated by staining with Trypan Blue.

Recombinant baculovirus was generated by cotransfection of Sf9 cells with BaculoGold bright DNA (BD Pharmingen) and the baculovirus transfer vector pAC-GP67-B containing Carbohydrate-rich protein or Api m 5. High titer stocks were produced by three rounds of virus amplification and optimal MOI for protein expression was determined empirically by infection of Sf9 cells in 100 ml suspension flasks (1.5-2 x 10^6 cells/ml in 20 ml suspension culture) with serial dilutions of high titer virus stock. High titer stock of recombinant baculovirus was used to infect 400 ml suspension culture of Sf9 or HighFive cells (Invitrogen) (1.5-2 x 10^6 cells per ml) in 2000 ml flasks. For protein production the cells were incubated at 27 °C and 110 rpm for 72 h.

3.1.6 Protein purification

The supernatant of baculovirus-infected cells was collected, adjusted to pH 8 and centrifuged at 4000 x g for 5 minutes. Supernatants were applied to a nickel-chelating affinity matrix (NTA-agarose, Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The column was washed with NTA-binding buffer (50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.6, 500 mM NaCl) and pre-eluted with NTA-binding buffer containing 20 mM imidazole. The recombinant protein was eluted from the matrix with NTA-binding buffer containing 300 mM imidazole. Purification was confirmed by SDS-PAGE.

3.1.7 Enzymatic activity of the recombinant Api m 5

The DPPIV activity of the native and recombinant enzyme was assessed as follows. Recombinant Api m 5 from baculovirus expression at a concentration of 200 ng/ml in NTA-binding buffer containing 300 mM imidazole and honeybee venom at a concentration of 100 μ g/ml in 50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.6, 100 mM NaCl were used for activity testing. The synthetic DPPIV substrate glycine-proline p-nitroanilide hydrochloride (Sigma) was applied at a final concentration of 0.5 mM and DPPIV activity was assayed at 405 nm using a spectrophotometer. For determination of the IC50 values, activity assays were repeated using serial dilutions of the specific DPPIV inhibitor Diprotin A (Sigma) ranging from 2.5 mM to 1.25 μ M final concentration. All values were measured in triplicates. Non-linear regression curves and inhibition values were calculated using Prism 3.0 (Graphpad Software).

3.1.8 IgE immunoreactivity of patient sera with recombinant proteins

For assessment of specific IgE immunoreactivity of sera, 384 well microtiter plates (Greiner, Frickenhausen, Germany) were coated with 20 μ l of recombinant proteins (20 μ g/ml) at 4 °C overnight and blocked with 4 0 mg/ml milkpowder in PBS at room temperature (RT). Thereafter, human sera were diluted 1:2 with PBS and incubated in a final volume of 20 μ l for 4 hours at RT. Wells were washed 4 times with PBS before IgE was detected with a monoclonal alkaline phosphatase-conjugated mouse anti-human IgE antibody (BD) diluted 1:1000. Wells were again washed 4 times with PBS and 50 μ l of substrate solution (5 mg/ml 4-nitrophenylphosphate, AppliChem, Darmstadt, Germany) were added. The plates were read at 405 nm. The lower end functional cut-off indicated as lines was calculated as the mean of the negative controls plus 2 SDs. For reasons of precision, reactivities only slightly higher than the cut off value were excluded. For immunoblot procedures human sera were diluted 1:10 with 5 mg/ml BSA in

PBS and applied to the corresponding AlaBLOTs (i1 *A. mellifera* venom; i3 *V. vulgaris* venom; Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics) or to the purified recombinant allergens, separated by SDS-PAGE and immobilized onto nitrocellulose membranes. Visualization of bound IgE was then performed with monoclonal anti-human IgE conjugated to alkaline phosphatase and nitrotetrazolium blue chloride/5-bromo-4chloro-3-indoyl phosphate according to recommendations of the manufacturer.

3.1.9 Basophil activation test

The basophil activation test was performed as described previously¹⁹⁴ with modifications as recommended by the manufacturer of the assay (Flow-CAST; Bühlmann Laboratories). In brief, within 3 h after sampling of patient blood in endotoxin free EDTA tubes, aliquots of 50 µl whole blood were pre-incubated for 10 min at 37 °C with stimulation buffer containing IL-3. Subs equently, basophils were activiated for 40 min at 37 °C in a water bath with variou s concentrations of either native or recombinant allergens at a volume of 100 µl. Thereby, honeybee or yellow jacket venom (in a concentration range of 0.25 ng/ml to 25 ng/ml) as well as the recombinant allergens (Ves v 3 and Api m 5, for comparison Ves v 1, Ves v 2, and Ves v 5, all in a concentration range of 0.001 ng/ml to $2x10^3$ ng/ml) were applied in concentrations according to those reported in literature. As positive stimulation control served a murine monoclonal antibody against the human high affinity Fcɛ receptor (FccRI) (Bühlmann Laboratories). Plain stimulation buffer was used as negative stimulation control. The optimal stimulation time and temperature were determined in preliminary experiments. To quantify activated basophils, cells were stained with 20 μ I reagent containing a mixture of monoclonal antibodies to human CD63 labelled with phycoerythrin (anti-CD63-PE) and to human IgE labelled with fluoresceine isothiocyanate (anti-IgE-FITC) for 30 min on ice. Red blood cells were lyzed and white blood cells were fixed (FACS Lysing solution, BD Biosciences) for 5 min at room temperature. After centrifugation (5 min, 1200 x g) cells were resuspended in 500 μ I of stop solution. Flow cytometric analysis of basophil activation was performed on a FACScan flow cytometer (BD Immunocytometry Systems). IgE-staining and side scatter were employed to gate on at least 500 basophils that expressed high density of surface IgE. Subsequently, within this gate the percent-tage of activated basophils, i.e. coexpressing CD63, was measured.

3.1.10 Other methods

SDS-PAGE, immunoblotting and molecular biology standard procedures were performed according to established protocols¹⁹⁵.

3.2 Results

The most abundant honeybee venom (HBV) allergens include phospholipase A2 (Api m 1), hyaluronidase (Api m 2), and the basic 26 amino acid peptide Melittin (Api m 4)⁹⁴, all constituting high abundance proteins with amounts of 12%, 2% and 50%, respectively, of dry weight in the venom¹⁹⁶. Nevertheless, hymenoptera venoms comprise a more complex cocktail of a variety of different compounds all of which may contribute to allergic sensitization, allergic symptoms and success of VIT. Although venom allergens in recombinant form may provide significant improvements¹⁹⁷, only the most prominent ones are available so far^{105,198}. Api m 1 and Api m 2 could be expressed in hosts like bacteria, yeast or baculovirus-infected insect cells¹⁹⁹⁻²⁰² and selected structures have been elucidated by X-ray crystallography^{203,204}.

In the recent years significant progress has been made to identify additional HBV compounds of lower abundance, primarily by proteomic approaches. In general, recombinant approaches facilitate the assessment of the allergenicity and the clinical relevance of such venom compounds, whereby expression should meet the requirements of proper folding - if possible enzymatic activity - and correct posttranslational modifications, all of which are potentially important for the establishment of conformational epitopes²⁰². In particular glycan structures can contribute significantly to biochemical and structural characteristics of venom proteins. Additionally, they constitute the underlying principle of cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (CCD), a peculiarity of hymenoptera and plant allergens interfering with diagnosis and design of therapeutic strategies in hymenoptera venom allergy^{140,143,205}.

Since a recombinant availability of venom allergens might offer several promising possibilities for an improvement of diagnosis and therapy of Hymenoptera venom allergy, novel allergenic components from *Apis mellifera* venom were identified as well as established allergens recombinantly produced and characterized in detail.

3.2.1 Characterization of Carbohydrate-rich protein from Apis mellifera venom

A venom protein of considerable interest is the Carbohydrate-rich protein (CRP), also termed Icarapin or venom protein 2 (VP2). Peptides of this protein were identified by two independent groups in 2005^{206,207}. Insoluble, non-glycosylated protein obtained by recombinant production in *E. coli* exhibited an IgE reactivity with 4 out of 5 sera of beekeepers with HBV allergy¹⁰⁰ accompanied by an inherent molecular lability. However, without established recombinant expression of soluble Carbohydrate-rich protein, its relative abundance in whole HBV as well as its relevance in the context of sensitization and VIT remained elusive.

Thus, aim of this work was the recombinant production of Carbohydrate-rich protein in soluble, non-glycosylated form in *E. coli* and as a fully glycosylated protein in two variant baculovirus-infected insect cell lines and the comparative analysis of the differentially glycosylated proteins for IgE reactivity using sera from hymenoptera venom-allergic patients. Furthermore, a monoclonal Carbohydrate-rich protein-specific antibody should be generated for quantification of the native protein in *A. mellifera* venom and therapeutical preparations.

3.2.1.1 Recombinant expression and characterization of the Carbohydraterich protein

Systematic MS-based proteomic analyses of *A. mellifera* venom proteins within the molecular mass range of 30-35 kDa yielded tryptic fragments that could be assigned to Carbohydrate-rich protein. Carbohydrate-rich protein is a putative venom allergen with a theoretical mass of 22 kDa. For recombinant expression the Carbohydrate-rich protein coding region was amplified from honeybee venom gland whole cDNA. Sequence analysis revealed the selective amplification of the splicing variant 2 of Carbohydrate-rich protein, 4 amino acids shorter than variant 1 (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6: Alignment of Carbohydrate-rich protein variants. Shown are Carbohydrate-rich protein variant 1 and 2. Peptides identified by mass spectrometry are highlighted in light grey. Signal sequences are italicised and putative glycosylation sites are represented in dark grey.

For expression in *E. coli* as an agylcosylated protein the Intein-CBD system was employed. Release from the affinity resin by autocatalytic cleavage yielded soluble non-tagged Carbohydrate-rich protein with an apparent molecular weight of 35 kDa (Fig. 7A, B) suggesting a modified migration behaviour due to its low pl. Glycosylated Carbohydrate-rich protein with or devoid of CCDs was produced by baculovirus-infection of *Trichoplusia ni* (HighFive) or *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Sf9) insect cells. Purification yielded recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein (yield of approx. 1 µg per ml supernatant) from Sf9 and HighFive cells with an apparent molecular mass of approx. 50 to 55 kDa (Fig. 7A, B). Additionally, a very minor band in the range of 35 kDa could be detected. The migration behaviour of the insect cell derived proteins underlines the contribution of the carbohydrates to the overall characteristics, particularly when compared to the aglycosylated *E. coli*derived protein. To verify their identity and immunoreactivity, all three protein variants were evaluated by means of different antibodies (Fig. 7C-E).



Fig. 7: Analysis of recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein in immunoblot. SDS-PAGE and Immunoblot analysis of Carbohydrate-rich protein recombinantly produced in Sf9 and HighFive insect cells as well as in *E. coli* visualized by either coomassie staining or anti-V5 epitope anti-body, monoclonal human anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE antibody, anti-HRP antiserum, pooled HBV allergic patients sera and a CCD-positive serum.

In immunoblot, all three proteins were found reactive with a monoclonal anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE and, additionally, with a serum pool of HBV-sensitized patients (Fig. 7C, E). The use of an anti-HRP rabbit serum specific for plantderived glycostructures including α -1,3-core fucosyl and β -1,2 xylosyl residues verified pronounced α -1,3-core fucosylation, the causative structure for CCDbased cross-reactivity for Carbohydrate-rich protein produced in HighFive cells. In contrast, glycosylated, Sf9-produced as well as *E. coli*-derived Carbohydrate-rich protein did not exhibit any CCD-reactivity (Fig. 7D). Comparable results were obtained with serum of a CCD-reactive but not HBV-allergic patient (Fig. 7F). Use of the analogous antibodies in ELISA (Fig. 8) corroborated the obtained data.



Fig. 8: Analysis of recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein in ELISA. ELISA analysis of Carbohydrate-rich protein and HBV using the monoclonal anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE, the anti-V5 epitope antibody, and the anti-HRP antiserum. Results are presented as triplicates.

Together these data demonstrate that choice of the expression host defines the state of glycosylation as shown previously²⁰⁸ and, thereby, strongly influences the characteristics of the resulting proteins.

3.2.1.2 Screening of patient sera for IgE reactivity with Carbohydrate-rich protein variants

To assess the sensitization of allergic patients to Carbohydrate-rich protein, the IgE reactivity of individual sera was analyzed in ELISA and immunoblot. The impact of glycosylation was addressed by use of differentially glycosylated proteins produced in *E. coli* or Sf9 insect cells, thereby circumventing interference by CCD-reactivity.

Overall, sera of 85 randomly selected patients with a clinical history of insect venom allergy were assayed by ELISA for specific IgE antibodies to Carbohydraterich protein produced in Sf9 insect cells. These sera were separated into three groups, a group of 17 sera with negative sIgE to yellow jacket venom (YJV) implying sensitization to HBV only without CCD reactivity (Fig. 9A), a group of 17 sera with negative sIgE to YJV (Fig. 9A), a group of 17 sera with negative sIgE to HBV but positive sIgE to YJV (Fig. 9B), as well as a group of 51 sera double positive for HBV and YJV, thus, predominantly CCD-reactive (Fig. 9C). In the group with negative sIgE to HBV, none of the sera recognized recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein, suggesting the absence of a cross-reactive, homologous molecule in YJV (Fig. 9B). From the HBV monosensitized group 8 sera (47%) reacted with Carbohydrate-rich protein (Fig. 9A). In the group of double positive sera including both HBV- and YJV-sensitized patients 27 sera (52%) exhibited pronounced reactivity with Sf9-derived Carbohydrate-rich protein (Fig. 9C).



Fig. 9: IgE reactivity of individual patient sera with recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein. Immunoreactivity of individual patient sera with recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein produced in Sf9 insect cells. The IgE reactivity was assessed by ELISA with 17 sera of venom-sensitized patients with negative IgE to vespid venom (A), 17 sera of venom-sensitised patients with negative IgE to *A. mellifera* venom (B) and 51 double positive sera (C).

In comparative assessment of sIgE binding to Sf9- and *E. coli*-derived Carbohydrate-rich protein, 18/38 in the group of double positive sera (47%) and 17/38 (44%), respectively, exhibited reactivity with the respective protein variants (Fig. 10A). In the group of the patients with negative sIgE to vespid venom 5/11 sera (45%) showed pronounced reactivity with the Sf9- and prokaryotically derived Carbohydrate-rich protein (Fig. 10B). Although most Carbohydrate-rich protein reactive sera showed comparable reactivity to Sf9- and *E. coli*-derived Carbohydrate-rich protein, one serum interestingly exhibited a dramatically reduced reactivity to the *E. coli*-produced Carbohydrate-rich protein. The group with negative sIgE to HBV (Fig. 10C) exhibited no reactivity at all. Reactivity of selected sera found positive in ELISA (patient 17, 19 and 24 in Fig. 9C) was further analyzed in immunoblot (Fig. 10D). All sera recognized Sf9and *E. coli*-produced Carbohydrate-rich protein in an equivalent manner. In the case of the Sf9-produced protein all sera recognized the major band at 55 kDa as well as the minor band at 35 kDa, a pattern also observed for the pool serum.



Fig. 10: IgE reactivity of individual patient sera with recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein produced in insect cells and *E. coli*. Immunoreactivity of individual patient sera with Carbohydrate-rich protein produced in Sf9 insect cells and *E. coli*. The IgE reactivity was assessed with 38 double positive sera (A), 11 sera with negative IgE to vespid venom (B) and 17 sera with negative IgE to *A. mellifera* venom (C). In parallel, the reactivity of 4 particular sera with recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein was assessed in immunoblot (D).

Together these results suggest that Carbohydrate-rich protein has to be considered as an important and genuine allergen in *Apis mellifera* venom. Moreover, carbohydrates beyond the CCDs appear to contribute to the overall IgE reactivity to a minor extent only.

3.2.1.3 Evaluation of native Carbohydrate-rich protein in Apis mellifera venom

The finding of Carbohydrate-rich protein derived peptides in the range of 30-35 kDa and a previously reported tendency to degradation^{100,207} may suggest an inherent molecular lability. To clarify the molecular integrity and concentration of Carbohydrate-rich protein in the native HBV and in therapeutic preparations used for VIT a monoclonal human IgE antibody was generated (Fig. 11), the reactivity of which with the Carbohydrate-rich protein variants was verified in ELISA and immunoblot (Fig. 7C, 8A).



Fig. 11: Generation and expression of a monoclonal human IgE by selection of a combinatorial library. The immunoreactivity of phage-displayed polyclonal phages from three panning rounds and selected monoclonal phages against carbohydrate-rich protein was analysed by ELISA. Controls (white bars) were performed by omission of antigen (A). After conversion of the antibody gene into the format of a monoclonal human IgE antibody, clone 1 was produced in HEK293 cells and detected in cellular supernatant by using monoclonal anti-human IgE-AP conjugate.

Applying this monoclonal antibody in immunoblots of crude HBV a major band at 55 kDa as well as a minor product of 35 kDa were detected (Fig. 12A) corresponding to the pattern recognized for the insect cell-derived proteins (Fig. 7A,B). To address the quantity of Carbohydrate-rich protein in HBV, the monoclonal IgE was applied to immunoblots providing serial dilutions of recombinant Sf9-derived Carbohydrate-rich protein and HBV (Fig. 12A, upper panel). In parallel, a human monoclonal IgE antibody with specificity for acid phosphatase (Api m 3), another low abundance allergen in HBV, was applied analogously using insect cell-pro-

duced Api m 3^{103} (Fig. 12A, lower panel). Densitometric quantification suggested a Carbohydrate-rich protein concentration in the range of 8 ± 1 µg per g of crude HBV, corresponding to 0.8% ± 0.1% of dry weight compared with 1.7% ± 0.4% for Api m 3. Together these data suggest that Carbohydrate-rich protein is present in the venom as intact component in amounts roughly comparable to that of other allergens of already established relevance such as Api m 3.



Fig. 12: Determination of the presence of CRP in venom and venom preparations. Concentration of Carbohydrate-rich protein in HBV was assessed by densitometric analyses of serial dilutions of recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein and Api m 3 and in crude venom by immunoblotting using an anti-Api m 3 and an anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE antibody (A). The presence of Carbohydrate-rich protein and Api m 3 in crude venom and venom preparations (each 25 µg per lane, coomassie staining of Api m 1 was employed as additional loading control) was addressed analogously (B).

To assess the integrity and presence of Carbohydrate-rich protein in HBV preparations 25 µg of crude venom and three different HBV preparations for VIT from three different allergen extract producers were separated on SDS-PAGE and analyzed with the monoclonal anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE (Fig. 12B, left panel). Staining for Api m 1 was used as a control for loading equal amounts. In stark contrast to the crude venom, no reactivities for none of the preparations were obtained at all. Api m 3 could be readily detected in whole HBV as well as in two of the preparations, although in significantly lesser amounts (Fig. 12B, right panel). These data demonstrate that the concentrations of the putatively labile HBV allergen Carbohydrate-rich protein and the already established major allergen Api m 3, although present in HBV as intact proteins in substantial amounts, are dramatically reduced in some or all therapeutic venom preparations investigated in this study.

In the last decades much effort has been spent to characterize a plethora of allergens in a variety of sources including pollen, food, moulds, animals, etc., however, the allergenic source causing the highest incidence of anaphylaxis and sometimes even fatal consequences – the venoms of hymenoptera - remain inadequately characterized with regard to their molecular composition. Notably, this holds also true for HBV, despite the fact that the higher abundance allergens (Api m 1, Api m 2, and Api m 4) have already been characterized in detail years ago. With a few exceptions (e.g., Api m 3), comparatively little is still known about the identity, the sensitizing potential, the allergenicity, and the clinical relevance of the lower abundance allergens in HBV. One of these putative lower abundance allergens is Carbohydrate-rich protein, a protein of unknown function, peptides of which were recently identified in HBV independently by two groups^{206,207}. In support of their finding, in this work it have also been identified CRP-derived peptides in two different batches of HBV obtained by electrostimulation in the range of 30 to 35 kDa. Its nature as a true venom compound is further supported by the presence of a signal peptide typical for secreted proteins, an immunodetection at the cuticular lining of the venom duct¹⁰⁰ and the presence in fractionated HBV²⁰⁶, as additionally confirmed in this study by the use of a monoclonal Carbohydraterich protein-specific antibody.

Carbohydrate-rich protein shares a consensus sequence with a number of mostly unknown insect proteins; one of them is the *Ae. aegypti* putative salivary secreted mucin 3, however, Carbohydrate-rich protein lacks common features of mucins or mucin-like proteins rendering a mucin function at least questionable.

In general, it could be demonstrated that production of insect venom allergens in insect cells as nearly autologous system is superior in terms of functionality and folding^{96,202,209}. This strategy also favours the establishment of discontinuous IgE epitopes as well as linear epitopes requiring a rigid and properly folded framework. However, contrary to a previous report in this work it was possible to obtain soluble recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein using both, the eukaryotic baculo-virus expression system or the strategy of CBD fusion followed by autocatalytic intein-mediated cleavage in *E. coli*. The insect cell produced Carbohydrate-rich protein showed a molecular weight of approx. 50-55 kDa. In contrast, *E. coli* produced soluble Carbohydrate-rich protein exhibited a molecular weight of 35 kDa

without indications for inherent lability as reported previously for the insoluble protein obtained also from *E. coli*¹⁰⁰.

The peculiar discrepance between the predicted molecular weight of 22 kDa of the aglycosylated protein variant and the actual migration behaviour at 35 kDa in SDS-PAGE might be explained by the acidic pl of 4.4. The additional difference between the aglycosylated and the insect cell-derived, glycosylated proteins obviously stems from extensive posttranslational modifications, such as glycosylation which is anticipated due the presence of 4 potential N- and 6 potential O-glycosylation sites. Although the capacity for the latter type of modification was demonstrated for different lepidopteran insect cell lines recently, including *T. ni* and *S. frugiperda* cells²¹⁰ the N-glycosylation most likely will be of major importance.

Since a few years it is increasingly been recognized that carbohydrate-based cross reactivities, namely by a-1,3-core fucose residues, represent a major concern for diagnostic approaches in hymenoptera venom allergy. However, the use of Sf9 and HighFive insect cell lines constitutes a strategy recently reported by us to define the establishment of CCDs and their detrimental role²⁰⁸ under the aegis of an autologous eukaryotic expression.

Using the differentially glycosylated protein variants, up to approx. 50% of HBVallergic patients showed reactivity with recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein, thus rendering it an important sensitizing component of HBV beyond the presence of CCDs. Interestingly, the findings obtained with the aglycosylated protein expressed in *E. coli* matched those with the glycosylated proteins, although reactivity of prokaryotically produced protein appeared slightly reduced. Only singular sera exhibited drastically reduced or loss of slgE reactivity with the aglycosylated Carbohydrate-rich protein. This might hint for a predominance of lgE epitopes that are not affected by structural rearrangements due to glycosylation. Future studies will have to address the allergen status of CRP as a major or minor allergen of HBV and its clinical relevance in venom allergy.

Notably, the complete lack of reactivity in the group of YJV-sensitized patients without sensitization to HBV clearly suggests the absence of a homologous structure in vespid venom. This would render Carbohydrate-rich protein a novel genuine marker for HBV allergy.

As evident from the data of this work Carbohydrate-rich protein appears to be a crucial but delicate component of HBV preparations. By the use of the monoclonal

anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE it was for the first time possible to detect native Carbohydrate-rich protein in unprocessed A. mellifera venom and to provide evidence for its molecular integrity. Present as intact protein with concentrations only slightly lower than those of Api m 3 (1.7%) and Api m 2 (2%) the Carbohydraterich protein appears as an allergen analogous to since long established proteins which are easier to prove, inter alia for their enzymatic activity. Delineated from these observations, it can be calculated that during a bee sting, given an injection of 50-140 µg of total protein per sting^{86,87}, approx. 400-1120 ng of intact Carbohydrate-rich protein are introduced into the individual. Thus, it was surprising to find that Carbohydrate-rich protein is apparently absent or at least vastly underrepresented in three therapeutical preparations of HBV from independent vendors as assessed by use of the monoclonal antibody. Obviously, downstream processing of venoms for VIT affects the distribution of venom proteins, resulting in the potential loss of particular low abundance components, as evident for Carbohydrate-rich protein and Api m 3, although the latter not to the extent of Carbohydrate-rich protein.

Although VIT is relatively efficient, the high effort of therapy regarding safety and time, the difficulties to achieve full protection, and the reasons for the 10-20% treatment failures remain to be addressed. The findings of this work might hint for an implication of lower abundance components of hymenoptera venoms in the success and, thereby, also the failure of venom immunotherapies.

Although these data need further validation and the exact role of lower abundance components for therapeutic efficacy remains to be analyzed, the presence of lower abundance or inherently labile venom components should be imperative and might serve as proof of quality. With regard to such standardization purposes the use of monoclonal antibodies as shown here for Carbohydrate-rich protein as well as Api m 3 may open interesting prospects to improvement and standardization of therapeutics.

3.2.2 Identification, recombinant expression and characterization of the 100 kDa allergen Api m 5

In addition to the major components of *Apis mellifera* venom with known enzymatic function a panel of high molecular weight proteins exhibits IgE reactivity, the most prominent of which in the range of 100 kDa is termed Api m 5 or allergen C and is supposed to be another major allergen recognized by specific IgE in a majority of honeybee venom-allergic patients. Although present in substantial concentrations, identity and function of this allergen defied elucidation. As determined by gelelectrophoretic analysis, Api m 5 has an apparent molecular weight ranging between 102 kDa²¹¹ and 105 kDa⁹⁵. In immunodiffusion, it has been demonstrated to be non-cross-reactive with other major bee venom allergens including Api m 1, Api m 2, Api m 3, and Api m 4 as well as with other minor components⁹⁵.

Thus, aim of this work was the identification and molecular cloning of the cDNA of the high molecular weight allergen Api m 5, the expression of the gene in insect cells, and the biochemical and immunological characterization of the purified recombinant molecule.

3.2.2.1 Identification of Api m 5

Major slgE reactivities with proteins of higher molecular weight were evident in immunoblot of *A. mellifera* venom employing pool sera of venom-sensitized patients as shown in Fig. 13A. Thereby, the most remarkable reactivity was detected with a high molecular weight allergen at approx. 100 kDa, putatively corresponding to Api m 5 or allergen C in honeybee venom. After enrichment by chromatographic procedures the IgE-reactive putative Api m 5 with an apparent molecular weight of 105 kDa (Fig. 13B) was subjected to sequencing by tandem mass spectrometry. Four peptide sequences (shown in Fig. 14) could be identified, three of which yielded hits in a database search of the *Apis mellifera* genome with bioinformatic tools^{212,213}. According to the automated gene prediction program GNOMON, a putative gene (XP_393818) codes for the isolated Api m 5. A Blast search for short, nearly exact matches yielded a corresponding result with the fourth peptide sequence. Although with low probability scanning for a potential signal peptide cleavage site²¹⁴ indicated a putative N-terminus for the Api m 5 protein.



Fig. 13: Venom immunoreactivity and enrichment of the high molecular weight allergen Api m 5 from honeybee venom. Specific IgE immunoreactivity of pooled sera from honeybee venom-sensitized patients with venom of *A. mellifera* (A). Immunoblot analysis of Api m 5 enriched from venom of *A. mellifera*. Detection was performed using pooled serum of honeybee venomsensitized patients and anti-IgE alkaline phosphatase conjugate (lane 1: bovine serum albumin as negative control; lane 2: honey bee venom; lane 3: enriched Api m 5 fraction; lane 4: protein marker) (B).

3.2.2.2 cDNA cloning and sequence analysis

First attempts to amplify the gene from bee venom gland cDNA failed. However, reevaluation of the genomic sequence using the alternative automated gene prediction program GenMark suggested a variant N-terminal splicing unambiguously providing a signal peptide. Based on this information a DNA fragment of 2328 bp in length could be amplified.

The Api m 5 nucleotide sequence (Genbank accession: EU564832) encodes a 775-amino acid polypeptide with a calculated molecular mass of 87.9 kDa which is compatible with the apparent molecular weight (approx. 105 kDa) of native Api m 5 (Fig. 13, Fig. 14). The discrepancy between the deduced molecular weight of Api m 5 and its apparent molecular weight of 105 kDa in SDS-PAGE is most likely due to posttranslational modification by glycosylation as suggested by the presence of six predicted sites for N-glycosylation. The amino acid sequence shows significant homology to dipeptidylpeptidase IV (DPPIV) proteins known to cleave dipeptide units from the N-terminus of growth factors and other peptidic compounds. The enzyme is composed of an N-terminal dipeptidyl peptidase domain and a C-terminal prolyl peptidase domain. Identity to human DPPIV (CD26) is in the range of 32% (10% on DNA level) and to a DPPIV from the venom of the snake *Gloydius blomhoffi brevicaudus* in the range of 32% (11% on DNA level).

Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	MEVLVQLALLLVVHGSLVVLVAGKSVPRVIDQDLERYEPLEEEDHRGAR <u>VFPNLEETYDQSFR</u> ANSFNGTWKTDR <u>EILYSDNYVGDIR</u> LFDVTTGSGTVLLDSSVTADFDKASVMFSF 11 MVPLRSFVLLMSLFLVLLAARTVVTRVIDKDNSDRIVKTQNDQNLSKVFPNLEETYTADFLAVVINGGTWT5DTTIVYTDRRGGILQPDVIKQRSTLIVDSSVMDAVIVSNYVLSP 11 MKTPWKVLLGLLAGAALVTITVPVVLLNKGTDATADSRKTYTLTDVLKNTYRLKLYSLRWISDHEYLYKQENNILVFNAEYGNSSVFLENSFDEFGHSINDYSISP 10 MKTVKCLLGLLALGVIITAIVVPVVLLNKGTDATADSRKTYTLTDVLSVNSQAILSP 10 MKTVKCLLGLLALGVIITAIVVPVVLLTRDDSDIRKFSLEDVLSDEFQYKSVNLKWSGHEVYTNQNNVLLNIDDERESIVLSNDTLDSFNSSQ-AILSP 10
Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	DNSHVAIGHDYVNGFRYSIHQKCTVYNIKSR-TFTDIANGDRIPLFKWSPTRNALIYVHK <u>NDIYYQVFFEGGS-DTR</u> RITNTGVPDIVFNGIPDWVYEEEVLGSPVAFWISPDGRHLAFA 23 KGRYLLIGYDLKKCYRYSTFMRVUIDIERR-AYHKIGNDMHIALAKWAPLTDDLIYILDNDIYYKNFSNNGFNDVQRVPYDGISGIVYNGVPDWVYEEEVLGDSAIWSPSPGNHLAFA 23 DGQFILLEYNYVKQWRHSYTASYDIYDLNKRQLITEERIPNNTQWVTWSPVGHKLAYVWNNDIYVKIEPNLPSYRITWTGKEDIIYNGITDWVYEEEVFSALWWSPNGFLAFA 22 DRKFALLGYSYEKVWRHSYTASYDIYDLNKRTKITENPLFTNIQVISWSPVGHKLAYVNNVNVKATFNASPVQITENGENKILADWVYEEEVFFSALSWWSPNGFLAFA 22
Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	TFNDTNVRDIVISKYGSPGNSRDQYPNEIRIKYPKAGTINPFVSLSVIDLHDPSKLIDLPPPVDVVGADNVLYTANWRRDGEIVATWINRVQNKAQLVLYDTKGNANNIYYEEET 35 SFDDRNVQELIYLHYGEPGNLDDQYPTEVKIKYPKVGTLNPVVSITLVDLHDPTLAKIDLKAPHA <u>VGTDNLL</u> YNVQMKDEDHVVVTWSNRVQMKTEIVWVNMYGEIVKTLHVVEH 35 QFNDTEVPLIEYSFYSDESLQYPKTVRVPYPKAGAVNPTVKFFVVNTDSLSSVTNATSIQITAPASMLIGDHYLCDVTWATQERISLQWLRRIQNYSVMDICDYDESGRWNCLVAR 34 EINDTEVPWSYSFYSDETLQYPKTIKIPYPKAGINPTIKFVLDISLSPKNISEIVAPSIISEDVAPSIIGDHYLCDVTWSDERICVQWLRRIONFSVLTICDYSGAWHCPKER 33 :** : * : *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *: *:
Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	EGWLRIQPPLYHDRYVIVAKLQDSGTKAGRFLHATRLEYRNGALVDETDLTPGTCEVISLLVDHARARLYYLGTELG-KPSHKNLYSVQLSGNEPPVCLSCDVLTPEGNRCTYAY 46 KGWLDIKHLFFYKGSVYIRKLQPSGTKAGRFHHVTRyDETFKQSPTQMDLTPDAIEVQNICTIDGSNGRIYYLASGLG-KPSGKNLYSVPADGSEKPTCISCNVLTPEGNVCTYAD 46 QHIEMSTTGWVGRFRPSEPHFTLDGNSFYKIISNEEGYRHICYPQIDKKDCTFITKGTWEVIGIEALTSDYLYYISNEYKGMPGGRNLYKVQLSDYTKVTCLSCELNPERCQYYS 45 EHLEESKTGWVGRFQPSEPYTTSDKISYVRIISDSEGYRHIHYTDSAGK-VKPITSGKWEVIGISAVTNNSLYFISNEFEGGRHIYVDLKNLKKICTTCNSKEERCQYFS 44 : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :
Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	AY FSTMGSHYALYCAGPDPVFIAIVN-ANHRQISIWEENRSLRRKLAARTQPIVKNFNVNANGYTNKVKLYLPPDFDETKKYPLLITVYAGPNTIRITEEATYGFESYIVTMRSVIYGRI 58 AIFSPLGQYVULVCHGPDPAFVSIFN-NAHQKYYSMENNLSLRKKLAKRHLPLVKDLDVRANGYESKVRLFLPHNFDESKSYPLLVMVYAGPNTLKIIDAASYGHQYMTTMRSVIYAI 58 VSFSKEAKYYQLRCSGFGLPLYTLHSSVNDKGLRVLEDNSLLDKMLQNVQMPSKKLDFIILNETKFWYQMILPPHFDSKKYPLLDVYAGPCSQKADTAFRINNATYLASTENIIVASF 57 VSFSTBSKYYKLKCYGPDPYFTLQNSITDKAIKTLEDNNNLKNVLKEIQMPCKRLSNITLHGQTYWYQMILPPHFDESKKYPLLIDVYAGPCSQKADTAFRINNATYLASTENIIVASF 56 .** .** ****
Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	DGRGSAYKGSKMLFEIYRRL <u>GTVEIEDDIIITR</u> TLQEKYSWIDSNRTGIWGN ^S YGGFSAAMVLATDAESVFKCGISVAPVTSWIYYDSLYTERFMGPPTPEDNQSGYNDTDVSRRVEGMR 70 DGRGSSNKGSKMLFEIYRKL <u>GTVEVEDD</u> ITVTRQLGEMFFWIDSKRTGWGGMYGGFSTAMILAKDAESVFKCGISVAPVTSWIYYDSLYTERFMGPPTPEDNLSGYNETDVSRRVEDIR 70 DGRGSGYQGDKIMHAINRRLGTFEVEDQIEAARQFSKMG-FYDNKRIAIWGGMYGGYVTSMVLGSGSG-VFKCGIAVAPVSRWIYYDSLYTERYMGLPFTPEDNLHYRNSTVMSRAENFK 69 DGRGSGYGDKILHAIYRRLGTVEVEDDISAALFSEMS-FVDKDRIAIWGMYGGVVTSMVLGSGSD-VFKCGIAVAPVSRWQYDSIYTERYMGLPENDNLHYFNSTVMSRAENFK 68 *****
Bee Apim 5 Vespid Ves v 3 Human DPP IV Snake Gbb-IVa	GKKYMLIHCRADNUHYQQITMLINKALVNSDIMFQQQTYTDEAFALGMVFEHLYHTTDEFWANCLGYSH 775 GKKEMLIHGSGDNUHYQQSLALAKALEKADVMFEQITYTDEAFALFGVLPHLYHTMDRFWSDCFSLSHAH 776 QVEYLLIHGTADNUHFQQSAQISKALVDAVUDFQAMMYTDEKSIASTAHGHIYTMMSHFIKQCFSLE 766 TVDYLLIHGTADNUHFQQAAQISKALVDAEVDFQAMMYTDEKSIGG-HAHSHIYQMSHFIKQCFSLE 751

Fig. 14: Alignment of Api m 5 with other related proteins. Alignment with database-derived sequences revealed homologies to peptidases from other species. Shown are Api m 5, Ves v 3 from YJV, dipeptidylpeptidase IV of the snake *Gloydius blomhoffi brevicaudus* (e.g. Genbank accession AB158224) and human dipeptidylpeptidase IV (e.g. Genbank accession BC65265). Peptides identified by mass spectrometry are underlined. Signal sequences are italicized, the residues involved in the conserved active centre of the enzymes are represented boxed and putative glycosylation sites in grey.

3.2.2.3 Recombinant expression of Api m 5 in insect cells

In order to provide recombinant protein for subsequent functional and immunological studies and to verify the presence of the identified protein in the venom full length Api m 5 was produced as secreted protein in insect cells. The cDNA of Api m 5 was cloned into the particular expression vector for baculovirus based infection of *Trichoplusia ni* (HighFive) or *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Sf9) insect cells. The culture supernatant was subjected to Ni-NTA-agarose chromatography, and the resulting protein analyzed by SDS-PAGE and IgE immunoblotting (Fig. 15). The epitope-tagged recombinant protein (yield of approx. 0.2 µg per ml supernatant) exhibited an apparent molecular mass of approx. 105 kDa corresponding to the natural allergen in honeybee venom and, additionally, was reactive with sIgE from pooled sera of venom-sensitized patients (Fig. 15B). Recombinant Api m 5 was analyzed in comparison to its homologue from Yellow jacket venom, Ves v 3, which was present in the laboratory.



Fig. 15: Immunoreactivity of native and recombinant Api m 5. Immunoblot of honeybee (b) and yellow jacket (w) venom with a monoclonal human IgE antibody specific for Api m 5 (mIgE) (A). SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis of purified Api m 5 (b) and Ves v 3 (w) expressed in Sf9 insect cells, visualized by either Coomassie Blue staining or anti-V5 epitope antibody, pooled HBV or YJV allergic patient sera and monoclonal human anti-Api m 5 IgE antibody (B). Immunoreactivity of individual sera HBV allergic patients (1-3) and a control serum of a nonallergic individual (4) with recombinant and native Api m 5 in ELISA. Api m 5 was expressed in HighFive insect cells (C).

Employing prokaryotically expressed Api m 5 fusion protein a recombinant human IgE antibody was generated and produced in mammalian cells. This Api m 5-specific monoclonal IgE showed reactivity with insect cell-derived recombinant proteins Api m 5 and Ves v 3 (Fig. 15B). Moreover, the corresponding natural form of Api m 5 and Ves v 3 was detected in the venoms of *A. mellifera* and *V. vulgaris* (Fig. 15A). Furthermore, as shown in Fig. 15C, comparable IgE binding to purified native Api m 5 and recombinant Api m 5 produced in insect cells was verified via ELISA employing three exemplary sera of honey bee venom-sensitized patients that were selected by sIgE immunoreactivity with Api m 5 in immunoblots. Together, these data verified the identity of the recombinantly produced allergen with the IgE immunoreactive 100 kDa allergens in the native venom.

3.2.2.4 Enzymatic activity of recombinant Api m 5

Its sequence renders Api m 5 a putative homologue of DPPIV from humans and other species. Using glycine-proline nitroanilide, a synthetic substrate of human DPPIV, specific DPPIV activity could be detected in the venom of *A. mellifera* (Fig. 16A). Moreover, this activity could be abolished by Diprotin A, a highly specific inhibitor of human DPPIV. Purified recombinant Api m 5 proved to exhibit significant DPPIV activity, demonstrating its DPPIV nature and, thereby, correct folding of the insect cell produced protein (Fig. 16B).



Fig. 16: Kinetic analyses of DPPIV activity. Inhibition of DPPIV activity by the inhibitor Diprotin A (IIe-Pro-IIe) of *A. mellifera* venom and purified rApi m 5 (B) and was analyzed as described in *Materials and Methods*. The Y axis shows the residual activity (%) of cleavage of the chromogenic substrate Gly-Pro p-nitroanilide hydrochloride for serial dilutions of the specific DPPIV inhibitor Diprotin A (log μ M). IC₅₀ values are depicted on each plot.

The inhibition constants of Diprotin A for the DPPIV activity in the venom and of the recombinant Api m 5 matched the reported activity of the human enzyme very closely, suggesting mechanistical conservation. Together these data suggest that the DPPIV-like activity contributes to the diverse panel of enzymatic activities exhibited by hymenoptera venoms and that this activity relies on Api m 5 and its homologues.

3.2.2.5 IgE immunoreactivity of recombinant Api m 5

To evaluate the IgE immunoreactivity of Api m 5 produced in Sf9 insect cells, individual sera of patients with a clinical history of an allergic reaction after a stinging event were assayed by ELISA for specific IgE antibodies. Fig. 17 shows the reactivity of patients who were characterized by a positive sIgE test to honeybee venom. Of the 35 honeybee venom-positive sera, 9 showed high sIgE reactivity ($OD_{450nm} \ge 1.0$), whereas additional 12 sera showed a positive sIgE reactivity to a medium to lower degree ($OD_{450nm} \ge 0.4 < 1.0$). Overall, 21/35 (60%) patient sera had detectable sIgE to recombinant Api m 5 (Fig. 17).



Fig. 17: Immunoreactivity of individual patient sera with recombinant Api m 5. The IgE reactivity was assessed by ELISA as described in *Materials and Methods* with sera of honeybee venom-sensitized patients (n=35). Controls were performed by omission of antigen. The lower end functional cut-off of the ELISA is represented by a dashed line.

In order to verify the obtained reactivity eukaryotically produced, posttranslationally modified, and enzymatically active Api m 5 was further compared with prokaryotically produced Api m 5 maltose binding protein (MBP) fusion protein in ELISA (Fig. 18). The fact that most reactive sera were also reactive with the prokaryotically produced counterpart corroborates the IgE reactivity of the insect cell produced protein and further supports the conclusion, that the recombinant high molecular weight protein exhibits IgE reactivity beyond CCD reactivity.



Fig. 18: Comparative analyses of the immunoreactivity of prokaryotically versus eukaryotically produced Api m 5. Immunoreactivity of individual patient sera with recombinant Api m 5 and recombinant Api m 5-MBP was assessed by ELISA as described in *Materials and Methods* using sera of honeybee venom-sensitized patients (exemplary n=10) found reactive in Fig. 17. Controls were performed by omission of antigen. The lower end functional cut-off of the ELISA is represented by a dashed line.

An initial analysis of cross-reactivity between Api m 5 and the homologous Ves v 3 from YJV using the sera from Fig. 17 showed 8/21 (38%) of the Api m 5-reactive sera to be cross-reactive with Ves v 3 (data not shown). To further substantiate the finding of serologic cross-reactivity of the DPPIV allergens in honeybee and vespid venom, another group of patients with clinically relevant allergy to yellow jacket venom (n=14) and a positive sIgE reactivity to Ves v 3 (n=11) was selected. The remainder of the patients had a negative sIgE reactivity to Ves v 3 (n=3). All sera were subsequently tested in parallel for serologic sIgE reactivity to Ves v 3 and Api m 5 (Fig. 19). Of the 11 Ves v 3-positive patient sera, 6/11 (54.5%) showed a medium to high sIgE reactivity with Api m 5 (OD \geq 0.15), whereas 2/11 sera were Api m 5-negative and 3/11 sera showed a very low degree of positivity slightly above the lower end cut-off of the assay (cut-off value of 0.1). None of the 3 Ves v 3-negative sera showed sIgE reactivity with Api m 5.



Fig. 19: IgE-based cross-immunoreactivity of Api m 5 and Ves v 3. IgE immunoreactivity of individual sera from patients with clinically relevant allergy to yellow jacket venom (n=14) and a positive (n=11; patient ID *1-11*) or negative (n=3; patient ID *12-14*) sIgE reactivity to Ves v 3 with recombinant Api m 5. All sera were tested in parallel for serologic sIgE reactivity to rVes v 3 and rApi m 5 expressed in Sf9 cells. The IgE reactivity was assessed by ELISA as described. The lower end cut-off of the ELISA is represented by a dashed line.

3.2.2.6 Activation of basophils from venom-allergic patients by Api m 5

The capability of Api m 5 as well as Ves v 3 produced in Sf9 cells for activation of human basophils, derived from a yellow jacket venom-allergic patient with a clinical history of an anaphylactic reaction after a stinging event (\geq grade 2), was assessed by a flow cytometry-based basophil activation test employing CD63 as activation marker. This patient also had a positive intradermal skin test and sIgE

test for YJV and HBV extract. In order to ensure a maximum of validity of the basophil activation test a broad concentration range was covered and the extent of basophil activation was related to that of known major allergens.

Basophil activation was analyzed using a panel of recombinant V. vulgaris allergens (Ves v 1, Ves v 2, Ves v 3, Ves v 5) together with the honeybee venom allergen Api m 5. As shown in Fig. 20A, both Ves v 3 and Api m 5 lead to a robust basophil activation of up to 42% and 65%, respectively, within the uniformly tested allergen concentration range (up to 2 µg/ml Ves v 3/Api m 5). This patient also had a strong basophil activation with Ves v 5. Such a concordant basophil activation by Api m 5 and Ves v 3 was only evident in the higher concentration range, whereas the capability for basophil activation by Api m 5 in the lower concentration range was clearly less pronounced as compared to Ves v 3. This most likely reflects primary sensitization to high molecular weight DPPIV allergens through yellow jacket venom Ves v 3 in this patient. The use of whole A. mellifera and V. vulgaris venom revealed clear-cut basophil activation only with vespid venom (Fig. 20B). Together, these data suggest that the high molecular weight venom allergens Api m 5 and Ves v 3 are not only able to induce effector cell activation in venom allergic patients, but are also likely candidates for clinical cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy.



Fig. 20: Basophil activation tests with recombinant Api m 5 and Ves v 3. Human basophils from a YJV-sensitized patient were exposed to serial dilutions of rApi m 5, rVes v 3 (A), other *V. vulgaris* allergens (rVes v 1, rVes v 2, rVes v 5) (A) or whole venom (B) of *A. mellifera* or *V. vulgaris*. Incubations with a monoclonal anti-FccRI or with plain stimulation buffer were used as positive or negative stimulation controls (A, B). Activation was assessed by flow cytometric analysis using anti-CD63 and anti-human IgE antibodies as described in the *Methods* section and is shown as percentage of CD63-positive cells. The dashed line represents the lower end functional cut-off of the assay (15% CD63+ cells).

3.2.2.7 DPPIV enzymes as important allergens of Hymenoptera venoms

In this work, the 100 kDa high molecular weight allergen in the venom of *A. mellifera* was identified. Using advanced sequencing strategies to overcome quantity limitations, detrimental abundance of the major component in honeybee venom, the cytolytic peptide melittin (55% of dry venom mass), and potential N-terminal modifications sequence information of enriched Api m 5 was obtained, allowing an assignment to a predicted open reading frame on the basis of available genomic sequence information. Finally, the full length cDNA providing an alternative N-terminal exon could successfully be amplified from venom gland cDNA. The cDNA of another honeybee venom protein of 94 kDa recently proposed to correspond to allergen C²¹⁵ could not be amplified from venom gland cDNA. Moreover, Api m 5 is reported to exhibit an apparent molecular weight ranging between 102 kDa²¹¹ and 105 kDa⁹⁵. The dipeptidylpeptidase IV (Ves v 3) from YJV corresponds to Api m 5 regarding molecular weight, amino acid sequence, enzymatic function, IgE immunoreactivity, and functional allergenic capability using basophils from venom-allergic patients.

Insect cells appeared to be the most appropriate system for expression of the putative Api m 5. In contrast to mammalian systems insect cells most likely will provide a similar glycosylation as found in the natural isoforms, a fact which is supported by the apparent molecular mass of the expressed recombinant allergen²¹⁶. The identity of the expressed open reading frame with the venom protein was further proven by a recombinant human monoclonal IgE antibody specific for Api m 5 selected by phage display²¹⁷. This monoclonal anti-Api m 5 IgE antibody reacted to a similar extent with the natural venom isoforms and the insect cell-expressed isoforms of Api m 5 and Ves v 3, suggesting the presence of a conserved protein epitope in Ves v 3 and Api m 5. Such an epitope hints to the possible occurrence of cross-reactive protein epitope-specific IgE also in venom-allergic patients. Indeed, the immunoreactivity of recombinant Api m 5 in immunoblot and ELISA analyses with IgE from >50% of honeybee venom-sensitized patients demonstrated the general presence of human IgE epitopes on Api m 5.

Furthermore this work supports relevance of Api m 5 in venom allergy beyond CCD reactivity by the fact that Sf9 insect cells were employed for production of the enzymatically active recombinant protein. Sf9 cells are considered to exhibit significantly reduced α -1,3-core fucosyltransferase activity^{218,219} resulting in proteins

without or with only minute amounts of CCDs. Using the Sf9 produced allergen, more than 50% of not preselected honeybee venom sIgE-positive sera were reactive with recombinant Api m 5, thus rendering it an allergen containing proteinic IgE epitopes with clinical relevance. Additional evidence in this direction is derived from the fact that even prokaryotically expressed Api m 5 devoid of both glycosylation and, most likely, proper folding exhibited significant IgE reactivity with most patient sera found reactive with the eukaryotically produced Api m 5. This also fits into the context of the basophil activation, in which only clinically relevant IgE reactivies (not including IgE directed against CCDs) are documented. Both findings support the conclusion that the recombinant high molecular weight protein exhibits a clear IgE reactivity beyond CCD reactivity.

As mentioned, best evidence that high molecular weight hymenoptera venom allergens are of clinical relevance in venom allergy was provided by activation of human patient-derived basophils through recombinant Api m 5 and Ves v 3. The basophil activation pattern closely matched the serologic sIgE reactivity of the patient. Thereby, upon consideration of the high molecular weight of Api m 5 and Ves v 3 the concentrations (and, thus, molarities) required for efficient activation of basophils are in the range employed throughout a plethora of studies regarding allergenic potential of proteins from different sources including venom, pollen, food or animal²²⁰⁻²²².

Moreover, these data provide for the first time evidence for both serologic and cellular sIgE cross-reactivity between Api m 5 and Ves v 3 in hymenoptera venom allergy. So far, double-positivity in venom allergic patients had been largely attributed to IgE directed against either hyaluronidases (Api m 2, Ves v 2) or against CCDs^{143,223}. With the identification, characterization, and recombinant expression of Api m 5 and Ves v 3, a new pair of cross-reactive homologous allergens becomes available for future clinical applications in diagnosis and therapy.

Sequence analysis and characterization of the enzymatic activities provide clear evidence that both enzymes belong to the class of DPPIV enzymes. In general, proline-specific dipeptidyl peptidases (DPPs) are emerging as a protease family with important implications for the regulation of signalling by peptide hormones. Human DPPIV is a membrane-anchored 110-kDa serine protease expressed on various cell types²²⁴⁻²²⁶. The extracellular domain of DPPIV encodes an ectopeptidase and is able to cleave amino-terminal dipeptides from polypeptides

with either proline or alanine at the penultimate position^{227,228}. Therefore, DPPIV shows a variety of functions including regulation of inflammatory and immunological responses, signal transduction, and apoptosis by degrading physiological substances such as chorionic gonadotropin and substance P, TNF-a, IL-2, and various chemokines including CCL5 (RANTES)^{226,229,230}. Originally characterized as a T-cell differentiation antigen (CD26) human DPPIV plays a role in tumor progression such as cell adhesion, invasion, and cell cycle arrest²³¹⁻²³⁴. Interestingly, soluble DPPIV activity is found in human serum and supposed to exert similar effects²³⁵.

DPPIV activity has also been reported in snake venoms of different species²³⁶ and a corresponding cDNA of a snake DPPIV has been cloned. However, the presence of DPPIV in hymenoptera venoms has remained obscure. A single report of DPPIV activity suggested the presence of the enzyme in venom gland extracts of queen bees²³⁷, nevertheless, neither in *A. mellifera* nor *V. vulgaris* venom such an activity has been reported. Insect venom DPPIV may function through the conversion of venom components into their active forms in the venom gland on the one hand and the enhancement or decrease of the chemotactic activity of immune cells after the insect sting on the other hand. The former may be confirmed by the hypothesis that promelittin is processed into its active form in a stepwise manner by enzymes of the DPPIV type in vitro²³⁷. Given a relative protein content of 1% Api m 5 in native honeybee venom and an amount of 50-140 µg protein delivered per honeybee sting⁶³, 0.5-1.5 µg of DPPIV are injected into the skin per stinging event. However, further studies will be necessary to prove whether the amounts of enzyme injected are actually sufficient to modulate local immune responses in humans.

The characterization of DPPIV homologues may provide further insights into potential immunomodulatory functions of different hymenoptera venoms. Additionally, the results of this work demonstrate for the first time the clinical relevance of Api m 5 as high molecular weight allergen in IgE-mediated hymenoptera venom allergy. The recombinant Api m 5 will represent a valuable tool for the improvement of current diagnostic tests and immunotherapy of insect venom allergy.

4. Summary and discussion

Allergic reactions to Hymenoptera stings are one of the major causes of IgEmediated anaphylaxis. According to epidemiologic studies in Europe, the United States and Australia, between 1 and 4% of an unselected adult population report systemic reactions to stings by honeybees or vespids^{70,238}. Since the introduction of Hymenoptera venoms instead of the previously used whole body extracts in the diagnosis and treatment of this allergy in the late 1970s^{187,239,240}, allergy to stinging insects is often considered as a model for allergic disease and for immunotherapy of IgE-mediated allergy²⁴¹. However, the specificity of the main diagnostic tests, skin tests and venom-specific IgE antibodies, is far from perfect and both efficacy and tolerance, especially in patients receiving honeybee venom (HBV) immunotherapy, are still suboptimal¹³⁸. Up to 20% of individuals with no history of systemic sting reactions have positive tests. On the other hand, only 30-50% of those with positive tests will react to a subsequent sting by the respective insect¹³⁴. According to a sting provocation test during venom immunotherapy the complete protection rate is around 95% for patients allergic to vespid stings but only 80-90% for those allergic to honeybee venom^{134,193}. Systemic allergic side-effects to immunotherapy injections may occur in 20-40% of patients during immunotherapy with honeybee venom and in 5-10% during immunotherapy with vespid venoms¹⁹³.

Thus, there is considerable interest of improving both diagnosis and treatment of Hymenoptera venom allergy. Aim of this work was the establishment and evaluation of recombinant technologies contributing to this objective. The first important topic that needs to be addressed for the rational design of recombinant allergenbased diagnostic tests and therapeutics is the selection of the important allergens. Selection criteria may include the frequency of sensitization, the clinical relevance and the extent of IgE response. Since decades the high abundance compounds of honeybee and yellow jacket venom (YJV) are considered as allergens, mostly based on their IgE reactivity only. In contrast, little is known about lower abundance compounds regarding their relevance for sensitization and allergic potential.

4.1 Recombinant expression of Hymenoptera venom allergens

Prior to the development of optimized diagnosis and therapy the true clinical relevance of an individual allergen has to be determined. Recombinant allergens are clearly superior to highly purified natural preparations since it was coherently shown by inhibition studies that even highly purified allergens contain trace amounts of other venom allergens¹³⁸, interfering in diagnostic assays^{242,243}.

The clinical studies performed with recombinant wild-type allergens (*Phleum pratense*; Bet v 1)^{244,245} and genetically modified hypoallergenic allergen variants $(Bet v 1)^{246}$ to date indicate that these molecules can be used for immunotherapy for allergen sources containing one predominant allergen as well as for complex allergen sources, provided that all relevant allergens have been identified and included in the vaccine.

Our data show that protein expression still is a very empirical process. Interestingly, in the case of Carbohydrate-rich protein our findings for aglycosylated protein matched those of the glycosylated protein, but, in stark contrast, the high molecular weight proteins Api m 5 and Ves v 3 which could also be expressed as soluble fusion proteins in *E. coli* showed no enzymatic activity and decreased IgE reactivity when compared to insect cell produced protein.

Hence, for every new allergen it should be determined which expression system is the best choice with regard to the need for and character of posttranslational modifications. Since most of the IgE binding epitopes are considered conformational, recombinant allergens expressed in eukaryotic systems such as yeast or insect cells should preferably be used for diagnostic approaches²⁴⁷.

However, to date even the recombinant availability of well established major allergens of honeybee and vespid venom is still limited. The mayor honeybee venom allergen phospholipase A2 (Api m 1) was expressed in *E. coli* and biologic properties found to be comparable to that of natural purified Api m 1^{199,248}. The enzymatic activity of purified and refolded recombinant Api m 1 was similar to that of natural purified Api m 1. For antigen 5 (Ves v 5) from vespid venom it was shown that folding of the bacterial preparation was incorrect and IgE binding avoided²⁴⁹. After application of refolding procedures it was possible to obtain Ves v 5 from *E. coli* with an IgE reactivity similar to that of the natural purified allergen²⁵⁰. Identically, recombinant bee venom hyaluronidase (Api m 2), a 45 kDa enzyme, was first expressed in *E. coli*²⁰². The enzymatic activity of this preparation was, however, clearly inferior and accounted for only 30% of that of natural purified allergen. Likewise, the IgE binding capacity was strongly reduced compared to natural Api m 2. In contrast, use of the Baculovirus-based expression system resulted in a preparation with an enzymatic activity and IgE binding capacity similar to that of natural Api m 2²⁰², as found by us in the case of Api m 5 and Ves v 3. These observations indicate that in individual allergens post-translational modifications may be essential for the correct three-dimensional conformation of the molecule, its biologic activity and the correct conformation of its B cell epitopes. The crystal structures of Api m 1, Api m 2 and synthetic Api m 4 and Ves v 5 have been elucidated^{203,204,251,252}. Phospholipase A1 (Ves v 1) and hyaluronidase (Ves v 2a) from vespid venom have so far only been expressed in prokaryotic systems¹⁰⁴.

In this work we have generated a panel of the most prominent honeybee and yellow jacket venom allergens, produced in baculovirus-infected insect cells as well in *E. coli*, including Api m 2, Ves v 2a, Ves v 2b (Seismann, Blank *et al.*, 2009, in press), Api m 1, Api m 3, Api m 6 and Api m 7. Additionally, we were able to identify and recombinantly express carboxylesterase (Api m 8) and carboxy-peptidase (Api m 9) as well as other novel proteins from honeybee and yellow jacket venom, the relevance of which has to be further investigated (see Table 2 for an overview of the actual state of recombinant allergens produced by us; unpublished data). The insect cell-based expression of this entire set of hymenoptera venom allergens will for the first time allow for development of comprehensive component-resolved diagnostic approaches as well as safer and more efficacious treatment modalities.

Especially for the preparation of defined hypoallergenic allergen derivatives, the recombinant availability of allergens is imperative and offers considerable advantage over the traditional chemical modifications. The concept of allergen modification postulates that allergens can be modified in a way to reduce or even destroy IgE binding B cell epitopes, which are responsible for allergic side-effects, while linear T cell epitopes mediating protective immunity are preserved. Different ways of allergen modifications for venom immunotherapy have been proposed. While the results of chemical modifications of allergen extracts were not entirely convincing²⁵³, recent studies with T cell epitope peptides from the major bee venom allergen phospholipase A2 (Api m 1) look promising²⁵⁴.

Allergen	Common name	Insect cell expression	E. coli expression	Antibody
Api m 1	Phospholipase A2	+	+	+
Api m 2	Hyaluronidase	+	+	+
Api m 3	Acid phosphatase	+	+	+
Api m 5	Dipeptidylpeptidase IV	+	+	+
Api m 6	putative protease inhibitor	+	+	
Api m 7	CUB-serine protease	+		
Api m 8	Carboxylesterase	+	+	
Api m 9	Carboxypeptidase	+	+	
Api m 10	Carbohydrate-rich protein	+	+	+
Ves v 1	Phospholipase A1B	+	+	
Ves v 2a	Hyaluronidase	+	+	+
Ves v 2b	Hyaluronidase	+		+
Ves v 3	Dipeptidylpeptidase IV	+	+	+
Ves v 4	CUB-serine protease	+	+	+

Table 2: Overview of recombinantly expressed Hymenoptera venom allergens and allergenspecific antibodies

The availability of recombinant allergens has to be considered an improvement in this field because genetic information is the basis for a rational design of hypoallergenic variants. Conformational epitopes have been shown to be strongly reduced in unfolded recombinant allergens^{248,250} and can also be destroyed by point mutations in B cell epitopes²⁵⁵. Such preparations, in which all relevant T cell epitopes of the allergen are preserved since they are linear, will have a strongly reduced IgE reactivity, and will, therefore, induce far less mediator release, and will be better tolerated. T cell epitope peptides could also be expressed as recombinant fragments and used for immunotherapy²⁵⁶. Nevertheless, such studies also showed that T cell peptides from all allergens to which the patient is sensitized seems to be required in order to achieve complete protection by peptide immunotherapy.

Yet another experimental strategy for immunotherapy is DNA vaccination, consisting of the injection of DNA plasmids encoding the relevant allergens. In contrast to environmental allergen exposure and to classical immunotherapy, this kind of vaccination induces T_H1 responses²⁵⁷. Many Hymenoptera venom-allergic patients are sensitized to several different venom allergens, thus treatment with one major allergen in recombinant form may be insufficient. One elegant solution for this has recently been presented by the production of a chimeric protein consisting of two fragments each of Api m 1, Api m 2 and Api m 4. The fragments were designed in a way to preserve all relevant T cell epitopes while conformational B cell epitopes were destroyed. The molecule induced strong proliferation in lymphocyte cultures from bee venom-allergic patients, but did not react with specific IgE, nor did it induce mediator release from blood basophils²⁵⁸.

4.2 Identification of Hymenoptera venom allergens

In order to contribute to a more detailed knowledge of the composition of Hymenoptera venoms and of the allergic potential of each component in this work the identification and molecular cloning of the high molecular weight allergen Api m 5 is reported. The expression of the genes of Api m 5 and its homologue from yellow jacket venom in insect cells, and the biochemical and immunological characterization of the purified recombinant molecules is demonstrated. Api m 5 or allergen C is a 100 kDa protein of Apis mellifera venom with pronounced IgE reactivity. Since decades Api m 5 was supposed a major allergen⁹⁵, but, although present in substantial concentrations, identity and function of this allergen defied elucidation. We employed MS-MS-based strategies for the identification of Api m 5 and used the obtained sequence information to scan the published honeybee genome²⁵⁹. The cDNA of Api m 5 could be amplified from honeybee venom glands. Since venoms of both A. mellifera and V. vulgaris contain a prominent 100 kDa band detected by slgE of sera of sensitized patients we aimed for identification of the Api m 5 homologue in V. ssp.. Based on sequence information of Api m 5 we were then able to identify and clone the homologous protein from Vespula vulgaris venom, Ves v 3, as new allergen applying homology- and RACE-based approaches. Subsequently, both proteins were expressed in insect cells and the purified proteins further biochemically and immunologically characterized.

Sequence analysis and characterization of the enzymatic activities provided clear evidence that Api m 5 and Ves v 3 belong to the class of dipeptidylpeptidase IV (DPPIV) enzymes, a protease family with important implications for the regulation of signaling by peptide hormones. Identity to human DPPIV (CD26) is in the range of 32%. The accordant enzymatic activity and molecular weight of recombinant Api m 5 and Ves v 3 expressed in insect cells further hinted for correct folding and proper posttranslational modifications. The presence of DPPIV enzymes in Hymenoptera venoms may shed light on molecular mechanisms of insect venom

allergy and potential physiological and pathophysiological implications. Insect venom DPPIV may function through the conversion of venom components into their active forms in the venom gland on the one hand and the enhancement or decrease of the chemotactic activity of immune cells after insect sting on the other hand. The former may be confirmed by the hypothesis that promelittin is processed into its active form in a stepwise manner by enzymes of the DPPIV type *in vitro*²⁶⁰. Further studies will be necessary whether the amounts of enzyme injected are actually sufficient to modulate local immune responses in humans.

Moreover, analysis of recombinant allergens revealed a pronounced reactivity with a majority of sera of hymenoptera venom-sensitized patients. Using the allergens expressed in Sf9 insect cells more than 50% of not preselected honeybee or yellow jacket venom sIgE-positive sera were reactive with recombinant Api m 5 or Ves v 3, respectively, thus rendering both 100 kDa proteins major allergens containing proteinic IgE epitopes with clinical relevance. Moreover, an initial analysis revealed serologic cross-reactivity between the DPPIV allergens Api m 5 and Ves v 3, which show an identity of 53% on protein level. The capability of recombinant Ves v 3 and Api m 5 for activation of human basophils derived from yellow jacket venom allergic patients with history of an anaphylactic reaction after a stinging event was shown employing CD63 as activation marker in flow cytometry, underlining the clinical relevance of these two new allergens. Each patient with a positive sIgE against Ves v 3 in serum also demonstrated positive basophil activation through this allergen and also by Api m 5, although less pronounced, most likely reflecting primary sensitization to vespid venom.

With Api m 5 and Ves v 3, a new pair of cross-reactive homologous allergens has become available for future clinical applications in diagnosis and therapy which may also contribute to the understanding of the molecular mechanisms of insect venoms. Moreover, the pronounced patient IgE reactivity demonstrated for the first time the relevance of high molecular weight allergens in the context of hymenoptera venom allergy. These findings provide a novel view on the molecular patterns of allergic IgE sensitization in venom allergy which requires reconsideration of current and future concepts for component-resolved diagnosis and specific immunotherapy of hymenoptera venom allergy. "Component-resolved diagnosis" (CRD) is the concept of using separate allergens to determine the patients sensitization profile. Originally aimed for providing the basis for patient-tailored forms of immunotherapy²⁶¹, this approach was found to have several other advantages related to the diagnostic test requirements (little amounts of serum in protein microarrays), performances (sensitivity, specifivity), standardization (concentration, structural integrity, batch-to-batch variation), and interpretation (risk likelihood and severity of allergic reactions)²⁶². However, further progress leading to such an approach lies in the completion of the repertoire of recombinant allergens. The development of an artificial recombinant Hymenoptera venom preparation for clinical practice is essentially based on an in depth knowledge of the allergic components that exist in natural venom in order to refine the composition of the recombinant cocktail.

Nevertheless, Hymenoptera venoms comprise a more complex cocktail of a variety of components all of which may contribute to sensitization, allergic outcome and success of venom immunotherapy. Nowadays it is also remarkable that the biological function of some of the newly discovered low abundant venom constituents do not correspond necessarily with the principal function of venom as defense weapon, as for instance for DPPIV that has possibly no function once injected into the victim. It increasingly becomes clear, primarily by proteomic approaches, that there are various "venom trace elements" present, occurring in comparably low quantities and may have only a local function in the venom duct or reservoir or which are normal cell components, released by leakage from the gland tissue. Nevertheless, the case of Api m 5 and Ves v 3 demonstrated inter alia in cellular assays that such components might be immunologically highly relevant.

4.3 Characterization and Evaluation of Hymenoptera venom allergens

In this work Carbohydrate-rich protein, a recently identified *A. mellifera* venom component initially described as allergen, was comparatively assessed, with special focus on the relevance of glycosylation and cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants in order to identify new venom components with allergic potential. Evaluation of the allergological relevance of venom proteins is mainly based on the reactivity with IgE of venom-sensitized individuals rendering low abundance components difficult to address. A recombinant approach can facilitate the assessment of such proteins but should meet the requirements of proper folding, if

possible enzymatic activity, and correct posttranslational modifications all of which are potentially important for establishment of conformational epitopes²⁰². In particular carbohydrates can contribute significantly to biochemical and structural characteristics of venom proteins.

Carbohydrate-rich protein was identified by two independent groups in 2005^{206,207} and insoluble protein obtained by recombinant production in E. coli exhibited IgE reactivity in 4 out of 5 sera of beekeepers with HBV allergy¹⁰⁰. We describe the comparative production of Carbohydrate-rich protein in soluble, non-glycosylated form in E. coli and as fully glycosylated protein in different baculovirus-infected insect cell lines providing a varying degree of a-1,3-core fucosylation, the hallmark of cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (CCDs). Applying the differently glycosylated recombinant molecules we were able to show that the authentically and the non-glycosylated protein reacted with IgE antibodies of approximately 50% of honeybee-venom sensitized individuals. Beyond CCD reactivity glycosylation appears to have only a minor impact on the IgE reactivity. This might hint for at least the presence of epitopes that are not affected by structural rearrangements due to glycosylation. Moreover, we showed a lack of reactivity with sera of YJV-sensitized patients suggesting the absence of a highly homologous, crossreactive structure in vespid venom. This would render Carbohydrate-rich protein a novel surrogate marker for HBV-sensitization. Together our results suggest an important role as sensitizing component in HBV beyond its carbohydrate-based cross-reactivity for the low abundance component Carbohydrate-rich protein.

4.4 Evaluation of diagnostic concepts for Hymenoptera venom allergy

Diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy is not only hampered on the level of component-resolution. Although an increasing availability of recombinant allergens will improve the dissection of individual IgE reactivities on this level, allergenic cross-reactivity, a major handicap for accurate diagnosis in venom allergy, remains to be solved. Generally, physicians have to rely on quantification of specific IgE antibodies and skin tests to diagnose venom allergy. Unfortunately, these tests lack sensitivity and specificity, making the diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy not always easy²⁶³. Indeed, up to 50% of diagnostic test results suggest double-positivity to both bee and vespid venoms. This can be explained by either true double sensitization if the patient was stung by both insects, or cross-

reactivity of allergens of the two venoms, particularly between the carbohydrate epitopes they share¹⁴². In contrast, the small portion of patients showing adverse reactions to both venoms implies cross-reactions due to cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants (CCDs), as reported for 75% of double-positive patients²⁰⁵, and a limited clinical relevance of glycans epitopes. As the patient cannot always provide the entomologic identification of the culprit insect, it sometimes remains obscure which life-saving VIT should be initiated. Promising *in vitro* test methods based on the venom-specific stimulation of basophils are increasingly introduced, and pushed the sensitivity and specificity of the diagnostic tools^{264,265}. However, serologic as well as effector cell-based diagnosis of venom allergy is currently performed with whole venom preparations, containing other non-allergenic components in addition to allergens. At the best, current diagnosis of bee or yellow jacket venom allergy only permits the identification of a given allergen source, but not the molecular entities involved in the adverse immunological reactions.

As general strategy to address allergenic cross-reactivity in the study "Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by circumvention of alpha-**1,3-core fucosylation**" (Seismann, Blank *et al.*, 2009, Mol Immunol, in press) we used a recombinant approach by employing cell lines with variant capacities of α -1,3-core fucosylation, the hallmark of CCDs, in order to establish and evaluate novel strategies providing properly folded recombinant allergens for an improved diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy. The venom hyaluronidases, supposed major allergens implicated in cross-reactivity phenomena, from honeybee (Api m 2) and yellow jacket (Ves v 2a and its putative isoforms Ves v 2b) venom as well as the human α -2HS-glycoprotein as control, all of them containing at least two glycosylation sites, were produced in different insect cell lines. We were able to show, that in stark contrast to production in Trichoplusia ni cells, α-1,3-core fucosylation was absent or immunologically negligible after production in Spodoptera frugiperda cells. Moreover, overexpression of the A. mellifera α -1,3core fucosyltransferase in S. frugiperda cells led to restoration of the fucosedependent epitope, demonstrating that CCD reactivity is exclusively dependent on α -1,3-core fucosylation and that the glycans added by S. frugiperda cells differ from those added by *T. ni* cells primarily with respect to α-1,3-core fucosylation. Proper folding of enzymes expressed in both cell lines could be demonstrated by measurement of hyaluronidase activity of Api m 2 and Ves v 2a. Re-evaluation of
the differently fucosylated, properly folded hyaluronidases by screening of individual venom-sensitized sera emphasized the allergenic relevance of Api m 2 beyond its carbohydrate epitopes. In contrast, the vespid hyaluronidases, for which a predominance of Ves v 2b in the venom could be demonstrated for the first time by the use of specific antisera, exhibited pronounced and primary carbohydrate reactivity rendering their relevance in the context of allergy questionable. Together, these data clearly suggest that the recombinant production in *S. frugiperda* vs. *T. ni* cells provides a novel concept for the reliable analysis of protein vs. CCD reactivities. Recombinant allergens with tailor-made CCD reactivity may enable differentiation of true sensitization with clinical impact from mere CCD-based cross-reactivity. Such strategies should therefore have an impact on the identification of clinically relevant allergens, proper allergy diagnosis and design of adequate intervention strategies.

In summary, these data show that the use of defined recombinant major allergens provides a significant improvement for the identification of the culprit venom which is indispensable for the choice of the appropriate immunotherapeutic strategy.

The application of recombinant DNA technology to allergen characterization has revealed the molecular nature of many important allergens and has advanced the characterization of their immunological and structural features²⁶⁶. On the basis of this work, it will become possible to modify important allergens in ways simultaneously reducing allergenic activity and preserving relevant T cell epitopes and structures that are necessary for the induction of antibody responses²⁶⁷. Finally, recombinant allergens provide increased specificity for diagnostic testing²⁴⁷ in both skin testing²⁴⁸ and in determining venom-specific IgE antibodies²⁴² as well as a good performance in cellular assays²⁶⁸ when compared to natural venom allergens. By the use of all relevant recombinant venom allergens, specificity of up to 100% should be possible enabling replacement of natural extracts for *in vitro* and *in vivo* diagnosis by such a recombinant cocktail in the future²⁴⁷.

4.5 Generation of recombinant allergen-specific antibody formats

Imperative for an improvement of diagnostic and theraupeutic approaches as well as for the understanding of the molecular mechanisms of allergic reactions and immunotherapy are not only defined recombinant allergen molecules, the counterpart to the environmental allergen as elicitor of the allergic reaction are the individual's allergen specific antibodies.

Allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies play pivotal roles in the induction and progression of allergic hypersensitivity reactions. Consequently, monoclonal human IgE and IgG4 antibodies with defined specificity for allergens will be useful in allergy research and diagnostic tests. As mentioned, reliable determination of allergen-specific serum IgE or IgG4 antibodies is limited by the fact that human IgE antibody pools are not standardized and cannot be reproducibly prepared. Standardization will likely become more important with the use of recombinant allergens for advanced diagnostic interventions. Due to the scarcity of IgE producing cells approaches of generating human allergen-specific IgE secreting hybridomas from immunized donors have not been successful²⁶⁹. The unavailability of monoclonal IgG and IgE antibodies has thus far prohibited detailed analyses of their characteristics in pathophysiology as well as their molecular interplay.

In the study "Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries" (Braren *et al.*, Clinical Chemistry 53:837-844, 2007) we established the generation of reproducible allergen-specific antibodies for the most relevant isotypes for allergy diagnosis and research to overcome such limitations. As a model system we generated fully human IgE, IgG4, and IgG1 antibodies with defined specificity for 3 different allergens (Api m 1 from honeybee venom, Bos d 5 from bovine milk, and Mal d 1 from apple) and assessed their biochemical properties by different immunological assays. The combinatorial selection of a human synthetic antibody library yielded antibody fragments with specificity for these allergens, which were then converted by recombinant antibody technology into different formats of fully human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE, IgG1 and IgG4 antibodies. Expression of homodimeric or heterotetrameric recombinant antibodies was performed in HEK293 cells as a human system. The immunoreactivity of these antibodies in direct ELISA when added to nonallergic human serum and their reactivity in commercial immunoblots

demonstrated their potential use in different types of immunological and allergy diagnostic methods. The analyses of IgE binding to recombinant high-affinity receptor FccRI also demonstrated compatibility of the recombinant proteins with cellular assay systems and effector functions. Moreover, allergen binding to FccRI could be blocked by IgG antibodies of the same specificity, a situation thought to mimic the situation after affinity maturation of IgG antibodies in patients undergoing SIT. In summary, this study demonstrated that synthetic libraries of human origin can quickly provide reactive antibody fragments against broad panels of available allergens which can easily converted into different monoclonal antibody formats of various isotype, capable of forming functional allergen/IgE/IgE-receptorcomplexes. Such reagents should have broad application in allergological research and diagnosis. The use of such reliable and precise reagents may help to aid in the standardization of allergen-specific diagnostic immunoassays and to minimize interassay variance. In addition, such defined antibodies are attractive tools for basic and applied research to evaluate the complex molecular interplay of allergens, different allergen-specific antibodies and Fc receptors to better understand modulation of the allergic reaction. But also therapeutic applications like passive or adjuvant immunotherapy are thinkable²⁷⁰.

Such defined monoclonal regents were further refined for their application in a broad range of immunological assays in the study "**Recombinant IgY for improvement of immunoglobulin-based analytical applications**" (Greunke, Braren *et al.*, Clinical Biochemistry 41:1237-1244, 2008). The aim of this study was to provide superior tools for diagnostic approaches preventing assay interference and background binding by the use of monoclonal IgY antibodies which have been unavailable so far. IgY are the major low molecular weight serum immunoglobulins in oviparous animals²⁷¹ and, thus, phylogenetically distant from mammalian immunoglobulins. Interference in immunoassays is increasingly recognized as a major diagnostic problem^{272,273}. Mammalian antibodies can affect immunoassays by cross-reactivity and non-specific binding. Furthermore, antigen-independent binding via specific immunoglobulin receptors and serum immunoglobulins is causative for false-positive and false-negative results in different diagnostic approaches. The use of polyclonal IgY, especially for detection of molecules from sources like blood or serum, provides minor background due to the lack

of interaction with heterophilic antibodies, rheumatoid factor (RF), human antimouse antibodies (HAMA) and complement components^{274,275}, a major problem reported to affect for instance the tryptase immunoassay, recommended to perform in patients with suspected mastocytosis, a risk factor for anaphylaxis¹⁴⁸. In this study we evaluated recombinant monoclenal IgY-based antibodies regarding their performance in diagnostic assay formats in comparison to human or murine IgG analogues. We found that monoclonal recombinant IgY entirely reflected the characteristics of their native counterparts and, therefore, provide the same advantageous properties. The use of monoclonal IgY in contrast to mammalian antibodies prevented interference phenomena in absorbance measurements generated by human sera containing RF or heterophilic antibodies. Additionally, they exhibited no interactions with the human and murine high-affinity receptor FcyRI (CD64) and human low-affinity receptor FcyRIIIa (CD16A). The data obtained demonstrate the advantageous behavior of monoclonal IgY as detection or capture antibodies compared to conventional mammalian immunoglobulins in avoidance of assay interference, thus rendering IgY-based constructs valuable tools for all types of immunoassays.

After establishment of such recombinant antibody technologies in the context of allergen-specific antibodies, we were able to show the advantages of such reagents in basic research on venom components and their potential for standardization of allergen extracts.

In this work a monoclonal IgE antibody directed against Api m 5, generated by using the same methods as described above was used, to confirm the identity of the newly identified open reading frame with the component in *Apis mellifera* venom. Moreover, the reactivity of this monoclonal IgE antibody with the homologous protein of yellow jacket venom, Ves v 3, suggested the presence of a conserved protein epitope in these two molecules. Such an epitope hints to the possible occurrence of cross-reactive protein epitope-specific IgE in venomallergic patients, also demonstrated by specific IgE reactivity of allergic patients and basophil activation.

The quality of natural allergen extracts has improved over the years through increased standardization and characterization, however, products from natural sources are often heterogeneous and may contain many non-allergenic molecules, which can also vary in composition and quantity^{266,276}, and certain of which have shown to prime $T_H 2$ responses²⁷⁷ may even contain contaminating allergens from other sources²⁷⁸. Another potentially important problem related to unpredictable complexity of allergen extracts is that therapy-induced new IgE reactivities towards extract components that were not recognized prior to therapy can arise^{173,279}. On the other hand, in many cases important allergens are present in small amounts or lacking, und their biological potency is subject to broad variability²⁸⁰; e.g. the presence of bioactive molecules like proteolytic enzymes that degrade allergens would be a limiting factor for stability²⁸¹. Due to these reasons, products from different companies and even batches from the same company are not necessarily comparable and strongly vary in their composition¹⁷⁹, likely hampering success of specific immunotherapy.

A particular finding emphasizing this problem is described in this work. We generated a monoclonal human IgE antibody with specificity for Carbohydrate-rich protein applying the above described methods and recombinant Carbohydrate-rich protein. Using this monoclonal IgE we were able for the first time to detect native Carbohydrate-rich protein in whole Apis mellifera venom. Additionally we could show that Carbohydrate-rich protein is present primarily as intact component in significant amounts comparable to other allergens of relevance such as Api m 3. Analyzing three different honeybee venom preparations routinely used for venom immunotherapy we interestingly obtained no reactivities for none of the preparations with the monoclonal anti-Carbohydrate-rich protein IgE, in stark contrast to the crude venom, demonstrating absence of this putatively essential component in therapeutical preparations. These data confirm that downstream processing of venom for therapeutic preparations at least affects the distribution of venom proteins, and underline the need for reagents for standardization of such preparations. Although these data need further and broader validation, the presence of inherently labile venom components should be imperative and might serve as proof of quality. With regard to such standardization purposes the use of monoclonal antibodies, as shown here, may open novel prospects to improvement and quality control of therapeutics. Hence, the establishment of a panel of recombinant monoclonal antibodies with specificity for various important Hymenoptera venom allergens will become valuable for further applications in both standardization and basic research (Table 2).

4.6 Outlook

Recombinant technologies have opened a wide range of possibilities to improve the diagnosis and treatment of Hymenoptera venom allergy. Once all relevant allergens of a venom will be available in recombinant form, the sensitization pattern of an individual patient could exactly be determined by estimating specific IgE antibodies to all of them. A patient-tailored cocktail containing the allergens the patient shows IgE reactivity to could then be tailored for immunotherapy²⁸². Any of the problems associated with allergen extracts can be easily overcome with recombinant allergens, for instance, vaccines could be formulated containing molecules defined on the basis of mass units without irrelevant components.

Moreover, recombinant allergens can be produced as molecules that exactly mimic natural allergens, as modified variants with advantageous properties such as reduced allergenic activity or increased immunogenicity, or as hybrid molecules resembling the entity of epitopes of several different allergens to include the relevant epitopes of complex allergen sources^{283,284}.

With the use of defined recombinant molecules instead of crude allergen extractbased mixtures, it will become possible to decipher more precisely the mechanisms underlying immunotherapy, to develop new forms of immunotherapy and perhaps prophylactic strategies as well as to monitor its success, allowing adaptation of the treatment strategy.

Furthermore, recombinant allergens combined with the corresponding monoclonal antibodies will contribute to a more detailed understanding of the molecular and allergological mechanisms of allergic disease including but not limited to Hymenoptera venom allergy.

5. References

- 1. von Pirquet C. Allergie. Munch Med Woch 1906;53:1547-48.
- 2. Galli SJ, Tsai M, Piliponsky AM. The development of allergic inflammation. Nature 2008;454(7203):445-54.
- 3. Gell PG, Coombs RR. The classification of allergic reactions underlying disease. In: Clinical aspects of immunology (chapter 13) 1963;Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- 4. Danning CL, Illei GG, Boumpas DT. Vasculitis associated with primary rheumatologic diseases. Curr Opin Rheumatol 1998;10(1):58-65.
- 5. Johansson SG, Hourihane JO, Bousquet J, Bruijnzeel-Koomen C, Dreborg S, Haahtela T, Kowalski ML, Mygind N, Ring J, van Cauwenberge P and others. A revised nomenclature for allergy. An EAACI position statement from the EAACI nomenclature task force. Allergy 2001;56(9):813-24.
- 6. Georas SN, Guo J, De Fanis U, Casolaro V. T-helper cell type-2 regulation in allergic disease. Eur Respir J 2005;26(6):1119-37.
- 7. Larche M, Akdis CA, Valenta R. Immunological mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6(10):761-71.
- 8. Gould HJ, Sutton BJ. IgE in allergy and asthma today. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8(3):205-17.
- 9. Geha RS, Jabara HH, Brodeur SR. The regulation of immunoglobulin E class-switch recombination. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3(9):721-32.
- 10. Vercelli D. Discovering susceptibility genes for asthma and allergy. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8(3):169-82.
- 11. Cookson W. The immunogenetics of asthma and eczema: a new focus on the epithelium. Nat Rev Immunol 2004;4(12):978-88.
- 12. Herrick CA, Bottomly K. To respond or not to respond: T cells in allergic asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3(5):405-12.
- 13. Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. Dendritic cells and epithelial cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity in asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8(3):193-204.
- 14. Glimcher LH. Trawling for treasure: tales of T-bet. Nat Immunol 2007;8(5):448-50.
- 15. Chen Z, Tato CM, Muul L, Laurence A, O'Shea JJ. Distinct regulation of interleukin-17 in human T helper lymphocytes. Arthritis Rheum 2007;56(9):2936-46.
- 16. Zhu J, Paul WE. CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults. Blood 2008;112(5):1557-69.
- Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F, Napolitani G. Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. Nat Immunol 2007;8(6):639-46.
- 18. Janeway CA, Jr., Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 2002;20:197-216.
- 19. Sokol CL, Chu NQ, Yu S, Nish SA, Laufer TM, Medzhitov R. Basophils function as antigenpresenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response. Nat Immunol 2009;10(7):713-20.
- 20. Shimoda K, van Deursen J, Sangster MY, Sarawar SR, Carson RT, Tripp RA, Chu C, Quelle FW, Nosaka T, Vignali DA and others. Lack of IL-4-induced Th2 response and IgE class switching in mice with disrupted Stat6 gene. Nature 1996;380(6575):630-3.
- 21. Niederberger V, Niggemann B, Kraft D, Spitzauer S, Valenta R. Evolution of IgM, IgE and IgG(1-4) antibody responses in early childhood monitored with recombinant allergen components: implications for class switch mechanisms. Eur J Immunol 2002;32(2):576-84.
- 22. Chakir J, Laviolette M, Turcotte H, Boutet M, Boulet LP. Cytokine expression in the lower airways of nonasthmatic subjects with allergic rhinitis: influence of natural allergen exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(5):904-10.
- 23. Marshall JS. Mast-cell responses to pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol 2004;4(10):787-99.
- 24. Galli SJ, Kalesnikoff J, Grimbaldeston MA, Piliponsky AM, Williams CM, Tsai M. Mast cells as "tunable" effector and immunoregulatory cells: recent advances. Annu Rev Immunol 2005;23:749-86.
- 25. Gilfillan AM, Tkaczyk C. Integrated signalling pathways for mast-cell activation. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6(3):218-30.
- 26. Kraft S, Kinet JP. New developments in FcepsilonRI regulation, function and inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol 2007;7(5):365-78.
- 27. Rivera J, Gilfillan AM. Molecular regulation of mast cell activation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006;117(6):1214-25.
- 28. Dvorak AM. Ultrastructural studies of human basophils and mast cells. J Histochem Cytochem 2005;53(9):1043-70.

- 29. Stevens RL, Adachi R. Protease-proteoglycan complexes of mouse and human mast cells and importance of their beta-tryptase-heparin complexes in inflammation and innate immunity. Immunol Rev 2007;217:155-67.
- 30. Pejler G, Abrink M, Ringvall M, Wernersson S. Mast cell proteases. Adv Immunol 2007;95:167-255.
- 31. Caughey GH. Mast cell tryptases and chymases in inflammation and host defense. Immunol Rev 2007;217:141-54.
- 32. Boyce JA. Eicosanoid mediators of mast cells: receptors, regulation of synthesis, and pathobiologic implications. Chem Immunol Allergy 2005;87:59-79.
- 33. Wills-Karp M. Immunologic basis of antigen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. Annu Rev Immunol 1999;17:255-81.
- 34. MacGlashan D, Jr., Gauvreau G, Schroeder JT. Basophils in airway disease. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2002;2(2):126-32.
- 35. Sampson HA, Munoz-Furlong A, Bock SA, Schmitt C, Bass R, Chowdhury BA, Decker WW, Furlong TJ, Galli SJ, Golden DB and others. Symposium on the definition and management of anaphylaxis: summary report. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005;115(3):584-91.
- 36. Galli SJ, Grimbaldeston M, Tsai M. Immunomodulatory mast cells: negative, as well as positive, regulators of immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8(6):478-86.
- 37. Kay AB. Allergy and allergic diseases. First of two parts. N Engl J Med 2001;344(1):30-7.
- 38. Holgate ST, Polosa R. Treatment strategies for allergy and asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8(3):218-30.
- 39. Marone G, Triggiani M, de Paulis A. Mast cells and basophils: friends as well as foes in bronchial asthma? Trends Immunol 2005;26(1):25-31.
- 40. Yazdanbakhsh M, Kremsner PG, van Ree R. Allergy, parasites, and the hygiene hypothesis. Science 2002;296(5567):490-4.
- 41. Fallon PG, Mangan NE. Suppression of TH2-type allergic reactions by helminth infection. Nat Rev Immunol 2007;7(3):220-30.
- 42. Wing K, Fehervari Z, Sakaguchi S. Emerging possibilities in the development and function of regulatory T cells. Int Immunol 2006;18(7):991-1000.
- 43. Hawrylowicz CM, O'Garra A. Potential role of interleukin-10-secreting regulatory T cells in allergy and asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 2005;5(4):271-83.
- 44. Larche M. Regulatory T cells in allergy and asthma. Chest 2007;132(3):1007-14.
- 45. Eder W, Ege MJ, von Mutius E. The asthma epidemic. N Engl J Med 2006;355(21):2226-35.
- 46. Wills-Karp M, Santeliz J, Karp CL. The germless theory of allergic disease: revisiting the hygiene hypothesis. Nat Rev Immunol 2001;1(1):69-75.
- 47. Romagnani S. Coming back to a missing immune deviation as the main explanatory mechanism for the hygiene hypothesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;119(6):1511-3.
- 48. Portier P, Richet C. De l'action anaphylactique de certains venins [The anaphylactic reaction to certain venoms]. C R Seances Soc Biol 1902;54:170.
- 49. Cohen SG, Zelaya-Quesada M. Portier, Richet, and the discovery of anaphylaxis: a centennial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;110(2):331-6.
- 50. Simons FE, Frew AJ, Ansotegui IJ, Bochner BS, Golden DB, Finkelman FD, Leung DY, Lotvall J, Marone G, Metcalfe DD and others. Risk assessment in anaphylaxis: current and future approaches. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120(1 Suppl):S2-24.
- 51. Kemp SF, Lockey RF. Anaphylaxis: a review of causes and mechanisms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;110(3):341-8.
- 52. Fisher M. Anaphylaxis. Dis Mon 1987;33(8):433-79.
- 53. Lieberman P, Camargo CA, Jr., Bohlke K, Jick H, Miller RL, Sheikh A, Simons FE. Epidemiology of anaphylaxis: findings of the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Epidemiology of Anaphylaxis Working Group. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2006;97(5):596-602.
- 54. Fisher MM. Clinical observations on the pathophysiology and treatment of anaphylactic cardiovascular collapse. Anaesth Intensive Care 1986;14(1):17-21.
- 55. Austen KF. Systemic anaphylaxis in the human being. N Engl J Med 1974;291(13):661-4.
- 56. Müller UR. Entomology of the Hymenoptera. Clinical presentation and pathogenesis. In: Insect sting allergy: Clinical picture, diagnosis and treatment 1990;Stuttgart, New York: Gustav Fisher:3-65.
- 57. Sanchez F, Blanca M, Fernandez J, Miranda A, Terrados A, Torres MJ, Del Cano A, Garcia JJ, Juarez C. Comparative study between European and American species of Polistes using sera from European sensitized subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 1995;25(3):281-7.

de Groot H, de Graaf-in 't Veld C, van Wijk RG. Allergy to bumblebee venom. I. 58. Occupational anaphylaxis to bumblebee venom: diagnosis and treatment. Allergy 1995;50(7):581-4. Seebach JD, Bucher C, Anliker M, Schmid-Grendelmeier P, Wuthrich B. [Ant venoms: a 59. rare cause of allergic reactions in Switzerland]. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 2000;130(47):1805-13. Caplan EL, Ford JL, Young PF, Ownby DR. Fire ants represent an important risk for 60. anaphylaxis among residents of an endemic region. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;111(6):1274-7. 61. Brown SG, Heddle RJ. Prevention of anaphylaxis with ant venom immunotherapy. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;3(6):511-6. 62. Bilo MB, Bonifazi F. The natural history and epidemiology of insect venom allergy: clinical implications. Clin Exp Allergy 2009;39(10):1467-76. Bilo BM, Rueff F, Mosbech H, Bonifazi F, Oude-Elberink JN. Diagnosis of Hymenoptera 63. venom allergy. Allergy 2005;60(11):1339-49. 64. EAACI. Position paper: Immunotherapy with hymenoptera venoms. (EAACI) The European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. Allergy 1993;48(14 Suppl):36-46. 65. Bilo BM, Bonifazi F. Epidemiology of insect-venom anaphylaxis. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2008:8(4):330-7. Fernandez J, Blanca M, Soriano V, Sanchez J, Juarez C. Epidemiological study of the 66. prevalence of allergic reactions to Hymenoptera in a rural population in the Mediterranean area. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(8):1069-74. 67. Incorvaia C, Mauro M, Pastorello EA. Hymenoptera stings in conscripts. Allergy 1997;52(6):680-1. 68. Schafer T, Przybilla B. IgE antibodies to Hymenoptera venoms in the serum are common in the general population and are related to indications of atopy. Allergy 1996;51(6):372-7. Charpin D, Birnbaum J, Lanteaume A, Vervloet D. Prevalence of allergy to hymenoptera 69. stings in different samples of the general population. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992;90(3 Pt 1):331-4. 70. Charpin D, Birnbaum J, Vervloet D. Epidemiology of hymenoptera allergy. Clin Exp Allergy 1994;24(11):1010-5. 71. Novembre E, Cianferoni A, Bernardini R, Veltroni M, Ingargiola A, Lombardi E, Vierucci A. Epidemiology of insect venom sensitivity in children and its correlation to clinical and atopic features. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(7):834-8. 72. Bousquet J, Menardo JL, Aznar R, Robinet-Levy M, Michel FB. Clinical and immunologic survey in beekeepers in relation to their sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984;73(3):332-40. 73. Annila IT, Karjalainen ES, Annila PA, Kuusisto PA. Bee and wasp sting reactions in current beekeepers. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1996;77(5):423-7. 74. Antonicelli L, Bilo MB, Bonifazi F. Epidemiology of Hymenoptera allergy. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;2(4):341-6. Barnard JH. Studies of 400 Hymenoptera sting deaths in the United States. J Allergy Clin 75. Immunol 1973;52(5):259-64. Mosbech H. Death caused by wasp and bee stings in Denmark 1960-1980. Allergy 76. 1983;38(3):195-200. Schwartz HJ, Squillace DL, Sher TH, Teigland JD, Yunginger JW. Studies in stinging 77. insect hypersensitivity: postmortem demonstration of antivenom IgE antibody in possible sting-related sudden death. Am J Clin Pathol 1986;85(5):607-10. 78. Sasvary T, Muller U. [Fatalities from insect stings in Switzerland 1978 to 1987]. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1994;124(43):1887-94. 79. Müller UR. Insect sting allergy: Clinical picture, diagnosis and treatment. 1990;Stuttgart, New York: Gustav Fisher. 80. Reisman RE, Livingston A. Late-onset allergic reactions, including serum sickness, after insect stings. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1989;84(3):331-7. 81. Ring J, Messmer K. Incidence and severity of anaphylactoid reactions to colloid volume substitutes. Lancet 1977;1(8009):466-9. 82. Müller HL. Diagnosis and treatment of insect sensitivity. J Asthma Res 1966;3(4):331-3. 83. Valenta R. The future of antigen-specific immunotherapy of allergy. Nat Rev Immunol 2002;2(6):446-53. 84. Fireman P. Atlas of allergies and clinical immunology 3rd edition 2006; Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier.

- 85. Marsh DG, Goodfriend L, King TP, Lowenstein H, Platts-Mills TA. Allergen nomenclature. Bull World Health Organ 1986;64(5):767-74.
- 86. Hoffman DR, Jacobson RS. Allergens in hymenoptera venom XII: how much protein is in a sting? Ann Allergy 1984;52(4):276-8.
- 87. Schumacher MJ, Tveten MS, Egen NB. Rate and quantity of delivery of venom from honeybee stings. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(5):831-5.
- 88. Edery H, Ishay J, Gitter S, Joshua H. Venoms of Vespidae. In: S. Bettini Ed. Arthropod Venoms 1978;Berlin, New York: Springer:691-77.
- Schroder E, Lubke K, Lehmann M, Beetz I. Haemolytic activity and action on the surface tension of aqueous solutions of synthetic melittins and their derivatives. Experientia 1971;27(7):764-5.
- 90. Shkenderov S, Koburova K. Adolapin-a newly isolated analgetic and anti-inflammatory polypeptide from bee venom. Toxicon 1982;20(1):317-21.
- 91. Spoerri PE, Jentsch J, Glees P. Apamin from bee venom. Effects of the neurotoxin on subcellular particles of neural cultures. FEBS Lett 1975;53(2):143-7.
- 92. Breithaupt H, Habermann E. [MCD-peptide from bee venom: isolation, biochemical and pharmacolgical properties]. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol 1968;261(3):252-70.
- 93. King TP, Sobotka AK, Kochoumian L, Lichtenstein LM. Allergens of honey bee venom. Arch Biochem Biophys 1976;172(2):661-71.
- 94. Arbesman CE, Reisman RE, Wypych JI. Allergenic potency of bee antigens measured by RAST inhibition. Clin Allergy 1976;6(6):587-95.
- 95. Hoffman DR, Shipman WH, Babin D. Allergens in bee venom II. Two new high molecular weight allergenic specificities. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977;59(2):147-53.
- 96. Blank S, Seismann H, Bockisch B, Braren I, Cifuentes L, Rühl D, Ring J, Bredehorst R, Ollert M, Grunwald T and others. Identification, recombinant expression and characterization of high molecular weight hymenoptera venom allergens. Allergy 2008;63(Suppl 88):13-14.
- 97. Kettner Å, Hughes GJ, Frutiger S, Astori M, Roggero M, Spertini F, Corradin G. Api m 6: a new bee venom allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;107(5):914-20.
- 98. Winningham KM, Fitch CD, Schmidt M, Hoffman DR. Hymenoptera venom protease allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004;114(4):928-33.
- 99. Hoffman DR. Hymenoptera venom allergens. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2006;30(2):109-28.
- 100. Peiren N, de Graaf DC, Brunain M, Bridts CH, Ebo DG, Stevens WJ, Jacobs FJ. Molecular cloning and expression of icarapin, a novel IgE-binding bee venom protein. FEBS Lett 2006;580(20):4895-9.
- 101. Hoffman DR, Shipman WH. Allergens in bee venom. I. Separation and identification of the major allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1976;58(5):551-62.
- 102. Paull BR, Yunginger JW, Gleich GJ. Melittin: an allergen of honeybee venom. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977;59(4):334-8.
- 103. Grunwald T, Bockisch B, Spillner E, Ring J, Bredehorst R, Ollert MW. Molecular cloning and expression in insect cells of honeybee venom allergen acid phosphatase (Api m 3). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006;117(4):848-54.
- 104. King TP, Lu G, Gonzalez M, Qian N, Soldatova L. Yellow jacket venom allergens, hyaluronidase and phospholipase: sequence similarity and antigenic cross-reactivity with their hornet and wasp homologs and possible implications for clinical allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98(3):588-600.
- 105. King TP, Spangfort MD. Structure and biology of stinging insect venom allergens. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2000;123(2):99-106.
- 106. Kolarich D, Leonard R, Hemmer W, Altmann F. The N-glycans of yellow jacket venom hyaluronidases and the protein sequence of its major isoform in Vespula vulgaris. Febs J 2005;272(20):5182-90.
- 107. Abe T, Kawai N, Niwa A. Purification and properties of a presynaptically acting neurotoxin, mandaratoxin, from hornet (Vespa mandarinia). Biochemistry 1982;21(7):1693-7.
- Hoffman DR. Allergens in Hymenoptera venom. XXV: The amino acid sequences of antigen 5 molecules and the structural basis of antigenic cross-reactivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92(5):707-16.
- 109. Lu G, Kochoumian L, King TP. Sequence identity and antigenic cross-reactivity of white face hornet venom allergen, also a hyaluronidase, with other proteins. J Biol Chem 1995;270(9):4457-65.

- 110. Lu G, Villalba M, Coscia MR, Hoffman DR, King TP. Sequence analysis and antigenic cross-reactivity of a venom allergen, antigen 5, from hornets, wasps, and yellow jackets. J Immunol 1993;150(7):2823-30.
- 111. Soldatova L, Kochoumian L, King TP. Sequence similarity of a hornet (D. maculata) venom allergen phospholipase A1 with mammalian lipases. FEBS Lett 1993;320(2):145-9.
- 112. Hoffman DR. Hymenoptera venom proteins. 1996;New York: Plenum Publishing:169-186.
- 113. Wiese MD, Brown SG, Chataway TK, Davies NW, Milne RW, Aulfrey SJ, Heddle RJ. Myrmecia pilosula (Jack Jumper) ant venom: identification of allergens and revised nomenclature. Allergy 2007;62(4):437-43.
- 114. Demoly P, Michel FB, Bousquet J. In vivo methods for study of allergy: Skin tests, techniques and interpretation. In: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF et al.: Allergy: Principlesand Practise, 5th ed. 1998;St. Louis: Mosby:430-439.
- 115. Roitt IM, Brostoff J, Male DK. Immunology. 5th ed. 2001;London: Mosby:19.1-19.7.
- 116. Meriney D, Nall T, Wallace D, Rosenzweig D, Goel Z, Grieco MH. Comparison of venom and whole-body rast and intradermal testing in vespid-sensitive patients. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1980;62(4):442-52.
- 117. Hunt KJ, Valentine MD, Sobotka AK, Lichtenstein LM. Diagnosis of allergy to stinging insects by skin testing with Hymenoptera venoms. Ann Intern Med 1976;85(1):56-9.
- 118. Gentile DA. Diagnostic tests in Allergy. In Fireman P.: Atlas of allergies and clinical immunology 3rd ed. 2006;Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier:55-64.
- 119. Hamilton RG, Adkinson NF, Jr. 23. Clinical laboratory assessment of IgE-dependent hypersensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;111(2 Suppl):S687-701.
- 120. Homburger HA. Methods in laboratory immunology. In Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF et al.: Allergy: Principlesand Practise, 5th ed. 1998;St. Louis: Mosby:430-439.
- 121. Leimgruber A, Mosimann B, Claeys M, Seppey M, Jaccard Y, Aubert V, Peitrequin R, Nisoli MP, Pecoud A. Clinical evaluation of a new in-vitro assay for specific IgE, the immuno CAP system. Clin Exp Allergy 1991;21(1):127-31.
- 122. Jeep S, Kirchhof E, O'Connor A, Kunkel G. Comparison of the Phadebas RAST with the Pharmacia CAP system for insect venom. Allergy 1992;47(3):212-7.
- 123. Ownby DR. Clinical significance of IgE. In Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF et al.: Allergy: Principlesand Practise, 5th ed. 1998;St. Louis: Mosby:430-439.
- 124. Naclerio RM, Norman PS. In vivo methods for study of allergic rhinitis: Mucosal tests, techniques and interpretation. In Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF et al.: Allergy: Principlesand Practise, 5th ed. 1998;St. Louis: Mosby:430-439.
- 125. Sainte-Laudy J, Sabbah A, Drouet M, Lauret MG, Loiry M. Diagnosis of venom allergy by flow cytometry. Correlation with clinical history, skin tests, specific IgE, histamine and leukotriene C4 release. Clin Exp Allergy 2000;30(8):1166-71.
- 126. Maly FE, Marti-Wyss S, Blumer S, Cuhat-Stark I, Wuthrich B. Mononuclear blood cell sulfidoleukotriene generation in the presence of interleukin-3 and whole blood histamine release in honey bee and yellow jacket venom allergy. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1997;7(4):217-24.
- 127. Radermecker MF, Leclercq MD, Mariz SD, Louis RE. Basophil releasability in patients with hymenoptera venom allergy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1993;101(3):283-7.
- 128. Przybilla B, Ring J, Wielgosch J. [The basophilic histamine liberation test as a diagnostic method in Hymenoptera venom allergy]. Hautarzt 1988;39(10):662-70.
- 129. Annila I. Bee venom allergy. Clin Exp Allergy 2000;30(12):1682-7.
- 130. Mosbech H. Insect allergy. A comparative study including case histories and immunological parameters. Allergy 1984;39(7):543-9.
- 131. Golden DB, Marsh DG, Kagey-Sobotka A, Freidhoff L, Szklo M, Valentine MD, Lichtenstein LM. Epidemiology of insect venom sensitivity. Jama 1989;262(2):240-4.
- 132. van der Linden PW, Hack CE, Poortman J, Vivie-Kipp YC, Struyvenberg A, van der Zwan JK. Insect-sting challenge in 138 patients: relation between clinical severity of anaphylaxis and mast cell activation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992;90(1):110-8.
- 133. Ludolph-Hauser D, Rueff F, Sommerhoff CP, Przybilla B. [Tryptase, a marker for the activation and localization of mast cells]. Hautarzt 1999;50(8):556-61.
- 134. Rueff F, Przybilla B, Muller U, Mosbech H. The sting challenge test in Hymenoptera venom allergy. Position paper of the Subcommittee on Insect Venom Allergy of the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. Allergy 1996;51(4):216-25.
- 135. Bilo MB, Brianzoni MF, Garritani MS, Antonicelli L, Farabollini B, Bonifazi F. The sting challenge test in Hymenoptera venom allergy: pros and cons. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;35(10):377-81.

- 136. van der Linden PW, Hack CE, Struyvenberg A, van der Zwan JK. Insect-sting challenge in 324 subjects with a previous anaphylactic reaction: current criteria for insect-venom hypersensitivity do not predict the occurrence and the severity of anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;94(2 Pt 1):151-9.
- 137. Rueff F, Wenderoth A, Przybilla B. Patients still reacting to a sting challenge while receiving conventional Hymenoptera venom immunotherapy are protected by increased venom doses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;108(6):1027-32.
- 138. Müller UR. New developments in the diagnosis and treatment of hymenoptera venom allergy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2001;124(4):447-53.
- 139. Müller UR. Recent developments and future strategies for immunotherapy of insect venom allergy. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;3(4):299-303.
- 140. Aalberse RC, Akkerdaas J, van Ree R. Cross-reactivity of IgE antibodies to allergens. Allergy 2001;56(6):478-90.
- 141. Aalberse RC, Koshte V, Clemens JG. Immunoglobulin E antibodies that crossreact with vegetable foods, pollen, and Hymenoptera venom. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1981;68(5):356-64.
- 142. Hemmer W, Focke M, Kolarich D, Wilson IB, Altmann F, Wohrl S, Gotz M, Jarisch R. Antibody binding to venom carbohydrates is a frequent cause for double positivity to honeybee and yellow jacket venom in patients with stinging-insect allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;108(6):1045-52.
- 143. Hemmer W, Focke M, Kolarich D, Dalik I, Gotz M, Jarisch R. Identification by immunoblot of venom glycoproteins displaying immunoglobulin E-binding N-glycans as cross-reactive allergens in honeybee and yellow jacket venom. Clin Exp Allergy 2004;34(3):460-9.
- 144. Malandain H. IgE-reactive carbohydrate epitopes-classification, cross-reactivity, and clinical impact (2nd part). Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 2005;37(7):247-56.
- 145. Greunke K, Braren I, Alpers I, Blank S, Sodenkamp J, Bredehorst R, Spillner E. Recombinant IgY for improvement of immunoglobulin-based analytical applications. Clin Biochem 2008;41(14-15):1237-44.
- 146. Boscato LM, Stuart MC. Heterophilic antibodies: a problem for all immunoassays. Clin Chem 1988;34(1):27-33.
- 147. Johnson PM, Faulk WP. Rheumatoid factor: its nature, specificity, and production in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1976;6(3):414-30.
- 148. van Toorenenbergen AW, Hooijkaas H, Heerenbrink GK, Dufour-van den Goorbergh DM. Heterophilic antibody interference in a tryptase immunoassay. Clin Biochem 2008;41(4-5):331-4.
- 149. Illi S, von Mutius E, Lau S, Niggemann B, Gruber C, Wahn U. Perennial allergen sensitisation early in life and chronic asthma in children: a birth cohort study. Lancet 2006;368(9537):763-70.
- 150. Holt PG, Sly PD. Prevention of allergic respiratory disease in infants: current aspects and future perspectives. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;7(6):547-55.
- 151. Turcanu V, Maleki SJ, Lack G. Characterization of lymphocyte responses to peanuts in normal children, peanut-allergic children, and allergic children who acquired tolerance to peanuts. J Clin Invest 2003;111(7):1065-72.
- 152. Corry DB, Kheradmand F. Induction and regulation of the IgE response. Nature 1999;402(6760 Suppl):B18-23.
- 153. Arshad SH, Bateman B, Sadeghnejad A, Gant C, Matthews SM. Prevention of allergic disease during childhood by allergen avoidance: the Isle of Wight prevention study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;119(2):307-13.
- 154. Terreehorst I, Hak E, Oosting AJ, Tempels-Pavlica Z, de Monchy JG, Bruijnzeel-Koomen CA, Aalberse RC, Gerth van Wijk R. Evaluation of impermeable covers for bedding in patients with allergic rhinitis. N Engl J Med 2003;349(3):237-46.
- 155. Woodcock A, Forster L, Matthews E, Martin J, Letley L, Vickers M, Britton J, Strachan D, Howarth P, Altmann D and others. Control of exposure to mite allergen and allergenimpermeable bed covers for adults with asthma. N Engl J Med 2003;349(3):225-36.
- 156. Barnes PJ, Chung KF, Page CP. Inflammatory mediators of asthma: an update. Pharmacol Rev 1998;50(4):515-96.
- 157. Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. Transcription factors and asthma. Eur Respir J 1998;12(1):221-34.
- 158. Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. How do corticosteroids work in asthma? Ann Intern Med 2003;139(5 Pt 1):359-70.
- 159. Guilbert TW, Morgan WJ, Zeiger RS, Mauger DT, Boehmer SJ, Szefler SJ, Bacharier LB, Lemanske RF, Jr., Strunk RC, Allen DB and others. Long-term inhaled corticosteroids in preschool children at high risk for asthma. N Engl J Med 2006;354(19):1985-97.

- 160. del Cuvillo A, Mullol J, Bartra J, Davila I, Jauregui I, Montoro J, Sastre J, Valero AL. Comparative pharmacology of the H1 antihistamines. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2006;16 Suppl 1:3-12.
- 161. Kemp JP. Recent advances in the management of asthma using leukotriene modifiers. Am J Respir Med 2003;2(2):139-56.
- 162. Edwards AM, Howell JB. The chromones: history, chemistry and clinical development. A tribute to the work of Dr R. E. C. Altounyan. Clin Exp Allergy 2000;30(6):756-74.
- 163. Alton EW, Norris AA. Chloride transport and the actions of nedocromil sodium and cromolyn sodium in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98(5 Pt 2):S102-5.
- 164. Hart TK, Blackburn MN, Brigham-Burke M, Dede K, Al-Mahdi N, Zia-Amirhosseini P, Cook RM. Preclinical efficacy and safety of pascolizumab (SB 240683): a humanized antiinterleukin-4 antibody with therapeutic potential in asthma. Clin Exp Immunol 2002;130(1):93-100.
- 165. Wynn TA. IL-13 effector functions. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:425-56.
- 166. Flood-Page PT, Menzies-Gow AN, Kay AB, Robinson DS. Eosinophil's role remains uncertain as anti-interleukin-5 only partially depletes numbers in asthmatic airway. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2003;167(2):199-204.
- Boguniewicz M, Martin RJ, Martin D, Gibson U, Celniker A, Williams M, Leung DY. The effects of nebulized recombinant interferon-gamma in asthmatic airways. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;95(1 Pt 1):133-5.
- 168. Kuipers H, Heirman C, Hijdra D, Muskens F, Willart M, van Meirvenne S, Thielemans K, Hoogsteden HC, Lambrecht BN. Dendritic cells retrovirally overexpressing IL-12 induce strong Th1 responses to inhaled antigen in the lung but fail to revert established Th2 sensitization. J Leukoc Biol 2004;76(5):1028-38.
- 169. Chernoff AE, Granowitz EV, Shapiro L, Vannier E, Lonnemann G, Angel JB, Kennedy JS, Rabson AR, Wolff SM, Dinarello CA. A randomized, controlled trial of IL-10 in humans. Inhibition of inflammatory cytokine production and immune responses. J Immunol 1995;154(10):5492-9.
- 170. Holgate ST, Djukanovic R, Casale T, Bousquet J. Anti-immunoglobulin E treatment with omalizumab in allergic diseases: an update on anti-inflammatory activity and clinical efficacy. Clin Exp Allergy 2005;35(4):408-16.
- 171. Jutel M, Akdis M, Blaser K, Akdis CA. Mechanisms of allergen specific immunotherapy-Tcell tolerance and more. Allergy 2006;61(7):796-807.
- 172. van Neerven RJ, Wikborg T, Lund G, Jacobsen B, Brinch-Nielsen A, Arnved J, Ipsen H. Blocking antibodies induced by specific allergy vaccination prevent the activation of CD4+ T cells by inhibiting serum-IgE-facilitated allergen presentation. J Immunol 1999;163(5):2944-52.
- 173. Ball T, Sperr WR, Valent P, Lidholm J, Spitzauer S, Ebner C, Kraft D, Valenta R. Induction of antibody responses to new B cell epitopes indicates vaccination character of allergen immunotherapy. Eur J Immunol 1999;29(6):2026-36.
- 174. Wu K, Bi Y, Sun K, Wang C. IL-10-producing type 1 regulatory T cells and allergy. Cell Mol Immunol 2007;4(4):269-75.
- 175. Wan YY, Flavell RA. 'Yin-Yang' functions of transforming growth factor-beta and T regulatory cells in immune regulation. Immunol Rev 2007;220:199-213.
- 176. Durham SR, Walker SM, Varga EM, Jacobson MR, O'Brien F, Noble W, Till SJ, Hamid QA, Nouri-Aria KT. Long-term clinical efficacy of grass-pollen immunotherapy. N Engl J Med 1999;341(7):468-75.
- 177. Williams AP, Krishna MT, Frew AJ. The safety of immunotherapy. Clin Exp Allergy 2004;34(4):513-4.
- 178. Larche M. Update on the current status of peptide immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;119(4):906-9.
- 179. Valenta R, Niederberger V. Recombinant allergens for immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;119(4):826-30.
- 180. Lund L, Henmar H, Wurtzen PA, Lund G, Hjortskov N, Larsen JN. Comparison of allergenicity and immunogenicity of an intact allergen vaccine and commercially available allergoid products for birch pollen immunotherapy. Clin Exp Allergy 2007;37(4):564-71.
- 181. Creticos PS, Chen YH, Schroeder JT. New approaches in immunotherapy: allergen vaccination with immunostimulatory DNA. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2004;24(4):569-81.
- 182. Ozdemir C, Yazi D, Gocmen I, Yesil O, Aydogan M, Semic-Jusufagic A, Bahceciler NN, Barlan IB. Efficacy of long-term sublingual immunotherapy as an adjunct to

pharmacotherapy in house dust mite-allergic children with asthma. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2007;18(6):508-15.

- Valovirta E, Jacobsen L, Ljorring C, Koivikko A, Savolainen J. Clinical efficacy and safety of sublingual immunotherapy with tree pollen extract in children. Allergy 2006;61(10):1177-83.
- 184. Martinez-Gomez JM, Johansen P, Erdmann I, Senti G, Crameri R, Kundig TM. Intralymphatic injections as a new administration route for allergen-specific immunotherapy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2009;150(1):59-65.
- 185. Malling H, Weeke B. Immunotherapy. Position paper of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Allergy 1993;48 (Suppl. 14):9-35.
- 186. Benson RL, Semenov H. Allergy in its relation to bee sting. J allergy 1930;1:105-116.
- 187. Müller U, Thurnheer U, Patrizzi R, Spiess J, Hoigne R. Immunotherapy in bee sting hypersensitivity. Bee venom versus wholebody extract. Allergy 1979;34(6):369-78.
- 188. Nataf P, Guinnepain MT, Herman D. Rush venom immunotherapy: a 3-day programme for hymenoptera sting allergy. Clin Allergy 1984;14(3):269-75.
- 189. Reisman RE. Stinging insect allergy: progress and problems. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;75(5):553-5.
- 190. van der Zwan JC, Flinterman J, Jankowski IG, Kerckhaert JA. Hyposensitisation to wasp venom in six hours. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1983;287(6402):1329-31.
- 191. Yunginger JW, Paull BR, Jones RT, Santrach PJ. Rush venom immunotherapy program for honeybee sting sensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1979;63(5):340-7.
- 192. Malling HJ, Djurup R, Sondergaard I, Weeke B. Clustered immunotherapy with Yellow Jacket venom. Evaluation of the influence of time interval on in vivo and in vitro parameters. Allergy 1985;40(5):373-83.
- 193. Müller U, Helbling A, Berchtold E. Immunotherapy with honeybee venom and yellow jacket venom is different regarding efficacy and safety. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992;89(2):529-35.
- 194. Eberlein-Konig B, Schmidt-Leidescher C, Rakoski J, Behrendt H, Ring J. In vitro basophil activation using CD63 expression in patients with bee and wasp venom allergy. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2006;16(1):5-10.
- 195. Ausubel FM. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology. New York: Wiley Interscience; 1996.
- 196. Müller UR. Insektenstichallergie: Klinik, Diagnostik und Therapie. Stuttgart, New York: Gustav Fischer Verlag; 1988.
- 197. Muller UR. Recombinant Hymenoptera venom allergens. Allergy 2002;57(7):570-6.
- 198. Muller UR. Recent developments and future strategies for immunotherapy of insect venom allergy. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;3(4):299-303.
- 199. Dudler T, Chen WQ, Wang S, Schneider T, Annand RR, Dempcy RO, Crameri R, Gmachl M, Suter M, Gelb MH. High-level expression in Escherichia coli and rapid purification of enzymatically active honey bee venom phospholipase A2. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1165(2):201-10.
- 200. Gmachl M, Kreil G. Bee venom hyaluronidase is homologous to a membrane protein of mammalian sperm. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90(8):3569-73.
- 201. Kuchler K, Gmachl M, Sippl MJ, Kreil G. Analysis of the cDNA for phospholipase A2 from honeybee venom glands. The deduced amino acid sequence reveals homology to the corresponding vertebrate enzymes. Eur J Biochem 1989;184(1):249-54.
- 202. Soldatova LN, Crameri R, Gmachl M, Kemeny DM, Schmidt M, Weber M, Mueller UR. Superior biologic activity of the recombinant bee venom allergen hyaluronidase expressed in baculovirus-infected insect cells as compared with Escherichia coli. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101(5):691-8.
- 203. Scott DL, Otwinowski Z, Gelb MH, Sigler PB. Crystal structure of bee-venom phospholipase A2 in a complex with a transition-state analogue. Science 1990;250(4987):1563-6.
- 204. Markovic-Housley Z, Miglierini G, Soldatova L, Rizkallah PJ, Muller U, Schirmer T. Crystal structure of hyaluronidase, a major allergen of bee venom. Structure 2000;8(10):1025-35.
- 205. Jappe U, Raulf-Heimsoth M, Hoffmann M, Burow G, Hubsch-Muller C, Enk A. In vitro hymenoptera venom allergy diagnosis: improved by screening for cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants and reciprocal inhibition. Allergy 2006;61(10):1220-9.
- 206. Schmidt M, Weimer ET, Sakell RH, Hoffman DR. Proteins in the high molecular weight fraction of honeybee venom. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005;115:S107.
- 207. Peiren N, Vanrobaeys F, de Graaf DC, Devreese B, Van Beeumen J, Jacobs FJ. The protein composition of honeybee venom reconsidered by a proteomic approach. Biochim Biophys Acta 2005;1752(1):1-5.

- 208. Seismann H, Blank S, Braren I, Greunke K, Cifuentes L, Grunwald T, Bredehorst R, Ollert MW, Spillner E. Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by circumvention of alpha-1,3-core fucosylation. Mol Immunol 2009;in press.
- Seismann H, Blank S, Cifuentes L, Braren I, Bredehorst R, Grunwald T, Ollert M, Spillner E. Recombinant phospholipase A1 (Ves v 1) from yellow jacket venom for improved diagnosis of hymenoptera venom hypersensitivity. under revision 2009.
- 210. Lopez M, Tetaert D, Juliant S, Gazon M, Cerutti M, Verbert A, Delannoy P. O-glycosylation potential of lepidopteran insect cell lines. Biochim Biophys Acta 1999;1427(1):49-61.
- 211. Wood CL, Hoffman DR. Two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of hymenoptera venom and venom sac extracts. Toxicon 1983;21(2):291-9.
- 212. Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schaffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res 1997;25(17):3389-402.
- 213. Burge CB, Karlin S. Finding the genes in genomic DNA. Curr Opin Struct Biol 1998;8(3):346-54.
- 214. Bendtsen JD, Nielsen H, von Heijne G, Brunak S. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. J Mol Biol 2004;340(4):783-95.
- 215. Kettner A, Henry H, Hughes GJ, Corradin G, Spertini F. IgE and T-cell responses to highmolecular weight allergens from bee venom. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(3):394-401.
- 216. Jenkins N, Parekh RB, James DC. Getting the glycosylation right: implications for the biotechnology industry. Nat Biotechnol 1996;14(8):975-81.
- 217. Braren I, Blank S, Seismann H, Deckers S, Ollert M, Grunwald T, Spillner E. Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries. Clin Chem 2007;53(5):837-44.
- Voss T, Ergulen E, Ahorn H, Kubelka V, Sugiyama K, Maurer-Fogy I, Glossl J. Expression of human interferon omega 1 in Sf9 cells. No evidence for complex-type N-linked glycosylation or sialylation. Eur J Biochem 1993;217(3):913-9.
- 219. Staudacher E, Kubelka V, Marz L. Distinct N-glycan fucosylation potentials of three lepidopteran cell lines. Eur J Biochem 1992;207(3):987-93.
- 220. Ocmant A, Peignois Y, Mulier S, Hanssens L, Michils A, Schandene L. Flow cytometry for basophil activation markers: the measurement of CD203c up-regulation is as reliable as CD63 expression in the diagnosis of cat allergy. J Immunol Methods 2007;320(1-2):40-8.
- 221. Hauswirth AW, Natter S, Ghannadan M, Majlesi Y, Schernthaner GH, Sperr WR, Buhring HJ, Valenta R, Valent P. Recombinant allergens promote expression of CD203c on basophils in sensitized individuals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;110(1):102-9.
- 222. Erdmann SM, Sachs B, Schmidt A, Merk HF, Scheiner O, Moll-Slodowy S, Sauer I, Kwiecien R, Maderegger B, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K. In vitro analysis of birch-pollenassociated food allergy by use of recombinant allergens in the basophil activation test. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2005;136(3):230-8.
- 223. King TP, Joslyn A, Kochoumian L. Antigenic cross-reactivity of venom proteins from hornets, wasps, and yellow jackets. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;75(5):621-8.
- 224. Heike M, Mobius U, Knuth A, Meuer S, Meyer zum Buschenfelde KH. Tissue distribution of the T cell activation antigen Ta1. Serological, immunohistochemical and biochemical investigations. Clin Exp Immunol 1988;74(3):431-4.
- 225. Mizutani S, Sumi S, Narita O, Tomoda Y. Purification and properties of human placental dipeptidyl peptidase IV. Nippon Sanka Fujinka Gakkai Zasshi 1985;37(5):769-75.
- 226. Nemoto E, Sugawara S, Takada H, Shoji S, Horiuch H. Increase of CD26/dipeptidyl peptidase IV expression on human gingival fibroblasts upon stimulation with cytokines and bacterial components. Infect Immun 1999;67(12):6225-33.
- 227. Morimoto C, Lord CI, Zhang C, Duke-Cohan JS, Letvin NL, Schlossman SF. Role of CD26/dipeptidyl peptidase IV in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection and apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91(21):9960-4.
- 228. Fleischer B. CD26: a surface protease involved in T-cell activation. Immunol Today 1994;15(4):180-4.
- 229. Yaron A, Naider F. Proline-dependent structural and biological properties of peptides and proteins. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 1993;28(1):31-81.
- 230. Oravecz T, Pall M, Roderiquez G, Gorrell MD, Ditto M, Nguyen NY, Boykins R, Unsworth E, Norcross MA. Regulation of the receptor specificity and function of the chemokine RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted) by dipeptidyl peptidase IV (CD26)-mediated cleavage. J Exp Med 1997;186(11):1865-72.

- 231. Cheng HC, Abdel-Ghany M, Elble RC, Pauli BU. Lung endothelial dipeptidyl peptidase IV promotes adhesion and metastasis of rat breast cancer cells via tumor cell surface-associated fibronectin. J Biol Chem 1998;273(37):24207-15.
- 232. Pethiyagoda CL, Welch DR, Fleming TP. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPPIV) inhibits cellular invasion of melanoma cells. Clin Exp Metastasis 2000;18(5):391-400.
- 233. Aytac U, Claret FX, Ho L, Sato K, Ohnuma K, Mills GB, Cabanillas F, Morimoto C, Dang NH. Expression of CD26 and its associated dipeptidyl peptidase IV enzyme activity enhances sensitivity to doxorubicin-induced cell cycle arrest at the G(2)/M checkpoint. Cancer Res 2001;61(19):7204-10.
- 234. Wesley UV, Albino AP, Tiwari S, Houghton AN. A role for dipeptidyl peptidase IV in suppressing the malignant phenotype of melanocytic cells. J Exp Med 1999;190(3):311-22.
- 235. Tanaka T, Duke-Cohan JS, Kameoka J, Yaron A, Lee I, Schlossman SF, Morimoto C. Enhancement of antigen-induced T-cell proliferation by soluble CD26/dipeptidyl peptidase IV. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994;91(8):3082-6.
- 236. Ogawa Y, Mamura Y, Murayama N, Yanoshita R. Characterization and cDNA cloning of dipeptidyl peptidase IV from the venom of Gloydius blomhoffi brevicaudus. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 2006;145(1):35-42.
- 237. Kreil G, Mollay C, Kaschnitz R, Haiml L, Vilas U. Prepromelittin: specific cleavage of the pre- and the propeptide in vitro. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1980;343:338-46.
- 238. Müller UR. Epidemiology of insect sting allergy. in Burr M. L.: Epidemiology of clinical Allergy. Basel, Karger 1993;31:131-146.
- 239. Reisman RE, Wypych J, Arbesman CE. Stinging insect allergy: detection and clinical significance of venom IgE antibodies. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1975;56(6):443-9.
- 240. Hunt KJ, Valentine MD, Sobotka AK, Benton AW, Amodio FJ, Lichtenstein LM. A controlled trial of immunotherapy in insect hypersensitivity. N Engl J Med 1978;299(4):157-61.
- 241. Müller UR, Mosbech H. Immunotherapy with Hymenoptera venoms: EAACI position paper. Allergy 1993;48 (Suppl 14):37-46.
- 242. Müller U, Fricker M, Wymann D, Blaser K, Crameri R. Increased specificity of diagnostic tests with recombinant major bee venom allergen phospholipase A2. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(8):915-20.
- 243. Kreil G. Hyaluronidases-a group of neglected enzymes. Protein Sci 1995;4(9):1666-9.
- 244. Pauli G, Malling H, Rak S, Pastorello E, Purohit A, Larsen T. Clinical efficacy of subcutaneous immunotherapy in birch pollen allergic patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study with recombinant Bet v 1 versus natural Bet v 1 or standardized birch extract. In: Valenta R, Akdis C, Bohle B,: 25th Congress of the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology, Vienna, Austria, June 14-16, 2006: abstracts. Hannover, Germany: Pharma Service. Abstract 83 2006:28.
- 245. Jutel M, Jaeger L, Suck R, Meyer H, Fiebig H, Cromwell O. Allergen-specific immunotherapy with recombinant grass pollen allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005;116(3):608-13.
- 246. Niederberger V, Horak F, Vrtala S, Spitzauer S, Krauth MT, Valent P, Reisinger J, Pelzmann M, Hayek B, Kronqvist M and others. Vaccination with genetically engineered allergens prevents progression of allergic disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101 Suppl 2:14677-82.
- 247. Müller UR. Recombinant Hymenoptera venom allergens. Allergy 2002;57(7):570-6.
- 248. Müller UR, Dudler T, Schneider T, Crameri R, Fischer H, Skrbic D, Maibach R, Blaser K, Suter M. Type I skin reactivity to native and recombinant phospholipase A2 from honeybee venom is similar. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;96(3):395-402.
- 249. Monsalve RI, Lu G, King TP. Expressions of recombinant venom allergen, antigen 5 of yellowjacket (Vespula vulgaris) and paper wasp (Polistes annularis), in bacteria or yeast. Protein Expr Purif 1999;16(3):410-6.
- 250. Suck R, Weber B, Kahlert H, Hagen S, Cromwell O, Fiebig H. Purification and immunobiochemical characterization of folding variants of the recombinant major wasp allergen Ves v 5 (antigen 5). Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2000;121(4):284-91.
- 251. Terwilliger TC, Eisenberg D. The structure of melittin. II. Interpretation of the structure. J Biol Chem 1982;257(11):6016-22.
- 252. Thorsted P, Holm J, Koed G. Structural analysis and mapping of IgE epitopes on vespid allergen Ves v 5. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;105:S330.
- 253. Müller U, Rabson AR, Bischof M, Lomnitzer R, Dreborg S, Lanner A. A double-blind study comparing monomethoxy polyethylene glycol-modified honeybee venom and unmodified honeybee venom for immunotherapy. I. Clinical results. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1987;80(3 Pt 1):252-61.

Müller U, Akdis CA, Fricker M, Akdis M, Blesken T, Bettens F, Blaser K. Successful 254. immunotherapy with T-cell epitope peptides of bee venom phospholipase A2 induces specific T-cell anergy in patients allergic to bee venom. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101(6 Pt 1):747-54. Suter M, Dudler T, Schneider T. Rekombinantes Bienengiftallergen Phospholipase A2. 255. Allergologie 1994;17:414-418. 256. Wallner BP, Gefter ML. Immunotherapy with T-cell-reactive peptides derived from allergens. Allergy 1994;49(5):302-8. 257. Jilek S, Barbey C, Spertini F, Corthesy B. Antigen-independent suppression of the allergic immune response to bee venom phospholipase A(2) by DNA vaccination in CBA/J mice. J Immunol 2001;166(5):3612-21. 258. Karamanloo F, Schmid-Grendelmeier P, Kussebi F. Gene recombination of major bee venom allergen fragments as a novel vaccine for allergen-specific immunotherapy. Allergo J 2002;11:379. Honeybee Genome Sequencing Consortium. Insights into social insects from the genome 259. of the honeybee Apis mellifera. Nature 2006;443(7114):931-49. Kreil G, Haiml L, Suchanek G. Stepwise cleavage of the pro part of promelittin by 260. dipeptidylpeptidase IV. Evidence for a new type of precursor--product conversion. Eur J Biochem 1980:111(1):49-58. 261. Heiss S, Mahler V, Steiner R, Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Kraft D, Valenta R. Componentresolved diagnosis (CRD) of type I allergy with recombinant grass and tree pollen allergens by skin testing. J Invest Dermatol 1999;113(5):830-7. 262. Scheurer S. Improvement of the diagnosis of allergy by using purified allergens. Clin Exp Allergy 2006;36(12):1483-6. Guerti K, Bridts CH, Stevens WJ, Ebo DG. Wasp venom-specific IgE: towards a new 263. decision threshold? J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2008;18(4):321-3. 264. Ebo DG, Bridts CH, Hagendorens MM, Aerts NE, De Clerck LS, Stevens WJ. Basophil activation test by flow cytometry: present and future applications in allergology. Cytometry B Clin Cytom 2008;74(4):201-10. 265. Scherer K, Weber JM, Jermann TM, Krautheim A, Tas E, Ueberschlag EV, Cammarata M, Bircher AJ. Cellular in vitro assays in the diagnosis of Hymenoptera venom allergy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2008;146(2):122-32. 266. Valenta R, Kraft D. Recombinant allergen molecules: tools to study effector cell activation. Immunol Rev 2001;179:119-27. Valenta R, Vrtala S, Focke-Teikl M, Bugajska S, Ball T, Twardosz A, Spitzauer S, Gronlund 267. H, Kraft D. Genetically engineered and synthetic allergen derivatives: candidates for vaccination against type I allergy. Biol Chem 1999;380(7-8):815-24. 268. Forster E, Dudler T, Gmachl M, Aberer W, Urbanek R, Suter M. Natural and recombinant enzymatically active or inactive bee venom phospholipase A2 has the same potency to release histamine from basophils in patients with Hymenoptera allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;95(6):1229-35. Zurcher AW, Lang AB, Aebischer I, Miescher S, Stadler BM. IgE-producing hybridomas 269. established after B-cell culture in the CD40 system. Immunol Lett 1995;46(1-2):49-57. Flicker S, Steinberger P, Norderhaug L, Sperr WR, Majlesi Y, Valent P, Kraft D, Valenta R. 270. Conversion of grass pollen allergen-specific human IgE into a protective IgG(1) antibody. Eur J Immunol 2002;32(8):2156-62. 271. Sun S, Mo W, Ji Y, Liu S. Preparation and mass spectrometric study of egg yolk antibody (IgY) against rabies virus. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 2001;15(9):708-12. 272. Levinson SS, Miller JJ. Towards a better understanding of heterophile (and the like) antibody interference with modern immunoassays. Clin Chim Acta 2002;325(1-2):1-15. 273. Kricka LJ. Human anti-animal antibody interferences in immunological assays. Clin Chem 1999:45(7):942-56. 274. Vikinge TP, Askendal A, Liedberg B, Lindahl T, Tengvall P. Immobilized chicken antibodies improve the detection of serum antigens with surface plasmon resonance (SPR). Biosens Bioelectron 1998;13(12):1257-62. Carlander D, Larsson A. Avian antibodies can eliminate interference due to complement 275. activation in ELISA. Ups J Med Sci 2001;106(3):189-95. Chapman MD, Smith AM, Vailes LD, Arruda LK, Dhanaraj V, Pomes A. Recombinant 276. allergens for diagnosis and therapy of allergic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(3):409-18.

- 277. Traidl-Hoffmann C, Mariani V, Hochrein H, Karg K, Wagner H, Ring J, Mueller MJ, Jakob T, Behrendt H. Pollen-associated phytoprostanes inhibit dendritic cell interleukin-12 production and augment T helper type 2 cell polarization. J Exp Med 2005;201(4):627-36.
- 278. van der Veen MJ, Mulder M, Witteman AM, van Ree R, Aalberse RC, Jansen HM, van der Zee JS. False-positive skin prick test responses to commercially available dog dander extracts caused by contamination with house dust mite (Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus) allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98(6 Pt 1):1028-34.
- 279. Moverare R, Elfman L, Vesterinen E, Metso T, Haahtela T. Development of new IgE specificities to allergenic components in birch pollen extract during specific immunotherapy studied with immunoblotting and Pharmacia CAP System. Allergy 2002;57(5):423-30.
- Esch RE. Evaluation of allergen vaccine potency. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2006;6(5):402 6.
- 281. Nelson HS, Ikle D, Buchmeier A. Studies of allergen extract stability: the effects of dilution and mixing. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98(2):382-8.
- 282. Valenta R, Lidholm J, Niederberger V, Hayek B, Kraft D, Gronlund H. The recombinant allergen-based concept of component-resolved diagnostics and immunotherapy (CRD and CRIT). Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):896-904.
- 283. Linhart B, Valenta R. Molecular design of allergy vaccines. Curr Opin Immunol 2005;17(6):646-55.
- 284. Linhart B, Valenta R. Vaccine engineering improved by hybrid technology. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2004;134(4):324-31.
- 285. Chinery M. A field guide to the insects of Britain and Northern Europe. 1984;London: William Collins Sons & Co. Ltd.

Curriculum Vitae

Personal data

Name: Date of birth: Place of birth:	Simon Blank 12.03.1979 Stade, Germany			
Education				
23.06.1998 1999-2005	General qualification for university entrance Studies of Biology at the University of Hamburg, Ger- many Diploma thesis: "Human allergen-specific IgE and IgG4 antibodies for analysis of their antigen- and receptor interaction" in the group of Prof. Dr. R. Bredehorst, Department of Chemistry, Institute for Biochemistry and			
09.2004-07.2005				
13.07.2005	Biology-Diploma (Biochemistry, Genetics and Molecular Biology, Zoology) in Hamburg, Germany			
Alternative civilian service				
07.1998 – 07.1999	Emergency medical technician at the Deutsches Rotes Kreuz, Stade			
Ph.D. thesis				
11.2005-12.2009	In the group of Prof. Dr. R. Bredehorst, Department of Chemistry, Institute for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology II, University of Hamburg			
Grants				
04.2006 - 03.2008	Promotionsstipendium nach dem Hamburgischen Gesetz zur Förderung des wissenschaftlichen und künstlerischen Nachwuchses. EAACI Travel Grant EAACI congress, Barcelona, Spain, 711. June 2008.			
06.2008				
Working experience				
05.2002 – 10.2004	Research student in the Center for Molecular Neuro- biology Hamburg (ZMNH) of the Universitätsklinikums Hamburg-Eppendorf in the group of Prof. Dr. Melitta Schachner-Camartin, Institute for Biosynthesis of Neural Structures. Focus: Differentiation and stress resistance of neuronal stem cells.			

Publication as first author

Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., and Spillner, E. Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by circumvention of alpha-1,3 core fucosylation. *Mol Immunol*, in press.

Other publications

Braren, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Deckers, S., Ollert, M., Grunwald, T., and Spillner, E. Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries. *Clin Chem* **53(5)**: 837-844 (2007).

Greunke, K., Braren, I., Alpers, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Sodenkamp, J., Bredehorst, R., and Spillner, E. Recombinant IgY for improvement of immunoglobulin-based analytical applications. *Clin Biochem* **41**:1237-1244 (2008).

Abstracts

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Cifuentes, L., Ring, J., Grunwald, T., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Recombinant production of a panel of hymenoptera venom allergens in insect cells. *Allergo J* **16(1)**: 33 (2007).

Cifuentes, L., Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Bockisch, B., Spillner, E., Grunwald, T., Darsow, U., Ring, J., Ollert, M. Honey bee venom allergy with negative venom-specific IgE: The use of allergenic molecules provides an improved diagnostic solution. *Allergo J* **16(1)**: 46 (2007).

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Braren, I., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M.W., Ring, J., Grunwald, T., Spillner, E. Identification, recombinant expression and characterization of high molecular weight hymenoptera venom allergens. *Allergo J* **17(1)**: 36 (2008).

Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Braren, I., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Generation of a panel of monoclonal IgE antibodies with specificity for hymenoptera venom allergens. *Allergo J***17(1)**: 43 (2008)

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Braren, I., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M.W., Grunwald, T., Spillner, E. Identification, recombinant expression and characterization of high molecular weight hymenoptera venom allergens. *Allergy* **63 (Suppl. 88)**: 13-14 (2008)

Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Braren, I., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Generation of a panel of monoclonal IgE antibodies with specificity for hymenoptera venom allergens. *Allergy* **63 (Suppl. 88)**: 13 (2008)

Braren, I., Hecker, J., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Rühl, D., Bredehorst, R., Grunwald, T., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Addressing current challenges of allergy diagnostics using recombinant human antibody isotypes. *Allergy* **63** (Suppl. 88): 42-43 (2008)

Cifuentes, L., Balzer, L., Seismann, H., Braren, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Spillner, E., Ring, J., Mempel, M., Ollert, M. Up-regulation of CD63 in basophils from wasp venomallergic patients by insect cell-expressed recombinant Antigen 5 (Ves v 5). *Allergy* **63 (Suppl. 88)**: 442 (2008)

Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by circumvention of alpha-1,3-core fucosylation. *Allergo J* **18(1)**: 31 (2009)

Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Braren, I., Cifuentes, L., Bredehorst, R., Grunwald, T., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Improvement of molecular diagnosis in hymenoptera venom hypersensitivity by the use of the recombinant major allergens Ves v 1 and Ves v 5. *Allergy* **64** (Suppl. 90): 39 (2009)

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Dissecting CCD reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by diminution of alpha-1,3-core fucosylation. *Allergy* **64 (Suppl. 90)**: 39 (2009)

Conference contributions - oral presentations

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Cifuentes, L., Ring, J., Grunwald, T., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Recombinant production of a panel of hymenoptera venom allergens in insect cells. 19. Mainzer Allergie-Workshop, Mainz, Germany, 16./17. March 2007.

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Braren, I., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M.W., Ring, J., Grunwald, T., Spillner, E. Identification, recombinant expression and characterization of high molecular weight hymenoptera venom allergens. 20. Mainzer Allergie-Workshop. Mainz, Germany, 7./8. March 2008.

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Braren, I., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M.W., Grunwald, T., Spillner, E. Identification, recombinant expression and characterization of high molecular weight hymenoptera venom allergens. XXVII Congress of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Barcelona, Spain, 7.-11. June 2008.

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. Dissecting CCD reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by diminution of alpha-1,3-core fucosylation. XXVIII Congress of the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. Warsaw, Poland, 6.-10. June 2009.

Conference contributions - posters

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Bockisch, B., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M.W., Grunwald, T. and Spillner, E. Identification, recombinant production and characterization of honeybee venom major allergen C (Api m 5). 2nd International Symposium on Molecular Allergology. Rome, Italy, 22.-24 April 2007.

Cifuentes, L., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Vosseler, S., Grunwald, T., Mempel, M., Darsow, U., Ring, J., Bredehorst, R., Spillner, E. and Ollert, M. Insect venom allergy with negative venom-specific IgE: The use of alergenic molecules provides an improved diagnostic solution. 2nd International Symposium on Molecular Allergology. Rome, Italy, 22.-24 April 2007.

Braren, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Greunke, K., Seismann, H., Ollert, M and Spillner, E. Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries. 2nd International Symposium on Molecular Allergology. Rome, Italy, 22.-24 April 2007.

Braren, I., Plum, M., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Spillner, E. Adressing erbB1 by human and murine IgE. 2nd International AllergoOncology Symposium. Wien, Österreich, 11./12. April 2008.

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Bockisch, B., Braren, I., Bredehorst, R., Grunwald, T., Ollert, M.W., Spillner, E. Identification and recombinant expression of a novel IgE-reactive 70 kDa carboxylesterase from *Apis mellifera* venom. 3nd International Symposium on Molecular Allergology. Salzburg, Austria, 18.-20 April 2008.

Cifuentes, L., Balzer, L., Seismann, H., Braren, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Spillner, E., Ring, J., Mempel, M., Ollert, M. Up-regulation of CD63 in basophils from wasp venomallergic patients by insect cell-expressed recombinant Antigen 5 (Ves v 5). XXVII Congress of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Barcelona, Spain, 7.-11. June 2008.

Ollert, M., Cifuentes, L., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Grunwald, T., Darsow, U.G., Ring, J., Bredehorst, R., Spillner, E. The use of recombinant allergens provides improved solutions for patients with insect venom allergy. 27th Symposium of the Collegium Internationale Allergologicum. Curacao, Netherlands Antilles, 1.-6. Mai 2008.

<u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Ring, J., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., Spillner, E. A comprehensive set of hymenoptera venom allergens as tool for diagnosis and therapy. 6th Symposium on environmental Allergy And Allergotoxicology, Munich, Germany, 29./30. January 2009.

Prizes

Best abstract in the oral abstract session 5: Hymenoptera Venom Allergy. XXVII Congress of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Barcelona, Spain, 7.-11. Juni 2008

Best abstract in the oral abstract session 14: Advances in Hymenoptera Venom Allergy. XXVIII Congress of the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Warsaw, Poland, 6.-10. June 2009

Gefahrstoffe und Sicherheitshinweise

Folgende verwendete Reagenzien und Lösungsmittel waren mit Gefahrenhinweisen und Sicherheitsratschlägen gemäß §6 der Gefahrstoffverordnung versehen. Krebserzeugende, erbgutverändernde und fortpflanzungsgefährdende Stoffe (KMR-Stoffe) der Kategorie I und II sind fett dargestellt:

Verbindung	Gefahrensymbol	R-Sätze	S-Sätze
ABTS	Xi	36/37/38	26-36
Acrylamid	т	45-46-20/21-25-36/38-43- 48/23/24/25-62	53-45
Ammoniumpersulfat	O, Xn	8-22-36/37/38-42/43	22-24-26-37
Ampicillin	Xn	36/37/38-42/43	22-26-36/37
BCIP	-	-	22-24/25
Calciumchlorid Dihydrat	Xi	36	22-24
Chloroform	Xn	22-38-40-48/20/22	36/37
Diethylpyrocarbonat	Xn	20/22-36/37/38	26-36
Dimethylformamid	т	61-20/21-36	53-45
Dimethylsulfoxid	Xi	36/38	26
Dithiothreitol	Xi	36/37/38	36/37/39-22
EDTA-Dinatriumsalz- Dihydrat	Xn	22	
Ethanol	F	11	7-16
Ethidiumbromid	T+	22-26-36/37/38-40	26-28.2-36/37-45
Glutardialdehyd, 25 %	Τ, Ν	22-23-34-42/43-50	26-26/37/39-45-61
Imidazol	С	22-34	22-26-36/37/39-45
Kanamycin Sulfat	т	61	26-36/37-39-45
Methanol	F, T	11-23/24/25-39/23/24/25	7-16-36/37-45
NaOH	С	35	26-37/39-45
Ni-NTA-Agarose	Xn	10-22-40-42/43	13-26-36-46
NBT	Xn	20/21-33	22-45
Phenol (Tris-gesättigt)	т	24/25-34	28.6-45
2-Propanol	F, Xi	11-36-67	7-16-24/25-26
Salzsäure, konz.	С	34-37	26-36/37/39-45
SDS	Xn	22-36/38	22-24/25
TEMED	C, F	11-20/22-34	16-26-36/37/39-45
Triethylamin	F, C	11-20/21/22-35	3-16-26-29- 36/37/39-45
Tris	Xi	36/38	-
Wasserstoffperoxid 30 %	С	34	3-28-36/39-45
Xylen Cyanol FF	Xi	36	24
Zitronensäure	Xi	36	24/25

Angaben zum individuellen Beitrag an den Publikationen, die in

dieser kumulativen Dissertation enthalten sind

Erstautorenschaft:

Seismann, H., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Braren, I., Greunke, K., Cifuentes, L., Grunwald, T., Bredehorst, R., Ollert, M., and Spillner, E. Dissecting cross-reactivity in hymenoptera venom allergy by circumvention of alpha-1,3 core fucosylation.

Molecular Immunology, im Druck.

(Impact Factor 2008: 3,6)

Eigener Anteil: ca. 45% (Klonierung, Expression in verschiedenen Zelllinien und Reinigung von Api m 2 und AHSG, Charakterisierung von rekombinantem Api m 2 und AHSG, immunologische Charakterisierung der differentiell glykosylierten Proteine, Charakterisierung verschiedener Insektenzelllinien bezüglich der Fähigkeit zur alpha-1,3-Fucosylierung, Klonierung der Fucosyltransferase A aus *A. mellifera*, Etablierung der Zelllinie Sf9 FucTA, immunologische Charakterisierung der Zelllinie Sf9 FucTA, Expression in der etablierten Zelllinie Sf9 FucTA and Charakterisierung der rekombinanten Allergene, Textbeiträge Methoden, Ergebnisse und Diskussion)

Weitere Publikationen:

Braren, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Seismann, H., Deckers, S., Ollert, M., Grunwald, T., and Spillner, E. Generation of human monoclonal allergen-specific IgE and IgG antibodies from synthetic antibody libraries.

Clinical Chemistry 53(5): 837-844 (2007).

(Impact Factor 2008: 5,6)

Eigener Anteil: ca. 40% (Generierung monoklonaler Antikörper mit Spezifität für Bos d 5 und Mal d 1, Klonierung der Antikörper ins IgE und IgG4 Format, Expression und Reinigung der Antikörper, Reaktivitätsanalyse der Antikörper, Stabilitätsanalyse der Antikörper, Klonierung des IgE-Rezeptors FccRI, Generierung der stabilen Zelllinie HEK393 FccRI, durchflusszytometrische Analyse der Zelllinie HEK 293 FccRI)

Greunke, K., Braren, I., Alpers, I., <u>Blank, S.</u>, Sodenkamp, J., Bredehorst, R., and Spillner, E. Recombinant IgY for improvement of immunoglobulin-based analytical applications.

Clinical Biochemistry **41**:1237-1244 (2008)

(Impact Factor 2008: 1,9)

Eigener Anteil: ca. 30% (Klonierung humaner IgG Antikörper, Etablierung der Zelllinie HEK293 FcγRIA)

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe sowie nur mit den angegebenen Hilfsmitteln und Quellen erstellt zu haben. Ergebnisse aus Diplom- oder Schwerpunktarbeiten, die in diesem Arbeitskreis angefertigt wurden und die teilweise in diese Arbeit eingeflossen sind, wurden von mir initiiert und unter meiner Anleitung angefertigt.

Ebenfalls versichere ich, noch keinen weiteren Promotionsversuch an einer anderen Einrichtung unternommen zu haben.

Hamburg, den 05.11.2009

Simon Blank